
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 9 December 2021 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 

 

The Board Room, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

1 December 2021 

 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

ii) Other Interests 
 

 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10) 

4. Second Quarter 2021/22 Finance, Procurement & Performance Review (Pages 11 - 
48) 

5. Annual Report 2020/21  

6. Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (Pages 49 - 148) 

7. Climate Change Action Plan (Pages 149 - 256) 

8. Proposed Programme of Works to Toddbrook Reservoir Spillway (Pages 257 - 280) 

9. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

10. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 281 - 284) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 

 

11. Second Quarter 2021/22 Finance, Procurement & Performance Review - Appendix 
D (Pages 285 - 290) 

 (Paragraph 1, 2, 5 - Information relating to any individual.  

 

Public Document Pack



Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.  
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. ) 

 

12. Future High Street Fund Buxton (Pages 291 - 362) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 

 
 
MARK TRILLO 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of The Executive 
Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman 

Councillor J Todd  
 



 
 

 

 
THE EXECUTIVE 

 
Meeting: Thursday, 7 October 2021 at 6.00 pm in Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

 
Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair)   

 
 Councillors A Barrow, F Sloman and J Todd 

 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor D Greenhalgh 
 

Councillors T Ashton and J Collins were also in attendance 
 

22/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(Agenda Item 2) 
 

There were no declarations made. 
 

22/22 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 3) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 3 August 2021 be 

approved as a correct record. 
 

22/23 FIRST QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT & PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2021/22 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 

performance and financial position for the period ended 30th June (“First 
Quarter 2021/22”) The report was considered by the Corporate Select 
Committee on 27 September 2021.  The position can be summarised as 

follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the First Quarter were: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the First Quarter stage the General Fund outturn for 2021/22 was 
projected to be £1,784,680 underspent. 

Efficiency Programme 

 At Quarter One £67,870 of savings had been taken against the 
2021/22 revised efficiency target of £101,560 (General Fund).   

Housing Revenue Account 

 The Housing Revenue Account was predicted to be in surplus 
(against budget) by £119,525 at the Quarter One stage. 

Appendix A 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 October 2021 

 

 
 

Capital Programme 

 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 as 

revised was £8.44 million.  The projected outturn was currently 
to budget. 

 The HRA Programme for 2021/22 as revised was £7.88 million.  The 
projected outturn was currently to budget. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 30 June 2021 totalled £27.6 million. 
 Council borrowing at 30 June 2021 totalled £66.8 million. 

 The Council’s net interest costs were forecast to be as budgeted for 
both the HRA and for the general fund. 

Revenue Collection 

 28.78% of Council Tax was collected by 30 June 2021, compared to 
28.47% for the same period last year (and 29.64% in 2019/20) 

 29.10% of Business Rates was collected by 30 June 2021 
compared with 22.51% for the same period last year (and 30.01% in 
2019/20) 

 At the end of Quarter One the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 
was £252,450 which compares to £270,240 at 30 June 2020. 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the First Quarter were: 

 19 procurement activities were completed  

 The Procurement forward plan included 52 procurement 
activities for completion/start in 2021/22 (either HPBC only or 
joint) 

 At the 30 June 2021, 43% of procurement activity undertaken was 
on the forward plan and the Council paid 96% of its invoices within 
30 days 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the First Quarter were: 

 66% of the key performance indicators on track, with 35% 

better than the previous year. 

 The Council received 30 complaints, 925 comments and 19 

compliments in the First Quarter. 
 

Appendix C 

 

Options considered: 
 
Detailed Analysis was contained within the appendices to the report. 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the First Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the 

covering report be noted. 
 Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 October 2021 

 

 
 

 
22/24 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN REFRESH 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

The purpose of the report was to update members on the Medium Term 

Financial Plan (MTFP), in preparation for considering the budget (and 
associated council tax and rent levels) in February 2022.   The report was 
considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 27 September 2021. 

 
Options considered: 
 

Detailed Analysis was contained within the main body of the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the updates proposed to the Medium Term Financial Plan set in 
February 2022, including further proposed actions and further areas 

identified be noted. 
 

22/25 VISION DERBYSHIRE 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

The purpose of the report was to:  
 

 Provide an update on work taking place with Derbyshire Councils on 

Vision Derbyshire and the emergence of the opportunities presented 
through a County Deal; 

 Seek approval for the Council’s involvement in Phase 4 development 
and implementation; and  

 Seek to confirm the Council’s involvement in the establishment of a Joint 
Committee of local authorities within Derbyshire, the Vision Derbyshire 

Committee, to progress a collaborative working model which seeks to 
improve outcomes for people and place through closer working between 
those authorities.  

 
The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 27 

September 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

1. Alternative Option 1 Do Nothing – The Council could continue with 
current arrangements for Vision Derbyshire with existing informal 
governance arrangements and resources. However, this option would no 

be sustainable in the short and medium term because resources and 
capacity to deliver identified programmes of work were not sufficient to 

progress the approach. A new joint team and formal governance 
arrangements provide an opportunity to present a different and new 
model of collaboration as a viable alternative to local government reform 

and as such this would not deliver the ambitions of the Council to deliver 
local government reform. (Not recommended) 

 
2. Alternative Option 2 – The Council could cease its involvement in Vision 

Derbyshire and abandon ambitions to develop a new collaborative model Page 5



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 October 2021 

 

 
 

for Derbyshire. The Council instead could continue to pursue 
opportunities to deliver improved outcomes through traditional forms of 
collaboration and partnership. However, this approach had known 

limitations, does not address the challenges facing local government in 
respect of reduced financial resources and would not deliver the full 

range of benefits as set out in the report. It does not provide a viable 
alternative to local government reorganisation and limits Derbyshire’s 
ability to speak with one voice. Ultimately this could prevent Derbyshire 

from maximising resources into Derbyshire that may become available 
through devolution and the levelling up agenda. (Not Recommended) 

 
3. Alternative Option 3 – The Council could cease its involvement in Vision 

Derbyshire and pursue an alternative approach to local government 

reform through local government reorganisation. However, this was not 
currently the Council’s preferred option and there was currently no 

framework in place to enable Councils in the country to pursue this 
approach at the current moment in time. (Not recommended) 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the progress on the development of the Vision Derbyshire approach 

and recent Phase 3 developments and achievements be noted. 
 

2. That key actions currently being undertaken during Vision Derbyshire 
Phase 3a to develop an ambitious programme of work in advance of 
Phase 4 be considered and noted. 

 
3. That Vision Derbyshire Phase 4 proposals for the forthcoming period as 

set out in the report be considered and approved.  
 
4. That the Council’s active participation in Vision Derbyshire Phase 4 and 

the associated costs of taking forward the programme of work, the 
maximum cost of which currently stands at £52,350 per annum be 

approved. 
 
5. That proposals for the establishment of the Vision Derbyshire Joint 

Committee and delegates functions to the Joint Committee as set out in 
the Functions and Responsibilities document in Appendix B be 

approved.  
 
6. That the Terms of Reference, including the Introduction and Context, 

Functions and Responsibilities, Procedural Rules and Information 
Procedure Rules for the Vision Derbyshire Joint Committee as set out at 

Appendix B and the position detailed in those documents regarding 
scrutiny and co-option be approved. 
 

7. That the Leader, Cllr Anthony McKeown, be appointed as the Council’s 
representative on the Vision Derbyshire Joint Committee and the Deputy 

Leader, Cllr Damien Greenhalgh, be appointed as substitute.  
 
8. That authority be delegated to the Leader to agree by executive member 

decision which authority will act as the host authority for the Joint 
Committee. Page 6



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 October 2021 

 

 
 

 
9. That it be noted that as the functions of the Committee are executive 

functions, HPBC will not have the opportunity to co-opt additional 

members onto the Committee and the ability to co-opt is restricted within 
the Terms of Reference. 

 
10. That, in accordance with section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000, 

constituent authorities who operate executive arrangements will need to 

make formal scrutiny arrangements to review or scrutinise decisions 
made in connection with the exercise of the functions of the Vision 

Derbyshire Joint Committee, and that the Council’s existing scrutiny 
arrangements through its select committees will apply be noted.  

 
22/26 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME REVIEW & FOCUS ON 

UNIVERSAL CREDIT IMPLICATIONS 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

The Council was obliged to consider each year whether to revise its current 

council tax reduction scheme, leave it as it is or replace it with a completely 
new scheme.  

 
The proposal was to retain the current scheme for 2022/23. However, the 
introduction of Universal Credit meant that the current scheme was proving 

increasingly difficult to administer and more difficult for recipients of the 
discount to understand and manage. Therefore, there was also a proposal 
to explore options for redesigning the scheme to provide greater certainty in 

the light of Universal Credit. Any decisions on design and subsequent  
implementation would occur by 2023/24 at the earliest, to allow for extensive 

consultation.     
  
The report was considered by the Corporate Select Committee on 27 

September 2021. 
 

Options considered: 
 
The options available (including doing nothing) were analysed in the summary of 
the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 

1. That the proposal to retain the existing council tax reduction scheme for 
2022/23 be approved. 

 
2. Approves the proposal for further research to be undertaken into 

alternative designs for a council tax reduction scheme that better deals 

with the impact of Universal Credit be approved, subject to a further 
report and consultation. 

 
 
 

 
 

 Page 7



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 October 2021 

 

 
 

22/27 REVIEW AND RENEWAL OF TORR VALE MILL MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

The report provided an update on progress with regeneration of Torr Vale 

Mill, New Mills and sought approval to renew the Memorandum of 
Understanding first entered into in 2018 with Derbyshire County Council 
(DCC), Historic England (HE), Torr Vale Mill Preservation Trust (TVMPT) 

and Torr Vale Mills Limited (TVML) as the owner of Torr Vale Mill.  The 
report was considered by the Economy and Growth Select Committee on 16 

September 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

Option A: To approve the Council signing the renewed Memorandum of 
Understanding (recommended).  By renewing the Memorandum of 
Understanding, the Council would reaffirm its commitment to work with 

partners to identify a viable future use for specified areas of Torr Vale Mill, 
enabling a return of the building complex to full use. 

 
Option B: To resolve to withdraw from the project partnership (not 
recommended).  By not resigning the updated Memorandum of 

Understanding, the Council would be signalling a lack of intent with respect 
to support for the redevelopment of Torr Vale Mill and a withdrawal from the 

project partnership. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That it be approved that High Peak Borough Council re-enters an updated 
Memorandum of Understanding with Derbyshire County Council, Historic 

England, Torr Vale Mill Preservation Trust and Torr Vale Mills Limited to 
help facilitate collaborative work towards a shared development plan for 

specified areas of the Mill. 
 

22/28 SAFER WALK AND RIDE INITIATIVE 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 

The report updated members on progress of Buxton Town Team’s proposal  
to create a Walk and Ride Network in Buxton.   The report was considered 
by the Economy and Growth Select Committee on 16 September 2021. 

 
Options considered: 
 

This report is for information only and therefore there are no alternative 
options. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the work of the Town Team  to develop the Walk & Ride Network to 

date and the potential implications for the Council if the project were to 
be fully endorsed be noted. 

 

Page 8



The Executive 
Thursday, 7 October 2021 

 

 
 

2. That ward members be consulted before any final decision is taken by 
the Council. 

 
22/29 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 

THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 

DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 

(Agenda Item 10) 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 

items because there may be disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

22/30 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 11) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 5 August 2021 be approved 
as a correct record. 

 
22/31 JOINT VENTURE FOR THE PROVISION OF FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 

AND HOUSING REPAIRS 

(Agenda Item 12) 
 

The Executive approved a report that agreed the outline of the 
implementation plan to establish the joint venture partnership to deliver 
housing repair and facilities management services. 

 
22/32 HIF FAIRFIELD ROUNDABOUT - UPDATE REPORT 

(Agenda Item 13) 
 

The Executive approved a report that provided an update of progress on the 

Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) programme which would deliver the 
Fairfield roundabout and enable delivery of homes across sites within the 

north of Buxton.   
 
 

The meeting concluded at 6.35 pm 
 

 
 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
 9 December 2021 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Appendices Attached 

 Appendix A (2021/22 – Second Quarter (Financial Report) 

 Appendix B (2021/22 – Second Quarter (Procurement Report)  

 Appendix C (2021/22 – Second Quarter (Performance Report) 

 Appendix D (2021/22 – Second Quarter (Write-offs (CONFIDENTIAL) 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September 

(“Second Quarter 2021/22”) 
 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive:  
 

 Note the Second Quarter 2021/22 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 
covering report; and 

 Approve the write-offs set out in Appendix D. 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 This report summarises the Council’s performance and financial position after 
considering service activity up to the end of the Second Quarter (i.e. 30th  
September 2021).  

 
3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 

(Procurement) & Appendix C (Performance). 

TITLE: Second Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2021/22 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 

Corporate Services and Finance 

  
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance  

Vanessa Higgins – Information Business Partner 

   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 2 

 
3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 
 

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Second Quarter are: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Second Quarter stage the General Fund outturn for 2021/22 
is projected to be £2.2million underspent including £1.5m in 
Section31 grants, which will need to be placed into reserves at year-
end for distribution via the Collection Fund in future years 

Efficiency Programme 
 At Quarter Two £67,870 of savings have been taken against the 

2021/22 revised efficiency target of £101,560 (General Fund).   
Housing Revenue Account 

 The Housing Revenue Account is predicted to be in minor deficit 
(against budget) by £43,990 at the Quarter Two stage. 

Capital Programme 

 The General Fund Capital Programme budget for 2021/22 as 
revised is £8.44 million.  The projected outturn is currently forecast 
to be £1.37 million underspent compared to the approved budget. 

 The HRA Programme for 2021/22 as revised is £7.65 million.  The 
projected outturn is currently to budget. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 30 September 2021 totalled £34.4 million. 

 Council borrowing at 30 September 2021 totalled £66.8 million. 
 The Council’s net interest costs are forecast to be £32,000 under 

budget on the general fund and £8,000 over budget on the HRA. 
Revenue Collection 

 56.04% of Council Tax was collected by 30 September 2021, 
compared to 55.72% for the same period last year (and 56.79% in 
2019/20) 

 55.95% of Business Rates was collected by 30 September 2021 
compared with 52.63% for the same period last year (and 59.11% in 
2019/20) 

 At the end of Quarter Two the value of sundry debt over 60 days old 
was £233,390 which compares to £238,850 at 30 September 2020. 

Appendix A 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Second Quarter are: 

 24 procurement activities were completed  

 The Procurement forward plan includes 42 procurement activities for 
completion/start in 2021/22 (either HPBC only or joint) 

 At the 30 September 2021, 51% of procurement activity undertaken 
was on the forward plan. 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Second Quarter are: 

 70% of the key performance indicators on track, with 29% 
performing better than at this point in the previous year. 

 The Council received 52 complaints, 235 comments and 37 
compliments in the Second Quarter. 

 

Appendix C 

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 

subject of this report. 

Page 12



 3 

 
 
5.       Options and Analysis 

 

5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the appendices 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None 

 
6.2 Workforce 

None 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality 
and Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 

report. 
 
6.5 Legal 

None 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
None 
 

6.7 External Consultation 
None 

 
6.8       Risk Assessment 

There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, which are 

identified and explained in the financial report attached at Appendix A. 
 

 
 

JOHN BETTS 

Interim Executive Director (Finance and Revenues & Benefits) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 

Appendices A-C 

 

 

 

Keith Pointon 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 
Vanessa Higgins  

01538 395400 Ext. 4195 
 
 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021/22       
Second Quarter 

Financial 
Review 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 15



2 
 

1. Background and Introduction  

 

1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and recommended 

good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to members. This is the 
second such report for 2021/22. 

 

1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2021/22 with particular 
emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. Specific 

considerations are as follows: 
 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 

performance on the General Account by looking at variations in income and 
expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  

 

 Alliance Environmental Services (Section 3) – highlights the performance of 

the Council’s Joint Venture Company providing Waste and Fleet services. 
 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 4) – considers 

progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings forecast.  
 

 Housing Revenue Account (Section 5) – highlights the budgetary position in 

respect of the operation of the Council’s housing stock. 

 

 General Fund Capital Programme (Section 6) – provides an update to 

Members on progress against the Council’s General Fund capital plans. 

 

 HRA Capital Programme (Section 7 ) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s HRA capital plans. 
 

 Treasury Management (Section 8) – sets out the key statistics in terms of 

investments and borrowings. 
 

 Revenue Collection (Section 9) – considers progress-to-date in collecting the 

Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 

 

Page 16



3 
 

2. General Fund Revenue Account 

 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the General 
Fund Revenue Account against budget by looking at variations in income and 

expenditure and funding received by the Council. 

Service (with staff*) 
2021/22 
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

 

Variance 

Contributi
on to / 

(Use of) 
Earmarke

d 
Reserves 

Net 
Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 58,290 38,060 (20,230) - (20,230) 

Audit 10,240 6,830 (3,410) - (3,410) 

ICT 573,210 595,330 22,120 - 22,120 

Human Resources 69,480 48,540 (20,940) - (20,940) 

Member Services 249,990 214,980 (35,010) - (35,010) 

Property Services 92,720 125,720 33,000 - 33,000 

Benefits (183,520) (176,760) 6,760 - 6,760 

Planning Applications (404,180) (360,050) 44,130 - 44,130 

Building Control 56,140 86,140 30,000 - 30,000 

Customer Services 144,390 120,390 (24,000) - (24,000) 

Legal Services 30,510 27,510 (3,000) - (3,000) 

Electoral Services 59,470 41,470 (18,000) 3,000 (15,000) 

Licensing and Land Charges  (317,750) (307,750) 10,000 - 10,000 

Regeneration 162,980 165,820 2,840 - 2,840 

Communities and Cultural 272,270 261,010 (11,260) (3,750) (15,010) 

Housing Strategy** 27,250 (18,260) (45,510) - (45,510) 

Transformation 21,250 18,680 (2,570) - (2,570) 

Community Safety and Enforcement 109,580 88,180 (21,400) - (21,400) 

Finance & Procurement 170,820 154,670 (16,150) - (16,150) 

Revenues (292,750) (226,240) 66,510 - 66,510 

Corporate Finance* 5,472,380 5,557,380 85,000 (50,000) 35,000 

Waste Collection 2,013,320 1,488,620 (524,700) - (524,700) 

Street Scene 449,480 487,710 38,230 (60) 38,170 

Leisure Services 729,540 443,250 (286,290) (51,330) (337,620) 

Horticulture 342,090 358,810 16,720 (780) 15,940 

Environmental Health (30,440) (41,120) (10,680) - (10,680) 

        

Net Total of Services 9,886,760 9,198,920 (687,840) - (790,760) 

        

Net Interest 1,784,050 1,752,050 (32,000)  (32,000) 

  11,670,810 10,950,970 (719,840) (102,920) (822,760) 

Funding:       

- external (7,358,540) (8,861,640) (1,503,100)  (1,503,100) 

- reserves contribution to/(from)      

     general contingency (4,285,760) (4,285,760) - - - 

     use of carry forward from 20/21 (26,510) (26,510) - - - 

     earmarked    102,920 102,920 

      

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit - (2,222,940) (2,222,940) - (2,222,940) 

          

* Staff budgets are currently budgeted within Corporate Finance (except for the staff budget of the Carelink service 
within Housing Strategy which for operational reasons are included within the Service). 

  ** The Council’s Housing management costs are charged to the Housing Revenue Account 

Page 17



4 
 

 

2.2. A revenue budget of £11,644,300 was set for 2021/22.  In accordance with 

Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £26,510 in unused budgets from 

2020/21 has been authorised. 

 

Communities (£20,000): unspent budget in regard to development of Victoria 

Hall. 

Member Services (£4,010): in respect of Councillor Initiative grants not issued in 

2020/21. 

Customer Services (£2,500): unspent budget for staff uniforms pending re-

opening of receptions.. 

 

This brings the 2021/22 budget to £11,670,810. 

 
2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 

 

2.4. The Quarter Two projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for 
2021/22 is £9,447,870.  This represents a projected surplus for the year of 

£2,222,940.  
 
 

2.5. There are two service areas with projected significant underspend (>£50,000): 
 

 Waste Collection (£524,700 underspend); The service has received a 

£330,000 net credit rebate of recycling income arising out of an increase in 
value of the recyclate collected. Increased income of some £120,000 is 

predicted from Domestic recycling and Trade waste activities while disposal 
costs are forecast to be £80,000 less than budgeted. These savings may be 

eroded by the continuing cost pressure Covid-19 has placed on the contractor.  
 

 Leisure Services (£337,620 underspend); The MTFP included £432,000 in 

anticipated leisure facility Covid-19 support in 2021/22. Costs at Quarter Two 
are forecast to be £270,000 below that level for the year. The service is also 

anticipated to make a net £51,000 call on reserves, including Government 
grant of £60,000 received in 2020/21 and placed into an earmarked reserve to 

be applied in 2021/22 against Covid pressures. 
 
2.6. There is one service area with a projected significant overspends (>£50,000). 

 
 Revenues (£66,510 overspend); The impact of Covid-19 on the Recovery 

service was initially predicted to be significant. However the income generated 
from summons activity is now running only £25,000 below original 
expectations. Further budget pressure in the region of £40,000 is predicted in 

local taxation from the level of spending on external services to support billing 
processes and address backlogs arising out of Covid.   

 

 

Page 18



5 
 

2.7. The net interest costs, as detailed in section 8, are currently forecast to be in 
surplus by £32,000. 

 

 

2.8. The level of external funding anticipated for the year is currently forecast 

£1,503,1000 above that budgeted due to the following: 
 

Business Rates (£1,503,100): 
 

 The Council expects to receive £1,674,710 in additional S31 grants in the 
year due to the continuation of Extended Retail Relief and Nursery 

Discount to respond to the covid-19 situation – at the time of budget setting 
central government had not confirmed these reliefs. Accounting practice 

dictates that these grants are treated as general fund revenue in the year. 
However, the extended reliefs impact the Collection Fund by increasing the 
deficit in the year, which will need to be distributed in future years, therefore 

this additional funding needs to be earmarked to accommodate this and 
cannot be used to support other services. 

 

 An increase of £70,480 on the net levy payable on growth to the Derbyshire 
Business Rates Pool is currently forecast compared to the budgeted 

amount though this is likely to change as it is dependent on the 
performance of all members of the pool.  

The pool has now advised the draft final amount due for the previous year 
(subject to complete of external audits), this is £101,130 greater than the 
accrued amount – which will offset the surplus Business Rates Retention in 

the current year. 
 

The following reserve usage is anticipated: 
 
Use of Reserves £102,920: 

 

 Earmarked Reserves (£102,920 additional usage): 
o Earmarked reserves are created to match available funding with future 

projects and activities.  Often it is not possible to anticipate when eligible 

spend will occur and so as the year progresses services will identify 
projects and schemes where earmarked reserves can be applied. To 

date across the authority usage amounts to £102,920 more than 
nominally anticipated at the beginning of the year. 

 

  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 19



6 
 

 
 
 
 

  

3. Alliance Environmental Services 

  

3.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 

and grounds maintenance services to both High Peak Borough and Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Councils. The Councils are shareholders of the company 

along with Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East Council. 
 

3.2. AES’s financial performance and impact on this Council’s budget is summarised 

below: 

 

2021-22 
General 

Fund 
HRA Total 

 
£ £ £ 

AES Contract budget 4,393,990 207,140 4,601,130 

    
Management fee 4,514,130 211,794 4,725,924 

Allocation of AES efficiency (27,946) (333) (28,279) 

Net additional claim/ (rebate) (316,531) 3,195 (313,336) 

Covid-19 costs 17,954 0 17,954 

Total management fee payable 4,187,607 214,656 4,402,263 

Allocation of Joint Operation Profit (55,251) (2,591) (57,842) 

Net total 4,132,356 212,065 4,344,421 

    Variance to budget (261,634) 4,925 (256,709) 

 
3.3. The AES business plan for all services being delivered to the Council during 

2021/22 includes a budgeted management fee of £4,725,924. The Council’s 

share of the total AES forecast efficiency target for 2021/22, £28,279, is 
repayable to the Council at the end of the year and is allocated against the 
management fee costs. 

 
3.4. Additional pressures on the pay award compared to the budgeted amount and on 

the gully cleansing contract are forecast to be offset by an anticipated rebate on 
recycling contracts income following an improvement on the basket of goods 
rates. Whilst markets continue to fluctuation this is subject to change, but is 

currently forecast at a net benefit of £313,336. 
 

3.5. Some additional costs relating to Covid-19, such as additional cleaning products, 
PPE and additional agency costs are forecast at £17,954. 

 
3.6. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is consolidated in to 

the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 

separate group accounts being reported.  The profit is therefore apportioned 

Page 20



7 
 

between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 
budgeted resources from each department. The Council’s share of the profit 
based on the forecast outturn is £57,842 and is offset against the management 

fee costs. 

 

 

 
 

4.       Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

4.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2021/22. 

 

4.2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan (approved in February 2017) included 
the four-year (2017/18 – 2020/21) Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 

targeting savings of £2.1 million.   
 

4.3. The Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy is premised on the need to both 
reduce expenditure and increase income. The need to grow income is now more 

of a priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing. The strategy 
has been developed with the underlying principles of protecting frontline service 
delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable the Council to 

ensure that its service spending is determined by the established priorities set out 
in Corporate Plan. 

  

4.4. The 2021/22 budget was set in February 2021 with the assumption of £95,000 of 
savings in the year. Unachieved efficiencies of £6,560 were brought forward from 

2020/21, an improvement on the £47,000 anticipated in the MTFP, making a 
revised target to be achieved in 2021/22 of £101,560.   

 

4.5. At the end of Quarter Two, £67,870 savings have been taken against the 21/22 
efficiency target, largely relating to the removal of surplus leasing budget.  It is 

expected that the remaining savings requirement (£33,690) will be realised by 
year-end.   

 
4.6. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the Efficiency 

Strategy which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering the efficiency 

programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve currently stands at £200,000. 
It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in previous years so it remains 

intact to underwrite performance against future savings targets in the Efficiency 
Programme. 
 

5.       Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 

5.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the Council’s 
Housing Revenue Account and highlights the budgetary position in respect of the 
operation of the Council’s housing stock.  

 

Page 21



8 
 

5.2. The 2021/22 Housing Revenue Account budget was revised at Quarter One to 
produce a deficit of £2,754,580 supported by reserves.  In addition, two further 
adjustments have been made to the capital programme in Quarter Two  (detailed 

in 7.4 below)  reducing the HRA funding contribution by £232,000.This reduced 
the 2021/22 budget to a deficit of £2,522,580 and will be supported by reserves. 

 

5.3. Provisional outturn expenditure on the Housing Revenue Account at the second 
quarter stage is £17,795,990 with estimated income of £15,229,420. This 

represents a deficit for the year of £2,566,570 (i.e. £43,990 over budget – 
meaning more reserves are required to fund HRA activities in year). 

 

Housing Revenue Account 

2021-22 
Approved 

Budget 

Q2 
Changes 

2021-22 
Revised 

Budget 

2021-22 
Expected 

Outturn 

 
Variance 

 
£ £ £ £ £ 

INCOME         

Dwellings Rents (14,483,110) - (14,483,110) (14,444,496) 38,614 

Non - Dwelling Rents Etc (671,660) - (671,660) (784,924) (113,264) 

Sub-total income (15,154,770) - (15,154,770) (15,229,420) (74,650) 

       EXPENDITURE      

Repairs & Maintenance  4,409,480 - 4,409,480 4,744,480 335,000 

Supervision & Management 2,739,230 - 2,739,230 2,544,230 (195,000) 

Rents, rates, taxes Etc. 109,130 - 109,130 104,630 (4,500) 

Other Operating Expenditure 782,430 - 782,430 735,600 (46,830) 

Depreciation & Impairment 2,099,030 - 2,099,030 2,129,000 29,970 

Interest & Debt Management 2,693,060 - 2,693,060 2,693,060 - 

Contribution to Capital 5,076,990 (232,000) 4,844,990 4,844,990 - 

Sub-total expenditure 17,909,350 (232,000) 17,677,350 17,795,990 118,640 

       Surplus(-)/Deficit 2,754,580 (232,000) 2,522,580 2,566,570 43,990 

Use of Reserves (2,754,580) 232,000 (2,522,580) (2,566,570) (43,990) 

Balance - - - - - 

 

 
 

5.4. The Council has a duty, in accordance with Part VI (Section 74) of the Local   

Government and Housing Act 1989, to maintain a “Housing Revenue Account” 
(HRA).  By “ring -fencing’ the Housing Revenue Account, the Council ensures that 

the management and maintenance of the Council’s housing stock is funded from 
the income generated by rents and other related sources. The Council is required 
under Part VI (Section 76) to prevent a debit balance each year on the HRA by 

setting the appropriate budget and monitoring progress against that budget 
throughout the financial year. The deficit balance predicted by the Council at this 

second quarter stage will be funded by a transfer from reserves within the 
Housing Revenue Account. 

 

5.5. There is one significant (>£50,000) overspend to report at this stage. 

 Repairs and Maintenance (£335,000) – Increased subcontractor costs of 

£134,000; increased materials costs of £124,000; and increased disrepair and 
other costs of £77,000 

 

Page 22



9 
 

5.6. There are two significant (>£50,000) underspends to be noted at this stage. 
 

 Income - Non-Dwelling Rents (£113,264) – increased income from service 

charges has been responsible for the majority of this positive variance. 
 

 Supervision and Management (£195,000) – there are numerous small 
underspends across a large number of budget areas contributing to this 

underspend however, a large proportion of this variance reflects savings in 
salary costs, transport costs and general employee related expenditure. 

. 
 

 

6.      General Fund Capital Programme 
 

6.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s 
General Fund Programme. 

 

6.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund 
Capital Programme position at 30th September  2021. Further detail on a scheme 

by scheme basis is contained in Annex A. 
 

 

  
2021/22   

Approved 
Budget  

Q2 
Changes 

2021/22 
Revised  
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

Expected 
Variance 
2021/22 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing       374,000               -         374,000       374,000                   -    

Housing Standards      519,110               -         519,110       519,110                   -    

Property Services   3,746,570      780,090    4,526,660    4,526,660                   -    

ICT       79,310               -           79,310         79,310                       -    

Fleet /CCTV 1,584,120              -    1,584,120 1,584,120                  -    

Leisure Services       60,000               -           60,000  60,000                  -    

Regeneration   1,985,360               -      1,985,360       615,120  (1,370,240) 

Horticulture       94,040               -           94,040         94,040                   -    

Total   8,442,510      780,090    9,222,600    7,852,360  (1,370,240) 

Funding:-           

External Contributions 3,470,220              -    3,470,220 3,470,220                  -    

External Contributions 51,000              -    51,000 51,000                  -    

Capital Receipts(Land) 250,000              -    250,000 250,000                  -    

Capital Receipts(one for one) 374,000              -    374,000 374,000                  -    

Capital Receipts(vehicles)       12,500               -    12,500 12,500                  -    

Earmarked Reserves       50,000               -    50,000 50,000                  -    

Borrowing    4,234,790      780,090  5,014,880 3,644,640 (1,370,240) 

Total 8,442,510 780,090 9,222,600 7,852,360 (1,370,240) 
 

 

6.3. The 2021/22 General Fund Capital Budget as updated and approved by Members 

on 7th October 2021 was set at  £8,422,510, Additional budget  £780,090  has 

been added in Quarter 2. The overall approved budget now stands at £9,222,600.  

Page 23



10 
 

 
6.4. The changes made to the capital programme in quarte 2 are as follows:-  
 

  (£780,090  increase ) Executive approved additional budget;1st April & 1st 
July  Pavilion Gardens refurbishment £230,000; Glossop Market Halls 

£550,090, following identification of increased costs and additional works. 
 

6.5  There is one significant capital variance to report  
 

 Regeneration (£1,370,240 - underspend) Fairfield roundabout  

The delivery of the roundabout has been delayed due to protracted 
discussions with the developers of both housing sites and seeking Homes 

England approval to amend the terms of the Grant Funding Agreement 
 

 

7.      Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 
 

7.1. This section of the report provides an update to Members on the Council’s HRA 
capital spending. 

 

7.2. The table below shows a high level summary of the HRA Capital Programme at 
30th September  2021. Further detail on a scheme by scheme basis is contained 

in Annex B. 
 

 

Scheme 
2021-22 

Approved 
Budget 

 
Q2 Re-

Profiling 

2021-22 
Revised 
Budget 

2021-22 
Expected 
Outturn 

2021-22 
Variance 

  £  £ £ £ 

Asset Management Works  6,798,570 (232,800) 6,565,770 6,565,770 - 

Repairs Team Capital Works     295,000 - 295,000 295,000 - 

Commissioning Fees     100,000 - 100,000 100,000 - 

Vehicle Purchasing     379,500 - 379,500 379,500 - 

Housing IT Systems       88,000 - 88,000 88,000 - 

New Build/Asset Purchases     217,610  217,610 217,610 - 

 7,878,680   (232,800) 7,645,880 7,645,880 - 

Funding:      

Major Repairs Reserve 2,099,030 - 2,099,030 2,099,030 - 

HRA Contribution 5.076,990  (232,800) 4,844,190 4,844,190 - 

Capital Receipts (1-4-1)      87,040 -      87,040     87,040 - 

Capital Receipts (Other)    130,570 -    130,570   130,570 - 

Grant – MEH LAD 2    485.050 -    485,050    485,050 - 

      

      

 7,878,680 (232,800) 7,645,880 7,645,880 - 

  
 

7.3. The 2021/22 HRA Capital Budget as updated and approved by Members on 7 th 

Page 24



11 
 

October 2021 was set at  £7,878,680. During Quarter 2 an overall reduction of  
£232,800 has been made resulting in a revised budget of £7,645,880  
 

7.4. Changes made to the capital programme during quarter 2  
 

 (£232,800 net budget   reduction ) relates to a number of projects that are 
either  behind or head of schedule and have been reprofiled accordingly; 
 

(£497,590) has been carried forward  into 2022/23; re  bathroom, lift, one 
off central heating, replacements and  Gamesley cladding   

 
£264,790 additional works brought forward into 2021/22;  re Window 
replacements and external rendering  

 

7.5. During the second quarter, £3,704,409  has been incurred on HRA Capital 

Schemes principally on window and door replacements and cladding works. 

 
 

7.6. Capital funding expected to be applied during 2021/22 is lower  than forecast due 

to the variances noted above. 

      

 

8. Treasury Management 

 

8.1. This section of the report sets out the key Treasury Management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a high 
level Treasury Management summary.  The Audit and Regulatory Committee 

receives detailed operational updates on Treasury Management. 
 

Investments 
 

8.2. Cash Investments held on the 30th September 2021 totalled £34.4million. The 

average level of funds available for investment up to the end of the quarter totalled 
£30.3million and £32,870 interest was earned. 

 

8.3. The Council has budgeted to receive £40,290 in investment income in 2021/22. 
Interests rates are currently as expected at the time of budget setting, therefore 

the forecast outturn remains on target against the budget. Additional income of 
£15,000 is being earned from the loan to Buxton Crescent Heritage Trust. 

 

Borrowing 
 

8.4. Outstanding borrowing at 30th September 2021 totalled £66.8 million. The 
Council’s general fund and HRA budgeted to incur £1,824,340 and £1,693,060 
respectively in interest charges and other financing costs in 2021/22. This was 

based on existing external debt funding previous capital purchases. 
 

Page 25



12 
 

8.5. No ‘new’ borrowing or refinancing activity has occurred during the year. The 
forecast outturn shows a favourable variance on the general fund of £17,000, 
partly due to a £9,000 smaller MRP charge than predicted and partly due to an 

additional charge to the HRA of £8,000 for its share of net borrowing costs due to 
the change in share of the pool. 

 

9.       Revenue Collection 

 

9.1. The collection rate outturn for Quarter 2 2021/22 was as follows: 
 

 Council Tax – 56.04% of Council Tax was collected by 30th September 2021, 

compared to 55.72% for the same period in 2020/21, and 56.79% in 2019/20. 

 Business Rates – 55.95% of Business Rates was collected by 30th 

September 2021, compared with 52.63% for the same period in 2020/21, and 
59.11% in 2019/20. 

o The longer term effects of Covid-19 on collection rates continue to be 
monitored. Timings of payments have also been affected by the change to 

the amount of Extended Retail discount by central government. 
 

 Sundry Debts - The value of sundry debts over 60 days old at the end of 

Quarter Two was £233,390 which compares with £238,850 at 30th September 
2020.  The level of arrears is still being impacted by effects of the pandemic. 

For context the level of arrears was £165,640 at the end of September 2019. 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 26



13 
 

 
 
 

Annex A     
 

                 
 
   General Fund Capital Programme Update 30th September  2021 

 

Scheme 
2021/22   

Approved 
Budget  

Q2 
Changes 

2021/22 
Revised  
Budget 

Expected 
Outturn 
2021/22 

Expected 
Variance 
2021/22 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing & Housing Standards           

Affordable Housing Project  374,000              -    374,000 374,000               -    

Disabled Facilities Grants 489,110              -    489,110 489,110               -    

Private Sector Housing Renewal      30,000               -    30,000 30,000               -    

  893,110              -    893,110 893,110               -    

Property Services           

Asset Management Programme 3,746,570     780,090  4,526,660 4,526,660               -    

   3,746,570      780,090   4,526,660   4,526,660                -    

ICT 79,310              -    79,310 79,310               -    

        79,310               -          79,310        79,310                -    

Fleet Management            

Vehicle/Plant  Acquisitions  1,524,330               -     1,524,330   1,524,330                -    

CCTV       59,790               -          59,790        59,790                -    

   1,584,120               -     1,584,120   1,584,120                -    

Leisure Services           

Outdoor Sports Facilities Fund       60,000               -          60,000        60,000                -    

        60,000               -          60,000        60,000                -    

Regeneration           
Fairfield Roundabout & Buxton 

Crescent   1,985,360               -     1,985,360      615,120  (1,370,240)  

   1,985,360               -     1,985,360      615,120  (1,370,240)  

Horticulture           

Park Play Area Improvements        85,000               -    85,000 85,000               -    

Play Facilities Fund 9,040              -    9,040 9,040               -    

        94,040               -          94,040        94,040                -    

            

Total General Fund  8,442,510      780,090   9,222,600   7,852,360  (1,370,240)  

 

 

Page 27



14 
 

Annex B 
 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme Update 30th September  2021 

 

Scheme 

Approved 
Budget 
2021/22 

 
Q2 Re-

Profiling 

2021/22 
Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
Expected 
Outturn  

Over / 
(Under) 
Spend 

ASSET MANAGEMENT WORKS: £ £ £ £  

Roofing & External Works 230,000  230,000 230,000 - 

Gamesley Cladding Works 550,000 (100,000) 450,000 450,000 - 

Bathroom Programme 506,590 (106,590) 400,000 400,000 - 

Kitchen Programme 1,224,180  1,224,180 1,224,180 - 

Electrical Works 549,250  549,250 549,250 - 

Central Heating Works 134,590 (45,000) 89,590 89,590 - 

Windows and Doors Programme 1,320,000 209,790  1,529,790 1,529,790 - 

Aids & Adaptations 345,000 - 345,000 345,000 - 

Structural Works (Various) 309,000  309,000 309,000 - 

Lift Replacements 246,000 (246,000) - - - 

Fairfield View Project 20,000 - 20,000 20,000 - 

Sheltered Fire Alarm Upgrades 140,000 - 140,000 140,000 - 

Rendering Works 500,000 55,000 555,000 555,000 - 

Energy Efficiency Project Works 
(Grant) 723,960  723,960 723,960 - 

  6,798,570 (232,800) 6,565,770 6,565,770 - 

REPAIRS TEAM CAPITAL WORKS      

Void Rewires  70,000 - 70,000 70,000 - 

Void Kitchens   155,000 - 155,000 155,000 - 

Void Bathrooms   70,000 - 70,000 70,000 - 

  295,000 - 295,000 295,000 - 

STAFFING & PROFESSIONAL FEES      

Staffing Recharges/ Commissioning 
Costs 100,000 - 100,000 100,000 

- 

  100,000 - 100,000 100,000 - 

VEHICLE PURCHASING      

Vehicle Purchases 379,500 - 379,500 379,500 - 

  379,500 - 379,500 379,500 - 

IT PURCHASING      

Housing Systems 88,000 - 88,000 88,000 - 

 88,000 - 88,000 88,000 - 

NEW HOUSING      

House (Stock) Purchases  217,610 - 217,610 217,610 - 

 217,610 - 217,610 217,610 - 

      

TOTAL 7,878,680 (232,800) 7,645,880 7,645,880 - 

 

Page 28



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2021/22 
 

Second Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



1. Introduction 
 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was 

approved by Full Council in February 2017.  
 

1.2 The current Procurement Strategy was developed to ensure that its objectives 

linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and objectives.  
The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development of a 

professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems. 

 
1.3 The revised Procurement Strategy is scheduled for presentation and 

implementation following consultation with Members during 2021/22.  The revised 
strategy will focus on the following key objectives to support the aims of the 
Council’s Corporate plan and align with the LGA National Procurement Strategy: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

1.4 The strategy is timetabled for decision and implementation in March 2022, due to 
further review on the key priorities and outputs to align with other relevant key 

strategies currently being developed.  Further consultation is planned with local 
business forums to actively engage local small to medium businesses to gain 

feedback on our key priorities. 

 
2. Second Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the procurement function for the second quarter July 

2021 to September 2021 is summarised below: 

Second Quarter   High Value 

(> £181,000) 

Low Value    

(< £181,000) 
Total 

HPBC Only 1 18 19 

JOINT (SM/HP) [-] 5 5 

TOTAL   24 

 
2.2 Annex A provides details of the 24 procurement exercises completed during 

Quarter two.   
 

 
3. 2021/22 Procurement Forward Plan  

Page 30



3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 
value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for either completion or starting 

in 2021/22. 

2021/22 Activity High Value 

(> 181,000k) 

 Low Value  

(< £181,000k) 
Total 

HPBC 

 

6 22 28 

JOINT (SM/HP) 1 13 14 

TOTAL   42 

 

 In addition to the above, there are 162 listed entries brought forward from 
previous years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).  

 
3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 

support and delivery in 2021/22 includes:- 
 

 

 Facilities Management 

 Glossop Halls (D2N2) refurbishment project (Glossop Indoor Market and 
adjacent buildings) – Main Contractor  

 Glossop Market Operator Concession 

 HIF A6 Hogshaw Roundabout Main Contractor  

 Future High streets – Spring Gardens Buxton 

 Gas Servicing and Maintenance - HRA  

 EFG Greener homes LAD2 funding – HRA  

 HRA Capital works contracts (Kitchens / Roofing / Electrical) 

 Professional Services Contract – Architectural Framework  

 
4. Procurement Performance 

4.1 This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity. 
 

4.2 Performance for the second quarter is highlighted below:- 

 

Performance Indicator Target 

Performance at 

30th September 
2021 

% of Alliance Procurement 

Activity on Forward Plan 
 

68% 51% 

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 

 

93% 93% 

Supplier (Creditor) spend 
within the local area as a % 

of total spend 
 

Baseline 
Result 20/21  

8% 

% of Contracts awarded to 
local suppliers following 

Contextual 
Result 20/21  

32% 

Page 31



submission of EOI (over 
£5,000) 

 
 Performance Indicators – targets off track 

4.3 We are continuing our communication programme of regular service review 
meetings to ensure planned activity is captured and monitored on the plan.  We 
are continuing to work with service areas to ensure they are compliant in 

commissioning Supplies, Services or Works and that the internal processes are 
adhered to. 

 

Page 32



ANNEX A 
Second Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – HPBC 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

Glossop 
Cemetery 
Extension 
Programme -  
Works Contract  

Appointment of Main 
contractor 

One Off Assets  Open 
Tender 

A T Bone Ltd 6 
months 

614,000 

Purchase of 2 
ride on mowers 

Grounds maintenance 
equipment for AES 

Recurring Operational 
Services 

Framework F R Sharrocks 
Ltd 

n/a 
Supply 

23,526 

Rock Slope 
Inspection at 
Blackshaw Road 

Professional Services One Off Assets RFQ Coffey 
Geotechnics 
Ltd 

n/a 3,420 

Fairfield Placed 
Based Working 

Place Based Working Recurring Service 
Commissioning 

Single 
Source 

SHIFT 8 
months 

5,500 

Right to Buy 
Receipts - Due 
Diligence 
Assessments 

Professional Services One off Regeneration Framework Thomas Lister 4 
months 

9,960 

Public Realm 
Improvements 
Spring Gardens 
Buxton 

Consultancy Services 
required for the design, 
management and delivery of 
public realm improvements 
to Spring Gardens 

One Off Regeneration Open 
Tender 

IBI Group UK 3 yrs 55,554 

Gamesley 
Garages on 
Bakewell Green  
Demolition   

Demolition and removal of 
several garages on the 
Bakewell Green site at 
Gamesley 

One Off Assets Existing 
Contract 
Variation 

Whittle 
programme 
Maintenance 
T/a 
Hankinsons 

2 wks 6,522 

Gamesley 
Garages on 
Bakewell Green  
Re- Build 

Re Build of Garages on 
Bakewell Green site at 
Gamesley 

One Off Assets RFQ Dencroft Ltd 2-4 wks 15,150 

Climate Change 
Pathway 
Analysis and 
Action Planning 

Generation of emission 
pathways to 2050 for the 
region using the SCATTER 
tool. Borough-wide action 
planning development based 
upon SCATTER analysis  
 

One Off Communities Single 
Source 

Anthesis 
Group 

4 
months 

28,975 

Page 33



Glossop Indoor 
Market Hall 
Floor Removal 

Part of main works to market 
hall refurbishment 

One Off Assets Existing 
Contract 
Variation 

Messenger 
Construction 
Ltd 

2 wks 105,000 

Bankswood 
Park Pump 
Track 

Bankswood Park Hadfield – 
pump track supply and 
installation 

One Off Service 
Commissioning 

Open 
Tender 

Bike Track 4-6 wks 84,777 

EFG Project – 
Energy Surveys 
and retrofit 
works 
 

LAD2 funding 
Greener Homes 

One Off Assets Single 
Source 
exemption 
(IED) 

Broadoak 6 
months 

591,850 

Welcome Back 
Fund SLA - Visit 
New Mills 

External funding UK Gov 
ERDF Welcome Back fund  
(Covid 19 recovery) 

One Off Regeneration SLA – Direct 
Award 

Visit New Mills 6 
months 

3,500 

Welcome Back 
Fund SLA - 
Glossop 
Creative Trust 

External funding UK Gov 
ERDF Welcome Back fund  
(Covid 19 recovery) 

One Off Regeneration SLA – Direct 
Award 

Glossop 
Creative Trust 
CIC 

6 
months 

15,000 

Welcome Back 
Fund SLA - 
Vision Buxton 

External funding UK Gov 
ERDF Welcome Back fund  
(Covid 19 recovery) 

One Off Regeneration SLA – Direct 
Award 

Vision Buxton 6 
months 

9,000 

Welcome Back 
Fund SLA - 
Chinley, 
Buxworth & 
Brownside 

External funding UK Gov 
ERDF Welcome Back fund  
(Covid 19 recovery) 

One Off Regeneration SLA – Direct 
Award 

Chinley, 
Buxworth & 
Brownside 
Parish Council 

6 
months 

2,950 

Welcome Back 
Fund SLA - East 
Midlands 
Chamber 

External funding UK Gov 
ERDF Welcome Back fund  
(Covid 19 recovery) 

One Off Regeneration SLA – Direct 
Award 

East Midlands 
Chamber 

6 
months 

5,000 

Purchase of 
Quad Bike 

Grounds Maintenance 
equipment for AES 

One Off Operational 
Services 

Framework Vale 
Engineering 
York Ltd 

n/a 
supply 

10,000 

 

  

Page 34



 

 

Second Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award 
Detail 

Term / 
Duration 

 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

Climate Literacy 
Training 

Consultancy support One Off Communities Single 
Source 

Keele 
University 

n/a 3,450 

Agency – Food 
Hygiene 
Inspections 

Agency  One Off Environmental 
Health 

Single 
Source 

Osbourne 
Richardson 
Ltd 

9 
months 

17,000 

Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary 
Planning 
Documents 
(SPDs) 
 

Consultancy Support One Off Development 
Control 

Open 
Tender 

Capita 9 
months 

46,908 

E-tendering 
portal for HPBC 
and SMDC 

Licence renewal – 4 yr 
agreement 

Recurring Service 
Commissioning 

Framework 
Direct 
Award 

Proactis 4 yrs 16,800 

Energy 
Consultancy – 
Public Buildings 

Specialist Consultancy 
services 

One Off Assets Framework 
Further 
comp 

Nottingham 
City Council 

4 
months 

42,652 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

High Peak Performance and Customer Feedback Report: 2021/ 2022 (Q2) 

 

  

P
age 37



 

 

P
age 38



High Peak Q2 Summary  

The following report provides an overview of performance at High Peak for the period April to September 2021 in relation to the Council’s 

corporate plan priorities. As well as the summary below, the report also provides insight into the council’s performance against each of its four 

strategic aims, including both successes and areas for further improvement.    

Performance Overview  

There are 44 targeted measures to report against at the close of Q2, with the remaining measures in the council’s performance framework 

being considered contextual in nature and featuring in the Annual Report. The charts below show the results for the first half of the year in 

terms of both attainment and trend data. At the end of September the council was on track to meet 70% of targets and had improved upon or 

maintained its performance level compared to last year in 53% of measures. The full framework and the actions being taken to address the ‘off 

track’ measures can be accessed here.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Customer Feedback Overview  

This report also provides an overview of the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of complaints, comments and 

compliments. The number of complaints closed during Q2 this year was higher than last year’s very low level, with 52 stage 1 complaints. 

There have been no repeat complaints reported and the council responded to 98% of complaints in 20 working days, ahead of its 97% target. 

This report includes further details of the lessons learned from complaints and any repeat issues, where relevant.      

 

70%

30%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

On Track Off Track

29%

47%

24%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

P
age 39

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/high_peak_performance_indicator_database_september_1.pdf


Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our residents to live and work   

Fit for purpose housing 

✓ New housing benefit claims processed in 9 days against a target of 18 days 

✓ No gas safety checks were overdue in council homes 

✓ 66% of homelessness applications opened at the ‘prevention’ stage 

✓ Average response times for requests for repair 

 

Areas for improvement: The time taken to process benefit changes remains above the target due to a numer of factors including an increase in 

the volume of Universal Credit changes.  We have processed over 90% of right to buy transactions but three took longer than targeted due to 

an increase in the number of applications and complications around planning issues. There have been a large number of repair jobs taking a 

whole day or longer, which have affected productivity targets this quarter but the service expects performance to even out over the year. 

At the end of September the council had 17 households in temporary accommodation for over six weeks but none of the households are 

families. There are currently 129 active homeless cases and the council is also working with partners and the Home Office with regard to 

Afghan resettlement with two properties offered up. Although still off track, there are improvements in settled accommodation outcomes for 

prevention duty discharges.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accelerated housing delivery programme: 

Fairfield Roundabout – Homes England have offered an extension to the grant funding deadline from March to June 2022. Fisher 

German are working with the land promoters (GB Energy) at Waterswallows on Heads of Terms and land assembly. Several 

companies have returned tenders for the Golf Club mitigation works but above budget. Work ongoing to find possible cost savings. 

The order to divert the gas main has now been placed.  

Granby Road – A letter to Homes England has been sent confirming withdrawal and confirming council’s preference for direct 

repayment of grant drawn down to date. Planning pre-app is ongoing. A pre-app has been received for adjoining site Granby C. 

Consideration will need to be given to connectivity, access, highways mitigation measures. Fisher German commissioned to 

undertake site valuation for inclusion in final disposal report.   

 

P
age 40



Carelink Service:  

✓ 99% of emergency calls responded to within 45 minutes 

✓ 95% of referrals installed within 15 days 

High quality leisure facilities 

✓ £34k in external funding awarded in support of the physical activity and sports strategy 

Leisure projects – A range of work is underway to help support the leisure review including condition surveys. Until these elements are 

completed the next stages of the projects i.e., financial business case assessments, 

cannot be completed. A consultation exercise to inform the Sport and Physical Activity 

Strategy has concluded and the results will be included in an Information Digest for 

members shortly.  

The Council has allocated £100,000 in its budget towards making improvements to 

outdoor sports and recreational facilities across the Borough. The latest grant awards 

totalling over £23,000 have just been awarded including £10,000 towards a new 

clubhouse at Tintwistle; £2,000 for new practice facilities at Charlesworth; and £1,500 

towards a new score box at Buxworth. Given the scale of the project at Tintwistle, the 

Council has also awarded a further £10,000 bringing its total contribution to £20,000. 

High quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health 

✓ 40% of routine permitted process inspections carried out  

✓ 40% of high risk premises were inspected 

The number of fly-tipping incidents has improved in Q2 with 219 collections recorded, compared to 346 at this point last year.  The council 

launched its public campaign, aimed at deterring illegally dumped rubbish,  with its AES partners earlier this year.  

   

Aim 1 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

 

P
age 41

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_1_5.pdf


 

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

Financial resilience and value for money 

✓ Improving collection rates across business, council tax and sundry debt 

✓ 96% of invoices paid on time 

✓ Over 93% of internal audit recommendations were implemented in time 

        

Areas for improvement: At the end of September the proportion of housing rent collected is lower than last year and the legislative changes 

brought about by the Coronavirus Act in March 2020 have been extended further and now remain in force until 25/3/22, and affect possession 

applications to court. County court delays following the possession stay have resulted in cases taking approximately 16 weeks to reach hearing, 

where prior to the pandemic they took 4-6 weeks. We continue to explore alternatives to possession for recovering rent arrears, and take 

possession proceedings only in the most serious cases.       

 

 

Available services provided ‘right first time’ 

✓ 52% of contacts made via the web 

✓ Over 8900 social media followers 

✓ Complaint handing and no repeat complaints 

✓ 41,346 OneVu Portal accounts 

Areas for improvement: FOI response times have increased due to the 

demand on resources caused by the pandemic but performance has 

improved in Q2 with 63% issued on time.  

A new Access to Services Strategy is being prepared with the help of the Institute of Customer Services, which will both influence and reflect 

the new Digital IT Strategy also being prepared this year with professional expertise provided by SOCITM.    

High performing and motivated workforce 

Areas for improvement: Sickness absence has risen to 4.29 days across the Alliance and is projected to miss the tightened target this year due 

to an increase in long term cases, which make up two thirds of the total days lost.  

Positive Legacy Project Update: 

The retention of agile working and access to flexible working 

arrangements is currently being reviewed, and new policies 

are currently being developed. Alongside this, the council is 

identifying the benefits of reduced mileage, virtual access to 

meetings and training. 

 

P
age 42



A leadership development programme is underway with Heads of Service and a new Organisational Development Strategy is nearing 

completion, which will bring together and provide direction for the workstreams that underpin employee and business performance. 

Effective use of assets 

Areas for improvement: It took an average of 47 days to re-let council 

stock during Q2, a small improvement on Q1. Performance is impacted by 

the inclusion of major voids requiring external contractors and the 

inclusion of three hard to let sheltered properties that had been vacant 

for over 300 days. Rent loss from vacant properties now stands at 1.23% 

against a target of 1.03%. The majority of the losses come from Marian 

Court, Church View and The Bungalow.  

 Procurement with a focus on local businesses 

✓ 93% on-contract spend 

Areas for improvement: 51% of procurement activity during Q2 was 

included on the forward plan (an increase on Q1). This was due to an 

increase in commissioning activity in response to external funding being 

awarded on various schemes. This resulted in reactive procurements to 

source consultancies and other providers to support the delivery of the schemes and to meet the increased shortened timescales relating to 

allocation and spending of funding. We are continuing to work with Services to capture as much detail from service plans to ensure the 

Procurement forward plan is current in identifying forthcoming activity. 

Technology and innovation 

✓ 100% of system and network availability 

There are future opportunities from a wider digital workspace yet to be fully realised and there are likely to be outcomes from the new Digital 

IT Strategy that will rely on this virtual platform. Socitm has been engaging widely with stakeholders across the Council as well as reviewing our 

existing digital landscape. These sessions will identify opportunities to leverage the existing investments in technology, as well as providing 

insight into areas of opportunity to inform the future roadmap. The Strategy is expected at the February 2022 cycle of Committees.    

Aim 2 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

 

Asset Management Plan Update: 

Stock condition project will start 1st August and complete mid-

January. Initial drafts of Asset Management Policy and Strategy 

complete and ready for discussion with stakeholders.  

HRA Capital program – Off track projects include bathrooms 

and wet room installations where contractors are struggling to 

recruit extra staff to clear through backlogs from last year. 

Waiting times for wet rooms now increased to 18 months. 

Rendering programme - contractors have had issues with 

supplies, delaying the completion beyond targeted September 

date, but programme remains likely to complete this year. 

Pavilion Gardens - phase 2 Pavilion Gardens underway with 

external painting. Phase 3 on track to go live in October / Nov   

 

P
age 43

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_2_2.pdf


 

Aim 3: Support economic development and regeneration  

High quality development with an open for business approach 

✓ all planning processing targets met, including 100% of major applications in time 

✓ no major developments allowed on appeal and less than 1% of minor developments 

 

The Building Control partnership transfer took place on 5th July as planned with no issues with service continuity. We have been working on a 

new Communications protocol for development control to improve contact with our customers, including production of “Triage Reports” 

which will be provided to applicants part way through the application process to advise of any issues arising with the application.  

Flourishing Town Centres and Business Support 

There were 709 hits on the council’s business page 

during the first half of 2020/21. The monthly council 

business newsletter now has 1343 subscribers and 

includes details of funding opportunities, training 

events and other relevant business news. 

Victoria Hall in Glossop will need further treatment 

for dry rot in January, involving temporary closure of 

the site.   

  

 

Aim 3 areas for improvement and Priority Action 

updates can be viewed here 

 

 

Growth Strategy Update: 

- Buxton future high street fund: the project is progressing at pace following the 

successful revised Business Case and the award of £6.6m.  MOU received from 

MHCLG. Building’s report and first draft on value and negotiation proposals due 

September. Car park study commissioned. Public realm design commissioned. 

Monitoring and evaluation plan submitted to MHCLG - awaiting feedback. 

- Buxton HAZ: IBI Group Ltd have been appointed following our recent public 

realm tender. An inception meeting has taken place with the project team and 

requested information has been provided. Two footfall counters have been 

installed in Spring Gardens and weekly footfall reports are being produced. 

Training has been provided and additional tailored reports can be produced if 

required. Launch of Cultural programme to take place 1st/2nd Oct.  

 

P
age 44

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_3_0.pdf


 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

Quality Parks and Open Spaces 

The Memorial Park in Whaley Bridge has retained its green flag status for the 8th year running. The scheme is managed by 

Keep Britain Tidy to reward well-managed parks and green spaces which set the benchmark standard across the UK and 

around the world. A dedicated Friends group of volunteers work alongside High Peak Borough Council’s parks team and its grounds 

maintenance partner Alliance Environmental Services (AES) to care for and 

develop the park.                       

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Effective recycling and waste management 

✓ 225.14kg of residual household waste (estimated data) 

✓ Only 30.24 bins missed per 100,000 collections 

The estimated recycling rate for Q2 is 0.1% under target at 50.4% but is expected to improve as the year progresses. 

Meeting the challenge of climate change 

✓ Paper consumption is on track at 330 reams across the alliance 

Parks Development Plans: 

The Parks Strategy has now been approved by The Executive and design 

work on the finished document will be commencing soon, ahead of its 

formal launch. A play and outdoor sports facilities investment and 

delivery plan has also been approved by The Executive and an 

implementation plan is now being finalised. 

Bankswood Park Improvement Plan – The tender to construct the new 

pump track in Bankswood Park been awarded to Bike Track. A start on 

site date is to be agreed. 

P
age 45



 

Developing a climate change strategy and an action plan of response to a declared climate emergency: 

Since declaring a climate emergency in October 2019, the Council has started a number of activities in order to reduce its own carbon 

emissions. The work undertaken so far, and the action plan of activities going forward was presented to The Executive at its July meeting and is 

encapsulated in the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1). 

A range of activities were planned to coincide with the UN Climate 

Change Conference in November (COP26). These include: 

✓ Affordable warmth/energy efficiency webinars 

✓ Carbon Literacy training for all Heads of Service 

The council has also been working with Anthesis, a global 

sustainability consultancy, on the following areas: 

• Land and rural emissions profile 

• Pathway Analysis 

• Engagement with stakeholders 

• Procurement analysis 

 

The preliminary Climate Attitude Survey results have now been received, with a full report to follow. 

The Council’s Climate Change Working Group, which includes representatives from the High Peak Green Network, has been focusing on 

Borough-wide greenhouse gas emissions; the role of key agencies, and the actions that the Council can take going forward.  This work will 

inform Part 2 of the Climate Change Plan which will be published in November 2021.   

The Plan will need to be a dynamic document that gets added to as new actions become viable and we learn more about emissions in the area 

and the role the council can play, in partnership with others, to help reduce them.  

 

Aim 4 areas for improvement and Priority Action updates can be viewed here 

P
age 46

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/off_track_pis_and_priority_actions_aim_4_0.pdf


 

 

P
age 47



 

 

P
age 48



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

9 December 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning 
Document 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Anthony McKeown- Council 
Leader HPBC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Mark James - Principal Planning Officer 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Corbar, Barms, Stone Bench, Cote Heath, 
Buxton Central, Burbage 

 
 

Appendices Attached –  
 
Appendix 1 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD 

Appendix 2 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD (Appendix A) 
Appendix 3 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD (Appendix B) 
Appendix 4 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD (Appendix D) 

Appendix 5 – Draft Consultation Statement 
Appendix 6 – Draft schedule of modifications to the Water in Buxton SPD 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To notify Councillors of the responses received to the public consultation on 

the Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and related 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Report. The report and 
appendices also provide details of suggested responses from the Council to 

consultation feedback as well as suggested modifications to be made to the 
SPD.  

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Councillors note the feedback to the public consultation, suggested 

Council responses and modifications to the SPD. 
 

2.2 That that the Executive adopts the Water in Buxton SPD. 
 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 A draft Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was 
subject to public consultation during the Summer of 2021. A total of thirteen 

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



  

comments were received. Issues raised included suggestions that the SPD 
should have a broader scope to address wider ecological and climate change 
related issues and to address other more specific technical matters such as 

ground source heat pumps, the historic environment and the storage of 
potentially harmful liquids and fuels. Officers have recommended responses to 

consultation feedback and modifications to the document where appropriate. 
Feedback was also sought on a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Screening Report (SEA) which concluded that a detailed SEA would not be 

required. Two comments were received which did not contest this conclusion.  
 

3.2 The SPD seeks to provide additional guidance in support of policies in the 
adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016 which aim to protect the quality and 
quantity of water sources in the Buxton area and to minimise phosphate levels 

in the River Wye and the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) in particular. 

 
3.3 The document will be considered by the Executive for adoption on 9 th 

December. If adopted, the document will become a material consideration to 

the determination of planning applications in the Buxton area.  
 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The protection of water quality and supply links to Corporate Plan Aim 4: 
Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 
emergency. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Councillors are requested to recommend approval of the Water in Buxton 

SPD. The Supplementary Planning Document will provide information and 
guidance to developers, members of the public and officers that supplement 

local plan policy and reduces the risk that development in the Buxton area 
may compromise the quality and quantity of mineral waters in the Buxton area 
and adversely effect water quality in the River Wye SSSI which is a 

component of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
(Recommended) 

 

5.2 Members decide not to recommend approval of the Water in Buxton SPD. The 
information and guidance within the document will not be available (Not 
Recommended). 

 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
No direct implications 

 
 

Page 50



  

6.2 Workforce 
 
Officer time allocated towards the preparation and publication of 

the SPD. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
No direct implications 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 
Consultants were appointed to prepare the document working with 
the Council. The cost has been met from the Crescent Risk 

Management budget assisted by a grant from the Council’s Risk 
Management Group. 

 
 

6.5 Legal 

 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes provision 

for the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents. 
 
Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the procedural 
requirements for their preparation and adoption. As updated by the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020. 
 

The Water Framework Directive, the Groundwater Directive, 
Habitats Directive, Flood and Water Management Act 2010 and the 
Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 are also of relevance 
and are considered in the draft Supplementary Planning 

Document. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 

 
Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) of the High Peak Local Plan provides 

for increased water efficiency in new housing reflecting the need to 
support measures that help to reduce phosphate loading in the 
River Wye and more broadly, support sustainable use of water 

resources. 
 

This policy is one of two in the Local Plan which underpin the 
Supplementary Planning Document. 
 

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
The SPD and SEA Screening report have been subject to public 
consultation. Details are provided in Appendix 5. 

Page 51



  

 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
The need for guidance to ensure that policies in the Local Plan to 
protect the quality and quantity of mineral waters in Buxton are 

effectively applied was identified by the Buxton Water risk group– 
an officer led risk management group. 

 
The Supplementary Planning Document will provide information 
and guidance to developers, members of the public and officers 

that supplement local plan policy and reduces the risk that 
development in the Buxton area may compromise the quality and 

quantity of mineral waters in the Buxton area and adversely effect 
water quality in the River Wye SSSI which is a component of 
the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 

 
 

Neil W. Rodgers 
Executive Director (Place) 

 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

High Peak Local Plan: 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-
Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-
2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2

016.pdf?m=1514473710280 
 
Consultation website: 

https://highpeak-
consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36235 
 

 
 

Mark James 
Principal Planning Officer 
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 

7. Detail 
 

Background 
 
7.1  Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) can be prepared by local planning 

authorities to provide guidance to developers, land owners, planning agents 
and the Council on specific planning policies. SPDs are capable of being 

material considerations in the determination of planning applications but they 
do not form part of the statutory development plan. As such, they cannot be 
used to introduce new policies. Outside of the Peak District National Park, the 

statutory development plan in High Peak consists of the adopted High Peak 
Local Plan (2016), the Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan and the 

minerals and waste plans prepared by Derbyshire County Council. 
 
7.2  The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

set out the requirements for the preparation of SPDs. The National Planning 

Page 52

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://highpeak-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36235
https://highpeak-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36235


  

Policy Framework and associated guidance acknowledge the role of SPDs in 
providing further guidance for local policies. Regulation 8 (3) states that; “Any 
policies contained in a supplementary planning document must not conflict 

with the adopted development plan”. It is also made clear in the national 
planning practice guidance that SPDs should not add unnecessarily to the 

financial burdens on development. 
 
 

 
Purpose and scope of the Supplementary Planning Document 

 
7.3  The SPD provides further guidance on two water related constraints 

identified in the Local Plan which are specific to the Buxton area: 

 
a. The protection of the quality and quantity of mineral water sources in Buxton 

b. The need to minimise phosphate levels in River Wye which forms part of the 
Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

 

7.4  Local Plan Policy S7 (Buxton Sub-Area Strategy) and Policy EQ1 (Climate 
Change) establish the broad policy requirements for these two constraints that 

SPD is seeking to elaborate on. Relevant extracts from these two policies are 
provided below. If a Neighbourhood Plan for Buxton is taken forward, it must 
be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan, including 

the following which underpin the SPD. 
 

Policy S7 (Buxton Sub-Area Strategy) 

Policy S7 seeks to “establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and 
consolidate its role as the principal service centre for the Peak District by” 

(amongst other proposals): 
“Protecting the quality and supply of natural mineral water. Development, 
including proposals for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should have 

regard to the Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area, and Nitrate Vulnerable 
and Groundwater Source Protection Zones in terms of their impact on water 

quality and quantity; Requiring new development to demonstrate compliance 
with Policy EQ1 in relation to the adoption of high water efficiency standards 
and measures to recycle and minimise water consumption; 

Working with partner organisations through the River Wye Water Pollution 
Plan to protect water quality on the River Wye SSSI which is a component of 

the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC).” 
 

Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) 

Policy EQ 1 sets out the Council’s overarching approach for mitigating and 
adapting to climate change. This includes the following requirement: 

“Applications for new build residential development in the Buxton Sub-Area 
should meet the optional national technical requirement for water efficiency of 
110 litres per person per day to minimise the phosphate load to the River Wye 

via discharges from the Buxton Sewage Treatment Works, unless it can be 
demonstrated that doing so would adversely impact on a scheme’s viability; 

and “Supporting high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and 
minimise water consumption.” 

 

Page 53



  

7.5 The SPD (Appendix 1-3) includes the following to inform the consideration 
of potential impacts on water sources and minimise associated risks: 

 

 Identification of relevant legislation and policies, including, the Water 
Framework Directive, the Habitats Directive, water and Flood management 

Act 2010, Natural Mineral Water, Spring Water and Bottled Drinking Water 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018, local and national planning 

policy 

 Highlighting the Environment Agency’s Source Protection Zones (SPZs) 
which are used to identify and protection sources of drinking water and the 

Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Zone (as identified on the Local Plan 
Policies Map) 

 Identification of a Core Protection Area and an Extended Protection Area to 
help determine whether the application needs greater consideration1 

 Requiring risk assessments and method statements for bore holes, shallow 

excavations, excavation of basement extensions or developments 
including subterranean basements by way of conditions on planning 

consents where necessary 

 Requirements for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems and septic tanks 

 Encouragement for developers to engage at the pre-application stage. In 
particular, within the Core and Extended Protection Areas advice from a 

hydrogeologist may be helpful as a preliminary step. For significant 
proposals, consultation with Natural England and the Environment Agency 
(EA) prior to the submission of a planning application is also advised 

 Highlighting instances where planning consent may not be required but 
where works could still pose a risk to water quality and supply. This 

includes ground source heating and cooling systems for which developers 
are advised to refer to relevant guidance issued by the Environment 
Agency. 

 
7.6  The issue of phosphate levels in the River Wye is a more recent consideration 

which was identified during the preparation of the 2016 High Peak Local Plan 
in consultation with Natural England, the Environment Agency and Severn 
Trent Water. The Habitats Regulations Assessment report which informed the 

Local Plan identified the potential for adverse effects from development on the 
Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) as a result of 

increasing the total phosphate load to the River Wye via discharges from the 
Buxton Sewage Treatment Works. However further investigation of the issue 
has enabled Natural England to be confident that the Sewage Treatment 

facility at Buxton has the ability to deliver the current water quality target for 
phosphate within the headroom in the existing Severn Trent Water licence. 

 
7.7  Nevertheless, in order to preserve that headroom, the Local Plan seeks to 

apply the optional national technical requirement for water efficiency of 110 

litres per person per day from new residential developments to reduce the load 
into the River Wye. It is expected that this would achieve around a 20% 

                                                 
1 These protection areas, when considered in combination with the SPZs, are considered to form a 
more accurate and current understanding of the geological position than the Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Zone which is based on historical data 

 

Page 54



  

reduction in the amount of water discharged to wastewater treatment works 
compared to the average water efficiency of around 143 litres per person per 
day. This requirement is subject to the viability of development. The SPD 

provides specific guidance on how the standards could be met, including: 
 

 Integration of water efficient appliances in residential developments (e.g. water 
efficient shower heads, reduced capacity baths, lower flow taps, low flush 

toilets, water efficiency dishwashers and washing machines) 

 Water sensitive gardens which reduce the need for hosepipe use and 
maximise water retention 

 Rainwater harvesting and “greywater” use measures. Rainwater and 
wastewater from washing machines, baths and sinks can be put to appropriate 

re-use 
 

7.8 The above measures will be secured through planning conditions, including 

reference to the need to meet regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G2 of the Building 
Regulations 2015 (as amended). 

 
Public consultation and updated SPD 
 

 
7.9 Following consideration by the Economy and Growth Select Committee and 

the Executive in February 2021, A public consultation was held on the draft 
SPD between 13th May and 18th June 2021. The consultation documents 
were published on the Council's website for review.  

 
7.10 Comments were also sought on a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

screening statement. The screening determines if such effects are likely and 
therefore if a SEA is necessary in consultation with the statutory bodies, 
namely; Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England. The 

SEA screening report concluded that an SEA will not be necessary to 
support the SPD “because no significant environmental, social or economic 

effects arising from its implementation have been identified, as it seeks only to 
expand upon and provide guidance for the effective and consistent 
implementation of Local Plan policies”  

 
7.11 Notifications of the consultation were sent by email or letter to relevant 

contacts on the Council's planning policy consultee database. This included all 
relevant statutory consultees, local stakeholder organisations and residents 
and businesses in the Buxton area. Further publicity in the form of a press 

release and news on the Council's website was also published to raise 
awareness of the consultation.  

 
7.12 A total of 13 comments were submitted in relation to the SPD (3 from 

members of the public, 10 from organisations). The main issues raised 

included:  
 

 The SPD should have a broader scope to consider water quality more 
generally as well as measures to support biodiversity and address climate 

change  

Page 55



  

 Additional references need to consider the implications of ground source heat 
pumps  

 Consideration should be given to minerals operations (current and former) in 

the vicinity  

 Reference should be made to the historic environment, including waterlogged 

archaeology  

 There should be greater emphasis on the storage of liquids and fuels that 

could potentially impact groundwater  

 The phosphate load produced by household activities will not be reduced 

through water efficiency measures. What water efficiency does do is reduce 
the volume of water reaching the wastewater treatment works, thus relieving 
stress on the sewerage system.  

 Several minor miscellaneous amendments requested for clarification purposes  
 

7.13 A further 2 comments were submitted regarding to SEA Screening report. 
Natural England concurred with the conclusion in the Screening Report that a 
full SEA is not required. Historic England confirm that they had no further 

comments to make. As such, it is considered than a SEA is not required for 
the SPD.  

 
7.14 A draft Consultation Statement accompanies this report (Appendix 5). It details 

each consultation comment and provides an officer response. In light of the 

feedback, a number of modifications to the SPD are recommended. A 
schedule of the proposed modifications to the consultation version of the SPD 

is provided at Appendix 6. Appendix 1-3 provides a copy of the SPD as 
proposed for adoption which incorporates the identified modifications.  

 

7.15 In terms of the wider environmental and climate change related responses 
raised during the consultation responses, members may wish to consider them 

further as part of the Local Plan review. 
 

Adoption 
 
 

7.16 The Executive will consider the adoption of the SPD on 9 December. If 
adopted, the SPD, the final Consultation Statement and an “adoption 

statement” will be published. Interested parties will be notified. Any person 
with sufficient interest in the decision to adopt the SPD may apply to the High 
Court for permission to apply for judicial review of that decision within 3 

months of the date of adoption.  
 

7.17 The SPD will become a material consideration in the determination of relevant 
planning applications in the Buxton area. 

 

 
 

 
 

Page 56



water in buxton
Supplementary planning document

Adopted December 2021

A WELL OF
LIVING WATERS

A TRIBUTE

TO THE MEMORY OF

EMILIE DOROTHEA  BOUNDS

COUNCILLOR OF THIS

BOROUGH

by her husband and daughter

Page 57



 2  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

 

High Peak Borough Council 

 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Adopted December 2021 

 

Page 58



 3  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction 5 

1.1 Overview 5 
1.2 Background 5 

The need to protect mineral water sources in Buxton 5 
The type of sources, location of sources and how the water arrives at those locations 6 
The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and the impact of new homes in Buxton 6 

1.3 Why this guidance is needed 7 
1.4 How to use this Supplementary Planning Document 8 
1.5 How this Supplementary Planning Document is structured 8 

2. Legislation, planning policy and guidance 9 

2.1 Introduction 9 
2.2 European and National Legislative Context 9 

The Water Framework Directive 9 
Groundwater Protection in Europe 9 
The Habitats Directive 9 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010 10 
Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 10 

2.3 National Planning Policy Context 10 
National Planning Policy Framework 10 
National Planning Practice Guidance 10 

2.4 Local Planning Policy Context 11 
Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy 11 
Policy EQ1: Climate Change 11 

3. Water Protection Areas 12 

3.1 Types of water 12 
Natural Mineral Water 12 
Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies 12 

3.2 Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 13 
3.3 Areas of Sensitivity 14 
3.4 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area 17 

3.5 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones 17 

4. Pre-Application Advice 19 

4.1 Roles and responsibilities 19 
Additional advice 19 

5. Protection of mineral water sources in Buxton 20 

5.1 Types of development: 20 

Page 59



 4  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Drilling boreholes and digging shallow excavations 20 
Excavation of basement extensions or developments including subterranean basements 22 

5.2 When additional conditions to prevent pollution of water sources may be required over and above 
permitting requirements 23 

5.3 Other regulatory consents that may be required when planning consent may not be needed 23 
5.4 Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 25 
5.5 Septic tanks 25 
5.6 Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels 26 

6. Water efficiency in Buxton 27 

6.1 Introduction 27 
6.2 Water efficiency in residential development 27 
6.3 How new homes in Buxton can achieve a water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day 27 
6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption 28 

Water-sensitive design in new homes 28 
Rainwater Harvesting 28 
Water Recycling 29 

6.5 How the water efficiency standard for residential development will be applied by the Council in 
Buxton 29 
Viability 29 
Application of the water efficiency standards 30 

6.6 How high standards of water efficiency and measures to recycle and minimise water consumption 
in non-residential development will be sought by the Council 30 
BREEAM standards and water efficiency for non-residential developments 30 

 
 
 

Figure 3.1 Buxton’ s Source Protection Zone 14 
Figure 3.2 Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area 16 
Figure 3.3 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area 17 
 

 
 
 

Appendix A Code of Practice - Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 
Appendix B Code of Practice – Excavations in the in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 
Appendix C Template planning conditions related to water issues 
Appendix D Location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation 

Page 60



 5  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Overview 

1.1.1 Water is a vital resource that the planning system plays a key role in managing. The need to protect 
Buxton’s water resources and water quality is embedded within the adopted High Peak Local Plan 
(the Local Plan) policies EQ1: Climate Change and S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy.1 The policies 
recognise the need to protect the supply and quality of mineral waters in Buxton – as a significant 
contributor to the economy of the area – and to ensure water efficiency measures are implemented 
to avoid negative ecological effects on the River Wye.  

1.1.2 This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) expands on the Local Plan policies and provides 
further guidance to ensure that development preserves the quality of water resources within the 
Buxton Sub-area and supports water efficiency. The SPD forms part of High Peak Borough Council’s 
suite of planning documents and provides guidance to developers, landowners and members of 
the public to raise awareness of the vital importance of water sources and to enable them to meet 
the requirements of the Local Plan when preparing development proposals and submitting 
planning applications. 

1.1.3 This guidance therefore addresses two separate purposes within the common theme of water 
quality in Buxton.  It: 

 Supports the protection of mineral water sources within the Buxton Sub-area; and 

 Supports effective management of water to improve overall water quality and prevent 
additional phosphates reaching the River Wye, supporting a reduction in phosphate load where 
possible. 

1.1.4 This document was adopted by the Council on 9 December 2021. It is a material consideration 
when considering planning applications or planning appeals. This SPD does not introduce new 
policy but adds further detail to the policies within the Local Plan, specifically policies EQ1 and S7. 

1.2 Background 

The need to protect mineral water sources in Buxton 

1.2.1 Buxton is an area with a number of mineral water springs, one of which is a nationally unique 
potable thermal mineral water of national importance, Buxton thermal waters.  These waters have 
been used since Roman times and Buxton developed as a spa town during the 18th and 19th century 
as many visitors were drawn to the town’s thermal spring. Buxton’s Georgian prosperity is 
evidenced by many of the buildings and pleasure gardens that still define the character of the town 
today.  One of the most important buildings is The Crescent, constructed in 1780 as part of the 
Duke of Devonshire’s plans to establish a fashionable spa town.  The building is Grade 1 listed. 

1.2.2 Today, the thermal water is bottled by Nestlé UK as Buxton Water, which is one of the best known 
natural mineral water brands in the UK.  Their bottling plant, located in Waterswallows near Buxton, 
brings employment and prosperity to the town as well as income to the Council as owner of the 
spring.  The Crescent buildings have been recently renovated and restored for use as a Spa Hotel, 

 
1 The High Peak Local Plan was adopted in April 2016. Available via: https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-
Adopted-Local-Plan-2016. Policy S7 applies to the Buxton-Sub Area as defined on the Policies Map  - 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map 

Page 61

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016


 6  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

which also uses the thermal water, in this case for bathing and spa treatments. The Crescent 
redevelopment is expected to play an important role in the regeneration of the town.   

1.2.3 Another mineral water source relatively recently discovered is Rockhead spring located just outside 
Buxton near Cowdale. This is licenced and used for bottled water production.   

1.2.4 Therefore, water quality or flow impacts to the Buxton mineral waters could be irreparable and 
cause significant economic damage to the town of Buxton and nationally. 

1.2.5 EU legislation and its transposition into regulations for England and Wales2 require that natural 
mineral waters to be used as bottled water are subject to specific requirements, for example, that 
they must be drawn from a specified source which is protected from pollution and that the water 
can only be treated to remove certain naturally-occurring elements before bottling.  

1.2.6 It is therefore vital that the water quality is protected and that the objectives of the policies in the 
Local Plan are met.   

The type of sources, location of sources and how the water arrives at those locations  

1.2.7 Thermal springs are rare in Britain. The Buxton Thermal Springs have been used since Roman times 
and have a long history of use as a mineral water and spa.  They consist of a series of springs that 
discharge at temperatures up to 27.50C through Carboniferous Limestone in the vicinity of The 
Crescent in Buxton.  The location of the springs suggests that the thermal water is capped beneath 
younger strata (shales and sandstones) that exist to the north of The Crescent.  The thermal water 
emerges at the ground surface where the younger rocks are thin or absent.   

1.2.8 The thermal water is unpolluted and has unique chemical characteristics that distinguish it from the 
non-thermal groundwater. The thermal springs are understood to originate from the percolation of 
rainfall into a network of micro-fractures in the Carboniferous Limestone to reach a depth greater 
than 900m. The heated water then returns to the surface, probably following geological faults in the 
limestone strata, a process that takes some 5,000 years.   

1.2.9 Although the thermal water has a greater hydraulic head than the cold groundwater system, there 
is a delicate balance between the cold and thermal groundwater systems and the precise route of 
the waters though the limestone is not entirely known. There is therefore a need to avoid 
disturbing established flow pathways within the limestone in and around the Crescent.  Excavations, 
borehole drilling and piling have the potential to disturb groundwater flow pathways.  The 
construction works associated with creating an excavation or borehole also have the potential to 
cause contamination of the groundwaters, reducing groundwater quality and affecting their unique 
chemical characteristics.   

1.2.10 Rockhead Spring was recognised as a Natural Mineral Water in 2000.  The water is percolated 
through the Carboniferous Limestone similar to the thermal waters but it is not a thermal water and 
is different in composition to the thermal waters at Buxton. Like the thermal waters, the 
groundwater flow pathways through the Carboniferous Limestone are not precisely known.  Any 
excavations or building in the area around Rockhead Spring needs to consider the risk of 
disturbance or contamination to pathways through the limestone that the water moves through. 

The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and the impact of new homes in 
Buxton 

1.2.11 Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for plant and animal growth but it can 
have harmful effects on the ecology of rivers through a process called ‘eutrophication’ where there 

 
2 The Natural Mineral Water, Spring Water and Bottle Drinking Water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018. 

Page 62



 7  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

is an increase in mineral and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead 
to a reduction in dissolved oxygen and deterioration in conditions that affect the suitability of the 
habitat for certain species. For the River Wye the species affected are White-clawed crayfish, Brook 
lamprey and Bullhead. 

1.2.12 There are two principal anthropogenic sources of phosphorus in the River Wye: effluent discharges 
from sewage treatment works, and diffuse phosphorus pollution, mainly in runoff from agricultural 
land. The Wye Valley featuring the River Wye is a designated Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
which forms part of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC)3. SACs are amongst 
the most important and sensitive nature conservation sites and are afforded the highest levels of 
protection under the Habitat Regulations4. Whilst the Habitats Regulations derive from European 
legislation, like many European regulations and directives they continue to take effect having been 
adopted into UK law. Elevated levels of phosphorus can have a detrimental impact on the ecology 
and biodiversity of rivers, and therefore concentration limits have been set.5  

1.2.13 The water produced by housing is acknowledged as a having a direct effect on the amount of 
phosphate in the River Wye once it is discharged from wastewater treatment works (WwTW). The 
need for water efficiency measures to help reduce water produced by housing is therefore 
important to reduce stress on the sewerage system and enable efficient treatment to reduce 
phosphate discharged to the River Wye. 

1.3 Why this guidance is needed 

1.3.1 The High Peak Local Plan adopted in 2016 includes two specific policies that relate to water 
resource and quality in the Buxton area: 
 S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy 

 EQ1: Climate Change 

1.3.2 Although these policies set out the Council’s requirements in relation to mineral water resources, 
water quality, and water efficiency the guidance in this SPD sets out in greater detail: 
 The importance of the policies and why their objectives need to be met; 

 The different types of protection afforded to groundwaters; 

 The potential risk factors; 

 Types of development that may be particularly sensitive;  

 guidance that could be helpful to applicants when considering development proposals; and 

 practical measures that can be undertaken to meet water efficiency measures. 

1.3.3 Any development, whether it is subject to a planning application or not, must not negatively impact 
on the water quality of any receiving watercourse or groundwater. During the development 
process, developers should ensure that any proposal does not negatively deteriorate the ‘status’ of 
any nearby watercourse as defined under the Water Framework Directive (WFD).  An objective for 
the WFD is to prevent deterioration in ‘status’ for all waterbodies.  

 
3 See Appendix D for the location of the SAC and component Wye Valley SSSI. 
4 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended)  
5 The Water Framework Directive target for phosphate load in the Wye is 0.015 mg/l. See: 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4589265656741888  

Page 63

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4589265656741888


 8  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

1.3.4 The guidance contained in the SPD highlights the importance of water quality and resources in 
Buxton and guides developers and applicants to key resources that can inform development 
proposals at the outset of the design process. 

1.4 How to use this Supplementary Planning Document 

1.4.1 The approach set out within this SPD will ensure that water quality and resources within Buxton are 
considered through all stages of the development process in line with the policies of the Local Plan. 
This SPD should therefore be used by: 

 Developers and individuals considering new development, including changes of use for land, or 
engineering proposals; 

 Developers and individuals considering alterations or changes of use to existing sites/buildings; 
and 

 Design and engineering teams when preparing surface water drainage schemes. 

In turn, the Council will use the SPD to help consideration of planning applications and when 
selecting relevant planning conditions. 

1.4.2 The SPD should be read in conjunction with the Local Plan as a whole.  

1.5 How this Supplementary Planning Document is structured 

1.5.1 The SPD is structured as follows: 

 Section 2 – sets out the legislative and policy context 

 Section 3 – outlines the water protection zones and why they are important 

 Section 4 – provides guidance on pre-application advice 

 Section 5 – sets out guidance to help protect Buxton’s mineral waters 

 Section 6 – sets out how water efficiency measures can be achieved 

 

Page 64



 9  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

2. Legislation, planning policy and guidance  

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 Local planning policy is guided and influenced by European and national legislation as well as 
national planning policy. Sections 2.2 and Section 2.3 consider the European and national context 
respectively and Section 2.4 considers the local policy context.  

2.2 European and National Legislative Context 

The Water Framework Directive 

2.2.1 The Water Framework Directive establishes a framework for the protection of inland surface water, 
estuaries, coastal waters and groundwater. The Water Framework Directive – 2000/60/EC (WFD) 
came into force in England in 2003 via The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2017. There are four main aims of the WFD: 

 To improve and protect inland and coastal waters; 

 To promote sustainable use of water as a natural resource; 

 To create better habitats for wildlife that lives in and around water; and 

 To create a better quality of life for everyone. 

2.2.2 The WFD sets out status objectives for each river in England. Buxton falls under the Humber River 
Basin Management Plan6. 

Groundwater Protection in Europe 

2.2.3 The Groundwater Directive 2006/118/EC was developed in response to the requirements of Article 
17 of the WFD and set out the technical specifications required for the protection of groundwater 
against pollution and deterioration.  

The Habitats Directive 

2.2.4 The Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 has been transposed in UK law within the 
Conservation and Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations seeks to protect biodiversity through the 
conservation of natural habitats and species of wild fauna and flora. 

2.2.5 Sections of the River Wye form part of the Wye Valley Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) - a 
component site of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Conservation 
Objectives have set for phosphate levels in the Wye to achieve good ecological status.  

2.2.6 The relevant caselaw must be considered where applicants are required to undertake a project-
based Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and impacts are identified. Of particular relevance 
are the ‘Dutch cases’7.  

 
6 Available via: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan 
7 Coöperatie Mobilisation for the Environment UA and Others v College van gedeputeerde staten van Limburg 
and Others (C-293/17 & C-294/17) 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan


 10  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

2.2.7 The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA) places the responsibility for co-ordinating 
‘local flood risk’ management on the relevant county or unitary authority, making them a Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA). In this context, the Act uses the term ‘local flood risk’ to mean flood 
risk from: 

 Surface runoff; 

 Groundwater; and 

 Ordinary watercourses 

The LLFA for High Peak is Derbyshire County Council. 

Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2018 

2.2.8 The purpose of these regulations is to protect human health and ensure a good quality of water for 
consumers. The Regulations transpose EU Directive 2015/1787 into law in England and are 
concerned with monitoring of mineral, spring and bottled drinking water. 

2.3 National Planning Policy Context 

National Planning Policy Framework 

2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)8 sets out the Government’s aim for the planning 
system to enhance the natural and local environment by (NPPF, 2021: para. 174(d)):  

“preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, 
or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin 
management plans.” 

National Planning Practice Guidance 

2.3.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)9 supports the implementation of the NPPF. The PPG 
provides a range of guidance on water supply, wastewater and water quality. Guidance is provided 
on considerations for planning applications, including: 

 Water supply; 

 Water quality; 

 Assessing impacts on water quality; 

 Particular considerations that apply in areas with inadequate wastewater infrastructure; and  

 Where information can be found on the water environment. 

 
8 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National Planning Policy Framework. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
9 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) Planning Practice Guidance is available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality  

Page 66

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality


 11  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

2.3.3 Applicants should have regard to the NPPF and PPG when preparing development proposals. The 
Council will have regard to the NPPF and PPG when determining applications. 

2.4 Local Planning Policy Context 

2.4.1 The Local Plan sets out policies related to the protection of water quality and supply specifically in 
relation to the Buxton Sub-area. The policies that this SPD supports are: 

Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy  

2.4.2 Policy S7 seeks to establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and consolidate its role as the 
principal service centre for the Peak District. It seeks to protect and enhance “the unique character 
of Buxton’s spa heritage, townscape and natural environment to maintain the quality of life and act 
as a catalyst for tourism by” (amongst other things): 

 Protecting the quality and supply of natural mineral water. Development, including proposals for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should have regard to the Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Area, and Nitrate Vulnerable and Groundwater Source Protection Zones in terms of 
their impact on water quality and quantity 

 Requiring new development to demonstrate compliance with Policy EQ1 in relation to the 
adoption of high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and minimise water 
consumption 

 Working with partner organisations through the River Wye Water Pollution Plan to protect water 
quality on the River Wye SSSI which is a component of the Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) 

Policy EQ1: Climate Change 

2.4.3 Policy EQ 1 provides for increased water efficiency in new housing10 reflecting the need to support 
measures that help to reduce phosphate loading in the River Wye; and more broadly, support 
sustainable use of water resources. With regards to water quality and efficiency within Buxton the 
policy states that: 

 Applications for new build residential development in the Buxton Sub-Area should meet the 
optional national technical requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day to 
minimise the phosphate load to the River Wye via discharges from the Buxton Sewage Treatment 
Works, unless it can be demonstrated that doing so would adversely impact on a scheme’s 
viability;  

And additionally, it outlines that a low carbon future will be achieved by (amongst other things): 

 Supporting high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and minimise water 
consumption. 

2.4.4 In addition to these policies, Policy EQ 10: Pollution Control and Unstable Land sets out the Council 
approach to protect people and environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments, 
including in relation to watercourses and groundwater. 

 
10 Guidance on the higher housing optional technical standards that are adopted in the Local Plan is available here: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards  

Page 67

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards


 12  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

3. Water Protection Areas  

3.1 Types of water 

Natural Mineral Water  

3.1.1 As described in Section 1.2, there are two recognised natural mineral waters arising in and close to 
Buxton: The thermal waters at St Ann’s Spring and associated springs arising close to or under the 
Crescent in Buxton; and Rockhead Spring.   

3.1.2 Natural mineral water is the statutory name for a specific type of water that comes from a named 
underground source that has a constant flow, is pure and has a consistent mineral composition. 
Natural mineral water must be officially recognised through a local authority after a qualifying 
period of two years. Natural mineral water must also be registered with the Food Standards 
Agency.  Once registered the water becomes subject to control under the Natural mineral water, 
spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 which includes 
restrictions such as a prohibition on chemical additives and certain labelling requirements. 

3.1.3 The natural mineral waters of Buxton should not be confused with ‘spring water’, ‘table water’ or 
‘prepared water’. Spring Water is similar to natural mineral water and comes from a single non-
polluted ground water source, however, unlike natural mineral water there is no formal recognition 
process required although it must still be registered with the local authority. 

3.1.4 Many natural mineral waters begin their lives as spring waters trading as such during the two year 
testing period. Unlike natural mineral waters, spring waters may undergo limited, permitted 
treatments but like natural mineral waters must comply with the bottled drinking water regulations.  
Table or prepared waters can originate from any type of supply, including public water supply, be 
from more than one source, and can also be treated to comply with chemical or microbiological 
safety requirements or to add minerals. They require no official approval or authentication but are 
also subject to the bottled drinking water regulations. 

Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies  

3.1.5 The overall objective of the WFD is to establish a framework for protecting water bodies (rivers, 
lakes, estuaries and groundwater) based on a quantitative assessment of their ecological and 
chemical condition. The WFD seeks to achieve Good status in all water bodies. 

3.1.6 The River Wye and its catchment in the Buxton sub-area is a water body recognised by the WFD 
(ref. GB104028058460, name Wye from Source to Monk's Dale11). The current status of the Wye 
from Source to Monk's Dale water body is Moderate based on the assessment of both its ecological 
and chemical condition. Phosphate from sewage treatment works is identified as the most probable 
reason for the water body not achieving Good status but it is recognised that septic tanks and 
surface run off from farming also contribute.   

3.1.7 Two WFD groundwater bodies are also defined for the Buxton sub-area:  

 Derwent - Carboniferous Limestone (ref. GB40401G103100) to the south and east. Buxton 
thermal springs emerge from this groundwater body;  

 
11 Environment Agency Catchment Data Explorer. Available via: https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-
planning/WaterBody/GB104028058460 

Page 68

https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028058460
https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028058460


 13  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

 Derwent - Secondary Combined (ref. GB40402G990400) which is a large waterbody that loops 
around the north, west and east extending well beyond the Buxton Sub-area. 

3.1.8 Both water bodies have overall Poor status due to having Poor chemical status as a result of 
pollution from abandoned mine workings.  However, this occurs outside the Buxton Sub area.  Both 
water bodies have Good quantitative status.   

3.2 Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 

3.2.1 Source Protection Zones (SPZ) are identified by the Environment Agency to protect sources of 
drinking water such as wells, boreholes and springs. The Environment Agency uses SPZ as an initial 
screening tool to identify areas in which some activities or developments may potentially adversely 
affect groundwater intended for human consumption.   

3.2.2 SPZ around location sites are defined by groundwater travel time to an abstraction site using 
information on geology type, rainfall and hydrological boundaries. SPZ are divided into the 
following based on how long it takes for pollutants to travel from the water below ground to the 
point where water is taken12: 

 SPZ1 (Inner Protection Zone) - This zone provides the highest level of protection for 
groundwater sources.  Buxton falls within SPZ1 because groundwater is able to flow very 
rapidly through fissures in some parts of the Carboniferous Limestone aquifer.  Rapid flow 
means that the time of travel for water in the ground is shorter so there is less opportunity for 
contamination to be filtered out or to break down.   

 SPZ2 (Outer Protection Zone) - This zone is larger than SPZ1 and provides protection from 
contaminants that take longer to break down in groundwater.   

 SPZ3 (Total Catchment) - This zone is defined as the total area needed to support the 
abstraction or discharge from the protected groundwater source.  

 SPZ4 (Zone of Special Interest) - These zones highlight areas (mainly on non-aquifers) where 
known local conditions mean that potentially polluting activities could impact on a 
groundwater source. 

3.2.3 The Buxton Sub-area falls with SPZ:1. The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection 
(2018)13 sets out position statements relevant to potentially polluting activities and development 
within SPZ1 and provides an indication of the risk to groundwaters and means of mitigating those 
risks.  Within this SPZ is an area along the northern boundary defined by the Environment Agency 
as an SPZ1c area. This means that within this area the Environment Agency will filter surface 
activities but continue to assess on an individual basis whether controls need to be applied to sub-
surface excavations, based on the nature of and depth of excavation. 

3.2.4 The Council recognises the importance of the SPZ within Policy S7 and requires all development to 
have regard to its importance. Figure 3.1 shows the extent of the Buxton SPZ.  

3.2.5 Applicants should refer to the Council’s interactive mapping service via: 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map.  

 

 
12 Guidance on SPZs and how they are defined can be found via: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-
protection-zones-spzs#find-groundwater-spzs  
13 Environment Agency (2018) Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

Page 69

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-protection-zones-spzs#find-groundwater-spzs
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-protection-zones-spzs#find-groundwater-spzs
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


 14  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Figure 3.1 Buxton’ s Source Protection Zone 

 

3.3 Areas of Sensitivity 

3.3.1 The Council has undertaken further hydrogeological work to understand the vulnerability of 
thermal springs within the Environment Agency’s SPZ to help inform the implementation of Policy 
S7. This work has involved detailed consideration of past and present studies into the geology 
underlying Buxton to give an estimation of likely sensitivity in relation to the depth of shale 
overlying the limestone through which the waters flow.  This is of import because any potential 
incursion or intrusion into the limestone could contaminate or disrupt flow to the thermal waters.  
The outcome of this work is the identification of two additional protection areas (see Figure 3.2): 

 Core Protection Area – within 250m of known thermal groundwater associated with Buxton 
thermal springs, older rock is estimated to be less than 25m thick, and the ground area below 
300m AOD (‘above ordinance datum’); and 

 Extended Protection Area – within 500m of known thermal groundwater associated with 
Buxton thermal springs and where the older rock is estimated to be less than 100 m thick. 

Page 70



 15  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

The Core and Extended Protection Areas lie wholly within the Inner Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton thermal springs.   

3.3.2 When considering planning applications, the Council will use these areas to help determine 
whether the application needs greater consideration for the potential impacts on the thermal 
springs (in accordance with Policy S7 objectives). Further specific practical guidance for the 
application of the areas when considering development that comprise drilling or excavations is set 
out in Section 5 and Appendix A and B.

Page 71



 16  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Figure 3.2 Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 72



 17  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

3.4 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area 

3.4.1 The Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area is shown in Figure 3.3. The Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Area is an indicator of where the thermal spring waters are thought to originate.  The 
catchment was drawn up based on best knowledge over 20 years ago and while it retains value 
because precise boundaries and routes of waters are not completely known, it is considered that 
the Core and Extended Protection Areas in combination with the Environment Agency’s SPZ form a 
more accurate current understanding of the geological position where these overlap.  Given the 
importance of safeguarding the mineral water sources a precautionary approach to water 
protection is considered appropriate. 

3.4.2 In addition, for areas that lie only within the Buxton Mineral Water Mineral Catchment area 
consideration must still be given to protecting mineral water sources in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy S7. Furthermore, less is known about the dynamics of the water system and geology serving 
Rockhead Spring which must also be safeguarded and where the Codes of Practice are not 
applicable, although the SPZ may be. 

3.4.3 Applicants should refer to the Buxton Mineral Catchment Area on the Council’s interactive mapping 
service via : https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map.  

Figure 3.3 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones  

3.5.1 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (NVZ) are areas designated as being at risk from agricultural nitrate 
pollution. Within NVZs farmers and land managers are required to take steps to prevent manure, 

Page 73

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map


 18  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

fertiliser and soil getting into watercourses to prevent diffuse water pollution.14 The Buxton Sub-
area does not currently include part of an NVZ but NVZ designations are reviewed every four years. 

3.5.2 Land owners can find out if their land is included in a NVZ via the Environment Agency’s online 
mapping services: https://environment.data.gov.uk/farmers/.  

 

 
14 Government guidance for land owners and farmers is available via: www.gov.uk/guidance/rules-for-farmers-and-land-
managers-to-prevent-water-pollution    

Page 74

https://environment.data.gov.uk/farmers/
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/rules-for-farmers-and-land-managers-to-prevent-water-pollution
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/rules-for-farmers-and-land-managers-to-prevent-water-pollution


 19  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

4. Pre-Application Advice  

4.1 Roles and responsibilities 

4.1.1 Pre-application advice helps developers and applicants understand the water management issues 
relating to their proposal in advance of a planning application being submitted. Additionally, 
engagement with the Council can establish what type of planning approval is required and the 
relevant supporting studies or documentation that should be submitted with the application to 
demonstrate the suitability of a proposal. 

4.1.2 To ensure that applications are validated and determined in a timely manner it is important to 
include the relevant information required by the Council.  Applicants are therefore advised to 
consult with the Council utilising the pre-application service for any form of development, and 
particularly, where development may have the potential to impact on water resources.   

4.1.3 In particular, within the Core and Extended Protection Areas advice from a hydrogeologist may be 
helpful as a preliminary step.  Developers may find it helpful to consider the Codes of Practice as 
set out in Section 5 at an early stage of development planning. 

4.1.4 The Council’s pre-application advice service can be found via:  
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings  

4.1.5 There is no charge for pre-application advice for householders. 

Additional advice 

4.1.6 For significant proposals, applicants should engage the relevant national organisations of Natural 
England and the Environment Agency (EA) prior to the submission of a planning application. 
Additionally, in some cases applicants will need to secure environmental permitting approvals from 
the Environment Agency. This should be sought at the earliest opportunity.  

Page 75

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings


 20  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5. Protection of mineral water sources in Buxton 

5.1 Types of development: 

Drilling boreholes and digging shallow excavations 

5.1.1 There is a need to avoid changes to hydraulic pressure that could affect the balance between the 
cold and thermal groundwater systems. Excavations into the underlying Carboniferous Limestone 
could potentially present a risk to mineral waters and result in changes to groundwater flow. There 
may also be risks of contamination of the underlying aquifer. 

Legal Requirements to protect groundwater quality  

5.1.2 Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) 
(Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016) from here on)  it is a criminal offence to “cause or 
knowingly permit” groundwater to become polluted. Penalties include fines, imprisonment or both.  

5.1.3 As well as legal requirements not to pollute groundwaters, civil liability may also follow where 
mineral waters are adversely affected by the activities of a third party which could be substantial.  
Developers should take their own advice in this regard and take out appropriate insurance for 
works they may wish to carry out in advance. 

Boreholes 

5.1.4 Policy S7 protects the quality and supply of natural mineral water in the Buxton Sub-area. In order 
to achieve this the Council applies a precautionary approach to the drilling of boreholes within the 
Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area (Figure 3.2). Borehole drilling in these areas can 
adversely impact the Buxton thermal springs.  

5.1.5 If the proposed drilling location has the potential to be contaminated there is a risk that the 
borehole could lead to pollution of groundwater and migration of contaminants to Buxton Thermal 
Springs, a borehole also has the potential to alter the dynamics of the aquifer and groundwater 
systems.   

5.1.6 The Council requests that prior to undertaking any works, developers and applicants follow the 
guidance set out in Code of Practice: Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 
(see Appendix A).  In summary and in accordance with the Code of Practice, the Council requests 
that the following is undertaken by a person qualified in hydrogeology or geoenvironmental 
engineering and having experience of completing hydrogeological desk studies and groundwater 
risk assessments prior to any works:  

i. Desk study to collate and understand background information. This should identify sensitivity 
of proposed drilling location and the local geology/hydrogeology/hydrology conditions  

ii. Risk assessment to understand the risks to the Buxton Thermal Springs from the proposed 
activities. It should include consideration of; 

 The likelihood of encountering thermal water; 

 The likelihood of introducing near surface contamination into the Carboniferous Limestone 
aquifer; 

Page 76



 21  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 The likelihood of contaminating the Carboniferous Limestone by the drilling process, either 
by causing turbidity or by accidental contamination from the drilling equipment; and 

 The likelihood that the groundwater system will be disturbed and affect the balance 
between the thermal and cold groundwater systems. 

iii. Method Statement which demonstrates that the activities can be conducted safely without 
detriment to the Buxton thermal springs, including appropriate actions if thermal groundwater is 
encountered. If the drilling could result in contamination or disturbance of the groundwater 
regime and affect water quality in the Buxton thermal springs, the drilling method, borehole 
design and, if required, monitoring should provide adequate mitigation.  The approach to be 
taken should be prepared and discussed with the Council, as abstraction licensee holder and 
appropriate regulators. The Method Statement should include coverage of technical 
requirements relating to: 

 Supervision 

 Materials  

 Inspection Pits 

 Drilling Methodology, focusing on: 

o Drilling Method to ensure risks are minimised; 

o Groundwater Temperature/ Artesian Conditions recording; 

o Drilling equipment; 

o Drilling fluid; 

o Borehole Casing and backfill material; 

o Cleaning Equipment; 

o Waste Collection and Disposal; and 

o Fuel Storage and plant refuelling. 

5.1.7 The recommended approach to be taken in order to prepare the Desk Study, Risk Assessment 
and Method Statement, including the technical requirements, is described in the Code of Practice: 
Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs (see Appendix A).  

Shallow excavations 

5.1.8 All excavations greater than 600mm could potentially affect the quality of the thermal spring within 
the Core Protection Area. The laying of cables and excavation for shallow foundations can therefore 
be considered as risks to groundwater quality.  

5.1.9 When undertaking shallow excavations a precautionary approach is required. Ideally, such activities 
would be avoided within the Core Protection Area (see Figure 3.2). 

5.1.10 However, if such activities are to be completed the Council requests that Applicants follow 
guidance set out in the Code of Practice: Shallow Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal 
Springs (see Appendix B). A similar approach is taken to boreholes (set out above) where a Desk 
Study, Risk Assessment, which must consider Buxton thermal springs as a receptor, and Method 
Statement are prepared before any works undertaken. The Method Statement should include 
coverage of the following technical requirements relating to: 

Page 77



 22  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 Supervision; 

 Materials; 

 Probe holes to determine ground conditions before excavation commences; 

 Excavation Methodology: 

o Method; 

o On-site Plant; 

o Waste Collection and Disposal; 

o Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling. 

5.1.11 The approach that is recommended is to be taken in order to prepare the Desk Study, Risk 
Assessment and Method Statement, including the required technical requirements, is described in 
the Code of Practice: Shallow Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs (see Appendix 
B).  

Excavation of basement extensions or developments including subterranean basements 

5.1.12 Basement developments have the potential to make land become more efficient, especially in areas 
where developable land is limited. However, there is also a perception that such developments can 
impact on the structural integrity of a building(s) and nearby infrastructure and unduly intensify 
development.  

5.1.13 Within the Buxton sub-area, the Council is also concerned about the potential for basements and 
subterranean development to cause harm to groundwater water quality and impact on the thermal 
spring. 

5.1.14 As set out within this SPD, the groundwaters of Buxton are particularly sensitive to ground 
excavations. Therefore, the Council expects applicants to follow the same approach as set out in 
Section 5.2 with regards to excavations to demonstrate that basement development proposals 
comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy S7. This involves appropriate preparation of Desk 
Study, Risk Assessment and Method Statement to inform development proposals. 

Planning Permission 

5.1.15 Refurbishment or conversion of an existing basement may not require planning permission unless 
there are engineering works or other development involved, which would then require planning 
approval.   

5.1.16 It is the Council’s view that while the General Permitted Development Order (2015)15 may allow 
some basement developments without planning permission it is unlikely to apply to basement 
developments in the Buxton sub area where technical engineering solutions are likely to be 
required; as they would for any basement to be constructed with the SPZ, Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Area, Core or Extended Protection Areas. This is because the permitted development 
rights do not apply to engineering works. 

5.1.17 However, as the General Permitted Development Order is updated regularly, it is advised that 
specialist planning advice is taken.  Applicants are also advised that before undertaking any form of 

 
15 Available via: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made  

Page 78

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made


 23  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

basement development or works to existing basements that they consult with the Council utilising 
the pre-application service.16  

5.2 When additional conditions to prevent pollution of water sources 
may be required over and above permitting requirements  

5.2.1 In some circumstances the Council may apply certain conditions when granting planning 
permission to ensure that water quality and resources are not compromised. Such conditions exist 
to mitigate the adverse impacts of a development that may otherwise have been refused planning 
permission.  

5.2.2 It is important to note that NPPF (2021: para 56) states that planning conditions should only be 
imposed where they are ‘necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.’ Applicants should be aware that the 
Council considers the water resources of the Buxton Sub-area to be of significance for both the 
environment and economy of Buxton, as demonstrated by Local Plan policies EQ1 and S7 and the 
further guidance set out in this SPD, and will seek to implement appropriate conditions as 
necessary.  

5.2.3 Template examples of planning conditions that may be applied to development in the Buxton sub-
area can be found in Appendix C. The list provided is not exhaustive and will depend on the 
development proposed.  

5.2.4 Applicants are advised to make use of the Council’s pre-application service as it may be possible to 
discuss potential conditions that may be attached if the development is granted approval. 

5.3 Other regulatory consents that may be required when planning 
consent may not be needed 

5.3.1 Planning consent may not be required in all circumstances (dependent on permitted development 
rights). A range of consents and permits may be required to undertake works outside of the 
planning framework. If pollution is caused by actions or development outside the scope of the 
planning system or building regulations, the Environment Agency has a range of enforcement 
powers for incidents of water pollution17.  

5.3.2 Under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016), a permit is required for most discharges of 
potentially polluting liquids into or onto the ground (i.e. to groundwater) or into surface waters 
(such as rivers or streams). The Environment Agency can provide some free planning advice if the 
proposed development is in a flood zone, close to a main river, on contaminated land or handles 
waste or hazardous substances but also offer an enhanced paid for service.18  

 
16 For further detailed advice and information on Permitted Development Rights please refer to:  
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings There is no charge for pre-application advice 
for householders.  
17 Through the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016, Environmental Damage (Prevention and 
Remediation) (England) Regulations 2015 and Water Resources Act (as amended) 1991. 
18 Environment Agency (2018) The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

Page 79

https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Planning_conditions
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Planning
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Development
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


 24  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5.3.3 Applicants are also advised to consult the good practice guides produced by the Environment 
Agency if the development is intending to use Ground Source Heating and Cooling19 whilst any 
vertical borehole drilling for ground source heat pumps should follow guidance in Section 5.1. 
There is potential for adverse effects on groundwater quality that need to be considered. 

5.3.4 Other regulatory consent or permits that may need to be obtained include: 

 European Protected Species 

o European Protected Species receive full protection under law20. Applicants should apply to 
Natural England and seek advice from an experienced professional ecologist to determine if 
surveys within the development site may be required. Applicants must also address other 
ecological impacts/considerations, such as impacts on other protected species, priority 
habitats or species, where relevant. 

 Flood Defence Consents 

o Such consents exist to ensure that any development does not increase flood risk. Applicants 
should consult with the Environment Agency if the proposed development is within a flood 
risk area. 

 Hazardous Substances Consents 

o Any site which needs to use or store hazardous substances such as chlorine, hydrogen, or 
natural gas, at or above certain thresholds, requires a hazardous substance consent (HSC) 
before it can operate.21  

 Party Walls 

o A wall is a "party wall" if it stands astride the boundary of land belonging to two (or more) 
different owners. Some kinds of work carried out to a property may not be controlled by the 
Building Regulations, but may be work which is covered by the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. This 
is a separate piece of legislation with different requirements to the Building Regulations22.  

 Building Regulation consent 

o Building regulation consent or notification is required for many forms of development under 
the Building Act 1984. To check whether consent or notification is required developers are 
asked to check the Council’s website where further information may be found. 

5.3.5 This list is not exhaustive or necessarily applicable to every development. Developers will need to 
ensure that all applicable consents are in place prior to undertaking any work.   

5.3.6 As well as any regulatory permits or consents that may be required developers or contactors may 
also incur civil liability for any harm to established water ownership rights that may exist and are 
advised to seek insurance cover for any works carried within the extended protection area and/or 
SPZ where a risk of harm to the water source is possible. 

 
19 Environment Agency - Environmental good practice guide for ground source heating and cooling. Available via: 
https://www.gshp.org.uk/pdf/EA_GSHC_Good_Practice_Guide.pdf  
20 The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017. 
21 The list of current hazardous substances can be found via: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/627/schedule/1/made     
22 If applicants are unsure regarding party walls they should consult https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-
1996-guidance.  

Page 80

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/40/contents
https://www.gshp.org.uk/pdf/EA_GSHC_Good_Practice_Guide.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/490/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/627/schedule/1/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance


 25  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5.4 Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)   

5.4.1 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) can support the effective drainage of surface waters but it is 
important that they do not affect groundwater quality or water quality on the River Wye SSSI.  
Technical standards for SuDs can be found within Defra’s Sustainable Drainage Systems: Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 2015)23. These standards 
should be used in conjunction with the NPPF and PPG. The standards reflect the need to reduce 
flood risk from surface water, improve water quality, improve the environment and also ensure that 
the SuDS systems are robust, safe, and affordable. The National Standards set out the requirements 
for the design, construction, operation and maintenance of SuDS in England. 

5.4.2 SuDS need to be designed to remain safe and accessible for the life-time of the developments they 
serve, as well taking into account future amenity and maintenance requirements. Details should be 
provided which demonstrate the future management, funding and maintenance of the entire 
scheme. Where necessary the Council will apply conditions to ensure SuDs are maintained and 
remain safe over the lifetime of the development. 

5.4.3 The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection24 requires a hydrogeological risk 
assessment to be completed for SuDS within SPZ1 to show that pollution of groundwater will not 
occur and that the SuDS will not pose an unacceptable risk to the potable groundwater source.  
Discharges via boreholes or deep infiltration systems which result in a direct discharge to 
groundwater are to be avoided. Shallow systems should provide attenuation of any pollutants 
before they reach the groundwater. The Council will require evidence of the risk assessment has 
been undertaken when applying for permission for SuDs within SPZ1.  

5.5 Septic tanks 

5.5.1 As required by Local Plan policies and the NPPF, new development proposals must demonstrate 
that there is no adverse impact on water quality. The Council is concerned septic tanks could affect 
the groundwater quality in the Buxton sub-area and may impact upon the condition of the Peak 
District Dales SAC. 

5.5.2 Foul drainage from new developments should be connected to the public sewer. Only where all 
other options have been exhausted and connection to the public sewer is not possible should 
alternative non-mains drainage solutions be considered.  

5.5.3 Septic tanks should only be considered by developers if it can be clearly demonstrated by the 
applicant that discharging into a public sewer to be treated at a public sewage treatment works or 
a package sewage treatment plant is not feasible (taking into account cost and/or practicability).25 
The associated shallow infiltration systems should be designed to provide appropriate attenuation 
of any pollutants before they reach groundwater. 

 
23 Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-
drainage-technical-standards.pdf  
24 Environment Agency (2018) The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf 
25 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 34-020-20140306. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality  

Page 81

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality


 26  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5.5.4 The Environment Agency’s General Binding Rules for Small Sewage Discharges26 prevent the use of 
septic tanks within 50 m of a SAC, within 30 m of a public foul sewer or within Groundwater SPZ1.  
The practical effect of these restrictions is that septic tanks within the Buxton sub-area will require 
permitting under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016).   

5.5.5 The Council advises that applicants should begin pre-permitting discussions or submit an 
application for a permit at the earliest opportunity with the Environment Agency as part of their 
pre-application enquiries. 

5.6 Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels 

5.6.1 Section D of the Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection (2018)27 sets out a 
position statement relevant to potentially polluting activities related to fuel and hazardous 
substances storage to prevent such substances being released into groundwaters. Applicants 
proposing developments in the Buxton area incorporating above ground storage of chemicals, 
fuels or bulk liquids, or will require such storage through construction or demolition, should ensure 
that the Environment Agency’s position statement is taken into account, the risks assessed and a 
scheme is in place for construction. 

5.6.2 In addition, any domestic, commercial and industrial development that may involve above ground 
fuel storage must ensure compliance with The Control of Pollution (Oil Storage) England 
Regulations (2001).  

 

 

 
26 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) (2015) Reform of the regulatory system to control small 
sewage discharges from septic tanks and small sewage treatment plants in England. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397173/ssd-general-
binding-rules.pdf 
27 Environment Agency (2018) Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

Page 82

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397173/ssd-general-binding-rules.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397173/ssd-general-binding-rules.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


 27  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

6. Water efficiency in Buxton 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 Local Plan Policy EQ 1 supports high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and 
minimise water consumption in all new development across High Peak. Policies EQ1 and S7 
specifically support the implementation of water efficiency measures in new residential 
development within the Buxton Sub-area. The policies state that new residential development 
should achieve water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. This is the more stringent ‘optional’ 
technical Building Regulations standard for water efficiency in recognition of the sensitivities of the 
water environment in Buxton.  

6.1.2 Policy EQ 1 also seeks the achievement of good BREEAM standards in non-residential development 
over 1,000m2 unless it can be demonstrated that it is not technical feasibility or financially viable 
(BREEAM incorporates measures of water efficiency in non-residential development as one of a 
range of sustainable design factors).  

6.2 Water efficiency in residential development  

6.2.1 The policy requirement for higher standards of water efficiency aims to reduce the phosphate load 
on the River Wye to meet targets established through the WFD and Habitats Directive to meet the 
protected areas objectives in the Humber River Basin Management Plan (2015);28 and support the 
achievement of greater sustainability of water resources (in line with climate change elements of 
the rest of the policy). The Council therefore expects that new residential development complies 
with the policy requirement. 

6.2.2 The achievement of 110 litres per person per day in residential development would achieve around 
a 20% reduction in the amount of water discharged to wastewater treatment works compared to 
the average water efficiency of around 143 litres per person per day29. The reduced flow of 
wastewater also reduces the flow of water through sewerage piping and connections which can 
support the efficiency of the system and reduce the number of leaks. 

6.2.3 A reduction in water usage does not lead to a directly equivalent reduction in phosphate load in 
rivers. The achievement of improved water efficiency would reduce the stress on the sewerage 
system, indirectly contributing to phosphate reduction in the River Wye and thereby reducing 
negative impacts on the ecological status of the Peak District Dales SAC. 

6.3 How new homes in Buxton can achieve a water efficiency of 
110 litres per person per day  

6.3.1 The incorporation of water efficient appliances supports positive behaviours for occupiers. There 
are a range of water efficient appliances that should be considered when designing new residential 
development. These include:  

 
28 Environment Agency (2015) Humber River Basin Management Plan. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan  
29 Discover Water (2019) Data for England and Wales Apr 2018–March 2019. Available via: 
https://discoverwater.co.uk/amount-we-use  

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan
https://discoverwater.co.uk/amount-we-use


 28  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 Water efficient shower heads which use technology that can produce water flows that feel far 
higher than they are; 

 Reduced-capacity baths can support behaviour that reduces the amount of water used for 
baths; 

 Lower flow taps; 

 Low flush and dual flush toilets; 

 Water efficient dishwashers and washing machines. The installation of water efficient 
appliances supports the use of less water and less produced as wastewater. The Waterwise 
Marque provide recommendations on appliances that are water efficient. 

6.3.2 Developers should investigate the integration of these appliances. Further guidance on can be 
found from including Waterwise (www.waterwise.org.uk) and the Energy Saving Trust 
(www.energysavingtrust.org.uk). Additionally, developers should explore the Good Practice 
guidance provided by the Association for Environment Conscious Building (AECB) (www.aecb.net).   

6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption 

Water-sensitive design in new homes 

6.4.1 Strategies that should be considered to ensure new homes are able to meet the required water 
efficiency targets include: 

 Water-sensitive kitchens and bathrooms go beyond efficiency to consider the material contents 
of these rooms and how they are used.  In a water-sensitive bathroom, the shower might be 
replaced by a splash wash or a tilting bathtub, and the toilet fitted with a sink-to-
cistern connection or an air-flushing unit. 

 Water-sensitive gardens are outlined within the RHS’s Gardening for a Changing Climate 
(2017)30. Garden design can help ensure that water usage is kept to a minimum and lessens the 
need for the use of hosepipes by ensuring the gardens are suitably designed to ensure 
maximum water retention. 

6.4.2 It is expected that developers will signpost guidance for occupiers to encourage more efficient use 
of water.  

Rainwater Harvesting 

6.4.3 Rainwater harvesting is the re-use of water collected from roofs via traditional guttering, through 
down pipes to an underground tank(s) which would be possible in many areas in Buxton. There are 
a variety of systems that can be employed to harvest rainwater but typically the harvested water is 
delivered on demand by an in-tank submersible pump directly to toilets, washing machines and 
outside taps.  

6.4.4 Developers need to consider the possibilities of re-using and recycling surface water in as many 
ways as feasible. The safe implementation of water recycling can help to reduce the amount of 
phosphate and nutrients to surface waters, as well as conserving potable, drinking water, thereby 
providing economic and social benefits to communities (through reduced water bills) and 
supporting sustainable ways of living.  

 
30 Available from: https://www.rhs.org.uk/science/gardening-in-a-changing-world/climate-change  

Page 84

http://www.waterwise.org.uk/
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/
http://www.aecb.net/
https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Practice-Theory-and-Human-Centered-Design%3A-A-Kuijer-Jong/92673cee349cc71d280c62713dc466afe567770a/figure/7
https://www.yankodesign.com/2013/03/22/water-saving-body-wash/
https://www.victorianplumbing.co.uk/iconic-combined-two-in-one-wash-basin-toilet?campaign=googlebase&gclid=CjwKCAjwusrtBRBmEiwAGBPgE1U5pLkcFVKpbuq-sYQhu_FnhdBkFtf3UJeNfW17DTA72tPTtJsWDBoCZrsQAvD_BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds
https://www.victorianplumbing.co.uk/iconic-combined-two-in-one-wash-basin-toilet?campaign=googlebase&gclid=CjwKCAjwusrtBRBmEiwAGBPgE1U5pLkcFVKpbuq-sYQhu_FnhdBkFtf3UJeNfW17DTA72tPTtJsWDBoCZrsQAvD_BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds
https://propelair.com/
https://www.rhs.org.uk/shows-events/rhs-chatsworth-flower-show/News/2017/Climate-change-garden
https://www.rhs.org.uk/science/gardening-in-a-changing-world/climate-change


 29  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

6.4.5 The Environment Agency has provided guidance on the regulatory position regarding rainwater 
harvesting which should be consulted before any systems are employed.31 Typically, residential 
systems will not require a licence from Environment Agency. Applicants seeking to install non-
residential systems should consult the Environment Agency.  

Water Recycling 

6.4.6 Greywater is typically defined as being wastewater from baths, showers, washing machines and 
sinks. It is estimated that this accounts for between 50% and 80% of a household’s wastewater (as 
opposed to ‘potable water’ which enters the house and is safe to drink).  

6.4.7 Greywater can be used for flushing toilets, watering plants and washing clothes. The re-use of 
greywater can support a reduction in the amount of waste water leaving the house, and therefore 
the amount of water required and the amount of water requiring treatment at wastewater 
treatment works (WwTW), supporting a reduction in phosphate load.  

6.4.8 Methods for greywater recycling include direct use, biological systems and mechanical filters. 
Typically, greywater reuse is more expensive than rainwater harvesting and requires that safeguards 
are in place to avoid pollutants entering surface waters. 

6.4.9 Developers should  explore opportunities to integrate water recycling into the design of new 
residential and non-residential development. 

6.4.10 Rainwater harvesting and water recycling may fall under the Private Water Supply Regulations 2016 
and 2018 (Amendment) Regulations and appropriately qualified persons should be consulted 
regarding the implications. 

6.5 How the water efficiency standard for residential development 
will be applied by the Council in Buxton 

6.5.1 Local Plan Policy EQ 1 states that new residential development in Buxton sub-area should meet the 
water efficiency standard of 110 litres per person per day.  

Viability  

6.5.2 The implementation of water efficiency measures should not in most cases have an undue effect on 
the cost of development. Defra’s Water Conservation Report (2018)32 states that “In many cases 
efficiency can be achieved at little cost to developers. Requiring all developers to build to the lower 
standard of 110 litres per person per day would only cost a maximum of £9 additional per dwelling” 
(pg.3). 

6.5.3 To demonstrate compliance with Policy EQ1, developers will be expected to clearly explain what 
measures they are going to implement and justify that the development is not viable if water 
efficiency measures are not proposed to be implemented. Given the ability of developers to 
integrate such measures at the earliest stages of design and specification, the Council considers 
that most residential development will be able to implement the water efficiency measures required 
to meet or exceed the target of 110 litres per person per day.  

 
31  Environment Agency (2019) Rainwater harvesting: regulatory position statement. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement/rainwater-harvesting-
regulatory-position-statement  
32 Defra (2018) Water conservation report: action taken and planned by government to encourage the conservation of 
water. Available via:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-conservation-report-2018  

Page 85

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-conservation-report-2018


 30  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

Application of the water efficiency standards  

6.5.4 The Council will apply a planning condition(s) to all consented applications for new residential 
development in Buxton to ensure that the development implements the water efficiency measures 
required in the Local Plan. Each planning permission will include a condition that will reference the 
requirement to meet regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G2 of the Building Regulations 2015 (as amended). 
In line with Policies EQ 1 and S7 this applies to new residential development in the Buxton Sub-area 
where higher standards of efficiency are sought through the Local Plan. See template conditions 
provided in Appendix C. 

6.5.5 Approved Document G (2015 edition) sets out the regulatory requirements and guidance on 
achieving this option within the Regulations.  Appendix A of Approved Document G provides a 
Water Efficiency Calculator which aids achievement of these standards33. This water efficiency 
calculator should be used to inform design of new residential development. 

6.5.6 The Council encourages all developers to seek the highest levels of water efficiency in new 
residential development and is willing to work with applicants who seek to voluntarily deliver 
greater efficiency than required by Policies EQ1 and S7. 

6.6 How high standards of water efficiency and measures to recycle 
and minimise water consumption in non-residential development 
will be sought by the Council 

6.6.1 Policy EQ 1 supports the integration of high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and 
minimise water consumption in all development. Policy S7 reaffirms that this applies within the 
Buxton sub-area. The Council encourages applicants for all non-residential development to explore 
water efficiency measures that could be incorporated at the earliest stages of design. The use of 
water efficient fittings and fixtures and appliances; water monitoring; water leak detection; 
rainwater harvesting and greywater recycling should be thoroughly explored.  

BREEAM standards and water efficiency for non-residential developments 

6.6.2 Under EQ 1 the Council requires BREEAM ‘good’ standard as a minimum for non-residential 
buildings over 1,000m2 subject to technical feasibility and financial viability. BREEAM incorporates 
water efficiency as one of the measurements for achieving the overall standard. At the application 
stage applicants should provide the design stage BREEAM assessment as part of the Design and 
Access Statement and demonstrate why the approach to water efficiency has been chosen. 
Alternatively, applicants are encouraged to set out clear justification for not achieving at least a 
‘good’ standard. 

6.6.3 The Council will apply a condition to new non-residential development over 1,000m2 to meet the 
BREEAM ‘good’ standard as a minimum for water usage (unless it has been demonstrated that the 
requirement is not technically feasible or financially viable). See template conditions provided in 
Appendix C. 

6.6.4 The Council encourages all applicants to explore BREEAM (and its water efficiency standards) for 
new non-residential developments under 1,000m2. 

 
33 The Water Efficiency Calculator is available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_
G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf    

Page 86

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf


 31  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

Please note that the weblinks to other guidance and resources provided in the SPD are correct at the time of 
publication. However, the Council recognises that weblinks may change over time. Please contact the Council 
should you struggle to find a resource that has been identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 A  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix A Code of Practice - Drilling of 
Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal 
Springs 

Page 88



 B  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix B Code of Practice – Excavations in 
the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 89



   C1  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix C  
Template planning conditions related to water 
issues 

Water efficiency and supply 

The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall incorporate water efficiency measures to achieve usage of no more 
than 110 litres of water per person per day under regulation 36 2(b) set out in part G2 of the 2015 Building 
Regulations. No occupation of [any of] the dwelling[s] shall take place until a Building Regulations 
assessment confirms that the development has been constructed in accordance with regulation 36 2(b) of 
part G2 of the Building Regulations for water efficiency and has been submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

No development shall commence on site until details of the works for the provision of water for domestic use 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first 
occupied until the approved water supply details have been fully implemented in accordance with the 
approved plans. Should water for domestic use be provided by a private water supply (i.e. not provided by a 
statutory water undertaker) no dwelling shall be first occupied until a risk assessment of the supply has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA, to determine its suitability and sufficiency. 

No development unless a method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning 
Authority, detailing all mitigation measures to be delivered to secure the quality, quantity and continuity of 
water supplies to properties which are served by private water supplies at the date of this consent and which 
may be affected by the Development. The method statement shall include water quality sampling methods 
and shall specify abstraction points. The approved method statement shall thereafter be implemented in full.  
 
No occupation of [any of] the development shall take place until an accredited Post Construction stage 
BREEAM assessment which confirms that the development has been constructed in accordance with the 
BREEAM score for water usage required in the planning permission has been submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. 
 
SuDS 

No works on site shall commence until a detailed drainage scheme (to include the disposal of surface water 
by means of sustainable methods of urban drainage systems) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be implemented in accordance with such 
approved details. 

No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a sustainable drainage scheme for foul and surface 
water drainage from the site has been completed in accordance with the approved details. The sustainable 
drainage scheme shall be retained, managed and maintained for the lifetime of the development in 
accordance with a management and maintenance plan submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

The development shall not begin until details of a scheme for separate foul and surface water drainage, 
including any balancing works or off-site works, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Surface water must first be investigated for potential disposal through use of sustainable 
drainage techniques and the developer must submit to the Local Planning Authority a report detailing the 

Page 90



   C2  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

results of such an investigation together with the design for disposal of surface water using such techniques 
or proof that they would be impractical. The scheme would also be required to demonstrate that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The scheme so approved shall thereafter be implemented in 
full before the first occupation of the development. 

Prior to the commencement of development details of surface water drainage works shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Before these details are submitted an assessment 
shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system 
and the results of the assessment provided to the Local Planning Authority. Where a sustainable drainage 
scheme is to be provided the submitted details shall: 

i) provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method employed to delay 
and control the surface water discharged from the site and the measures taken to prevent 
pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters; 

ii) include a timetable for its implementation; and 

iii) provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall 
include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved the surface water drainage works shall be carried 
out and the sustainable urban drainage system shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance 
with the agreed management and maintenance plan 
 

No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the express written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approval details. 

Basements and excavations 

Excavation must take place in accordance with the approved desk study, risk assessment and method 
statement for excavation (doc refs) prepared in line with the Council’s Code of Practice: Excavations in the 
Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs. The excavation works shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved method statement.  

If piling is necessary, a written method statement shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. This 
method statement should be in line with the following:  

• Environment Agency guidance (Environment Agency (2001), Piling and Penetrative Ground 
Improvements on Land Affected by Land Contamination NC/99/73.  

• HPBC Code of Practice: Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

• HPBC Code of Practice Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

The effects of noise generation (hours of operation) should also be considered and should include noise 
mitigation measures consistent with best practical means. No piling shall take place until the method 
statement has been approved. 

No development shall take place before detailed drawings of all existing and proposed underground works, 
including foundations, drainage and those of statutory undertakers, have been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the location, extent and depth of all 
excavations and these works shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the details as approved. 

Page 91



   C3  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
1995 (or any Order revising, revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be 
no enlargement or extension of the dwelling(s) hereby permitted, including basement development, without 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

Fuel/Chemical Storage 

No development shall take place before a scheme for the construction of storage facilities for oils, fuels or 
chemicals has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and be thereafter maintained. 

 

Sewage 

None of the [dwellings/buildings] hereby approved shall be occupied until works for the disposal of 
sewerage have been provided on the site to serve the development hereby permitted, in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 

Page 92



 D  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix D  
Location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation 
This plan shows the location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and other 
designated nature conservation sites in the Buxton and wider area. The plan is correct at the time of 
adoption of the SPD but is subject to change. Applicants should use the latest mapping data from Natural 
England where necessary.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

 

 

Page 94



 1 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

 

Code of Practice   
Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal 
Springs 

 

 

1. General 

1.1 Scope 

This Code of Practice provides a source of advice on how to protect Buxton Thermal Springs from the effects 

of drilling activities that might affect the quality or flow of groundwater emerging from the springs.  It should 

be used whenever drilling activities are contemplated in either the Core Protection Area or the Extended 

Protection Area shown on Figure 1.  This restriction applies to any borehole drilled to a depth greater than 

600 mm at any diameter, using any technique and drilled for any purpose whatsoever including but not 

limited to site investigation, investigating structures or for water supply. 

A separate Code of Practice is available from High Peak Borough Council that describes the recommended 

approach for shallow excavations within the Core Protection Area.  Shallow excavations have the potential to 

influence Buxton Thermal Springs most significantly when in close proximity.  Therefore, the Code of 

Practice for shallow excavations applies only to the Core Protection Area. 

1.2 Background 

Thermal springs are rare in Britain. The Buxton Thermal Springs have been used since Roman times and 

have a long history of use as a mineral water and spa.  They consist of a series of springs that discharge at 

temperatures up to 27.5 degrees Celsius through Carboniferous Limestone in the vicinity of The Crescent in 

Buxton.  The location of the springs suggests that the thermal water is capped beneath Namurian strata 

(shales and sandstones, “Millstone Grit”) that exist to the north of The Crescent, with the thermal water 

emerging at the ground surface at the feather edge of the Namurian strata.  The thermal water is unpolluted 

and has unique chemical properties that distinguish it from the non-thermal groundwater.  The thermal 

springs are understood to originate from the percolation of rainfall into a network of micro-fractures in the 

Carboniferous Limestone to reach a depth greater than 900 m.  The heated water then returns to the 

surface, probably following faults in the limestone strata.   

The thermal water is bottled as Buxton Water, which is one of the best known Natural Mineral Water brands 

in UK.  The Crescent buildings have been regenerated as a Spa Hotel, which also uses the thermal water, in 

this case for bathing and spa treatments.   

Although the thermal water has a greater hydraulic head than the cold groundwater system, there is a 

delicate balance between the cold and thermal groundwater systems and the precise route of the waters 

though the limestone is not entirely known. There is therefore a need to avoid disturbing established flow 

pathways within the limestone in and around the Crescent.  Excavations, borehole drilling and piling have the 

potential to disturb groundwater flow pathways.  The construction works associated with creating an 

excavation or borehole also have the potential to cause contamination of the groundwater, reducing 

groundwater quality and affecting their unique chemical characteristics.   

  

Page 95



 2 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

1.3 Who the code is aimed at? 

This Code of Practice is aimed at landowners and occupiers, drillers, and supervising personnel who are 

considering conducting drilling activities within The Core Protection Area or the Extended Protection Area 

shown on Figure 1.  There is a risk that such activities within the areas identified may affect Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

1.4 How were the protection areas defined?  

The protections area were defined by considering the pathways for thermal groundwater emerging at Buxton 

Thermal Springs and the hydrogeological factors that affect the vulnerability of those pathways.   

The Extended Protection Area is defined by being within 500 m of known thermal groundwater associated 

with Buxton Thermal Springs and where the Namurian strata are estimated to be less than 100 m thick.  The 

northern and eastern limit of the Extended Protection Area follows the boundary of the Environment 

Agency’s Confined Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1c) for Buxton Thermal Springs.   

The Core Protection Area corresponds to the area where the Namurian strata are expected to be less than 

50 m thick, the ground level is below 300 m AOD and the location is within 250 m of known thermal 

groundwater associated with Buxton Thermal Springs.  The northern limit of the Core Protection Area follows 

the boundary of the Environment Agency’s Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

1.5 Further Information 

This document should be read in conjunction with other codes of practice, health and safety guides and 

British Standards in relation to excavations, drilling, installation and decommissioning of these schemes.  

These include the BS 5930:2015 (Code of practice for ground investigations). 

High Peak Borough Council’s Code of Practice Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

provides information, guidance and a list of requirements for managing potential effects from shallow 

excavations on Buxton Thermal Springs.   

The Core and Extended Protection Areas are wholly within the Inner Groundwater Source Protection Zone 

(SPZ1) for Buxton Thermal Springs.  The Environment Agency uses Source Protection Zones as an initial 

screening tool to identify areas in which some activities or developments have the potential to adversely 

affect groundwater intended for human consumption.  Environment Agency position statements relevant to 

potentially polluting activities and development within SPZ1 can be found in The Environment Agency’s 

approach to groundwater protection1.  Source Protection Zones are not statutory designations and the 

Environment Agency may not be required to permit the excavation works being proposed.  However, the 

Environment Agency’s position statements provide an indication of activities that pose a risk to groundwater 

and means of mitigating those risks.   

2. Fundamental Requirements 

2.1 General 

When drilling boreholes in sensitive areas, such as near to Buxton Thermal Springs, a precautionary 

approach is required.  Ideally, borehole drilling activities would be avoided altogether within the Core 

Protection Area and minimised within The Extended Protection Area.  However, if borehole drilling activities 

are to be completed in either Area, a risk assessment and method statement describing the approach to 

be taken should be prepared and discussed with High Peak Borough Council, as the owners and abstraction 

licensees of the Buxton Thermal Springs, and also appropriate regulators.  The recommended approach to 

preparing the risk assessment and method statement is described below. 

 
1 February 2018 Version 1.2 

Page 96



 3 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

No intrusive works should be completed until High Peak Borough Council has received a copy of the 

programme or works, including proposed starting date, and has approved the risk assessment and 

method statement provided.   

In case of emergency: telephone the Council on 01298 28400 

2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater 

Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) it is a criminal 

offence to “cause or knowingly permit” groundwater to become polluted.  Penalties include fines, 

imprisonment or both.  

If drilling for water abstraction purposes, a water abstraction licence is required from the Environment 

Agency where abstraction rates exceed 20 m3/day.  Registration with the local authority is required for any 

water abstraction used for private water supply under The Private Water Supplies (England) Regulations 

2016 and The Private Water Supplies (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018, whether licensed or not.   

As well as legal requirements not to pollute groundwaters, civil liability may also follow where mineral waters 

are adversely affected by the activities of a third party which could be substantial, particularly if guidance set 

out in this Code of Practice is not followed.  Developers should seek their own advice in this regard and take 

out appropriate insurance for works they may wish to carry out in advance. 

2.3 Desk Study and Risk Assessment 

The following steps should be carried out as a minimum: 

1. Desk study to collate and understand background information. 

2. Risk assessment to understand the risks to the Buxton Thermal Springs from the proposed activities. 

3. Method statement that demonstrates that the activities can be conducted safely without detriment to 

the Buxton Thermal Springs, including appropriate actions if thermal groundwater is encountered. 

4. Identify any requirements for regulatory consents, permits or notifications and requirements for 

notifications to/discussion with local stakeholders. 

The desk study, risk assessment and method statement must be completed or directly supervised by 

someone qualified in hydrogeology or geoenvironmental engineering and having experience of completing 

hydrogeological desk studies and groundwater risk assessments.   

A desk study review is intended to identify the sensitivity of the proposed drilling location.  It should consider 

the local geology/hydrogeology/hydrology conditions, particularly the depth to Carboniferous Limestone, 

proximity to known or expected thermal water, potential land contamination issues, proximity to water 

features such as River Wye, septic tanks, services etc.  The desk study review should also be used as the 

basis of preliminary discussions with stakeholders and other interested parties including regulators, 

conservation bodies, drillers and landowners.   

The risk assessment should include consideration of: 

 The likelihood of encountering thermal water 

 The likelihood of introducing near surface contamination into the Carboniferous Limestone 

aquifer 

 The likelihood of contaminating the Carboniferous Limestone by the drilling process, either by 

causing turbidity or by accidental contamination from the drilling equipment 

 The likelihood that the groundwater system will be disturbed and affect the balance between the 

thermal and cold groundwater systems 

For all risks identified, the method statement should identify appropriate good practice for the activity and 

appropriate mitigation measures reduce residual risks to Buxton Thermal Springs during and following the 

Page 97



 4 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

works to acceptable levels.  The method statement must show that the drilling method selected provides 

adequate mitigation for those risks and that there is sufficient monitoring to confirm the efficacy of the 

measures identified.   

If the drilling could result in contamination or disturbance of the groundwater regime and affect water quality 

in the Buxton thermal springs, the drilling method, borehole design and, if required, monitoring should 

provide adequate mitigation.   

There is a particular danger that any drilling fluid used could easily enter the limestone and cause particles 

that have been deposited within the fracture system to be lifted into suspension thereby causing the thermal 

water to be contaminated.  Such contamination could be carried into the bottling equipment or the treatment 

systems used in the Spa hotel. 

If the proposed drilling location has the potential to be contaminated there is a risk that the borehole could 

lead to pollution of groundwater and migration of contaminants to Buxton Thermal Springs.  Where possible, 

drilling through potentially contaminated materials within the Core or Extended Protection Areas should be 

avoided.  Where this is not possible, it is expected that work on potentially contaminated sites will follow the 

Environment Agency’s guide on managing risk from land contamination2.  The process set out in this guide 

includes a risk assessment, which must consider Buxton Thermal Springs as one of the receptors.  

Construction works are also likely to be preceded by investigatory work conducted according to BS 

10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites – Code of practice.  At potentially 

contaminated sites, separate method statements should be prepared for investigatory works (excavations 

and drilling) as well as for subsequent construction.  

3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement 

3.1 Supervision 

The drilling works should be supervised at all times by an experienced drilling supervisor/foreman who 

should hold a Blue Lead Driller Audit Card issued by the British Drilling Association.  In addition, all intrusive 

work should be under the overall supervision of a qualified hydrogeologist. 

3.2 Materials 

Prior to any drilling, a supply of bentonite pellets and bentonite powder sufficient to seal any incursions of 

thermal groundwater (15 degrees Celsius or greater) into the borehole should be provided on site.  The 

supply must be sufficient to seal the borehole and should be calculated in advance and presented in the 

method statement.   

3.3 Inspection Pits 

Inspection pits are commonly dug at a proposed borehole location after scanning with a Cable Avoidance 

Tool and signal generator to confirm the absence of buried services before starting mechanical drilling.  Such 

pits are usually hand dug or dug using vacuum extraction to a depth of around 1.2 m below ground surface.   

Guidance and requirements provided in the parallel Code of Practice Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton 

Thermal Springs should be consulted when preparing the part of the method statement concerned with 

digging inspection pits.  Specific actions may be required during the digging of inspection pits in the Core 

Protection Area.  Additional requirements for all inspection pits are as follows: 

 Excavated material shall be stored on thick polythene sheeting at the surface and replaced in 

the reverse order to that excavated.   

 No inspection pits are to be left open overnight.   

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm  

Page 98

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


 5 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

 Should visual or olfactory evidence of contamination be identified in the inspection pit, the 

borehole should be relocated unless the method statement specifically includes measures for 

protecting groundwater from surface contamination during drilling.   

 Groundwater encountered during the excavation of inspection pits should not be allowed to 

enter natural water bodies or drains or to flow onto unprotected ground and cause seepage to 

the water table.  Groundwater shall not be allowed to spill outside the working area.  Where 

contaminated groundwater is encountered, disposal of waste water off-site will be required 

(Section 3.6).   

 In the unlikely event that groundwater encountered in the inspection pit has a temperature 

exceeding 15 degrees Celsius or rises to ground surface and overflows continually (flowing 

artesian conditions), the inspection pit must be sealed immediately using bentonite cement 

grout.  No borehole drilling should occur at this location.  High Peak Borough Council should be 

informed.   

3.4 Drilling Methodology 

Drilling Method 

The drilling method selected by the developer should be suitable for the intended purpose of the boreholes, 

whilst minimising the risk to Buxton Thermal Springs.  The risk assessment and method statement should 

describe how the risks associated with the selected method will be mitigated and explain how the selected 

method minimises risks in comparison to other suitable methods that could be employed safely at the site.   

If ground contamination is identified as a hazard to Buxton Thermal Springs, the method statement for the 

drilling works should ensure that the risk is minimised.  For example, it may be possible to mitigate the risk 

that contaminants migrate into the limestone aquifer from the surface using telescoping drilling methods. 

Groundwater and arisings should not be allowed to enter natural water bodies or drains or to seep onto 

unprotected ground and cause seepage to the water table.  Groundwater should not be allowed to spill 

outside the working area.   

A sealed lockable cover should be used to prevent the ingress of surface water and to protect the top of the 

borehole tubing.  The driller should not leave any boreholes open overnight – a temporary cap must be 

installed to prevent ingress of surface water, escape of groundwater (if groundwater naturally rises to ground 

surface in the borehole and overflows) and to secure the site.   

Groundwater Temperature and Flowing Artesian Conditions 

If groundwater is encountered in the borehole, the temperature of the water must be measured and recorded 

at regular intervals during drilling.  High Peak Borough Council should be notified immediately of any 

occurrence of groundwater at or exceeding 15 degrees Celsius. Drilling should be stopped and the borehole 

temporarily capped.  

If groundwater is encountered during drilling and that water subsequently rises to ground surface, resulting in 

an overflowing of water from the borehole (flowing artesian conditions) High Peak Borough Council should 

be notified immediately.  Drilling should be stopped and the overflow of water should be contained as soon 

as practicable by temporarily capping the borehole or otherwise preventing overflow (using bentonite for 

example).   

Monitoring records should be made available to High Peak Borough Council for inspection at the time of 

notification. 

In either case, the borehole could present an immediate risk to the Buxton Thermal Springs and urgent 

action is likely to be required.  The organisation responsible for drilling must present a course of action to 

High Peak Borough Council based upon information provided in the risk assessment and method statement 

for the works.  If High Peak Borough Council is not assured that the work can continue without posing risk to 

Buxton Thermal Springs, the borehole is to be sealed and backfilled.   

Page 99



 6 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

If the works includes boreholes to monitor the occurrence of thermal water, the design for these boreholes 

and the drilling procedure to be used must be set out clearly in the method statement.   

Drilling Equipment  

The equipment used in the construction of boreholes shall not introduce contamination and must be cleaned 

before arrival at the work site (see Cleaning Equipment below).  The rig and all supporting equipment such 

as generators and compressors shall be checked and confirmed free of oil or fuel leakage before the work at 

the site starts.  The method statement should detail the measures to be taken to avoid contamination of the 

aquifer by the drilling process.  Recommended minimum measures include: 

 The drilling rig, compressor and other equipment shall be supplied with drip trays and adsorbent 

matting to prevent loss of fuel or lubricant to the ground; 

 Air compressors (if used) shall be oil-free / have oil scrubbers installed  

 Oil lubricant provided to the drill shall be of a biodegradable vegetable composition designed for 

the purpose of drill lubrication; 

 Downhole equipment shall be lubricated using the minimum amount of biodegradable oil 

required.  

Drilling Fluid 

Drilling methods that do not introduce drilling fluid are preferred over those requiring pressurised or pumped 

fluids that could introduce contamination.  However, it is recognised that fluids will be necessary and 

justifiable for some types of drilling.  In those cases, the only drilling fluids acceptable for use are potable 

water or air.  No drilling fluid additives or muds (including bentonite) should be used during drilling.  Minimum 

bit pressure should be applied to achieve circulation.  No oils, greases or similar type lubricants should be 

used on boring or drilling tools unless of a biodegradable vegetable composition.   

Borehole Casing and Backfill material  

If casing is used, casing sections should be joined without the use of adhesive.  No oil, grease or other 

lubricant should be used when joining sections of casing.  

Aggregate used for backfilling the annular space around the casing or for filter pack must be washed with 

potable water, clean and free from contamination of any kind.  Materials used to backfill boreholes or to fill 

the annular space must be installed in a sequence that prevents upward or downward flow between different 

groundwater systems.  The uppermost part of all backfilled boreholes must be filled with bentonite cement 

grout to prevent ingress of runoff or contamination from the surface.  Similarly, the uppermost part of the 

annular space in boreholes with casing should be backfilled with bentonite cement grout and the headworks 

profiled to prevent ingress of liquids into the ground around the casing.   

Measures to ensure that bentonite cement grout does not contaminate the groundwater system during 

backfilling must be identified in the method statements.   

Water used to prepare grout should be of potable quality.   

Cleaning Equipment 

All equipment used in the drilling and construction of boreholes in the Extended Protection Area should be 

cleaned using potable quality water on arrival at site, before leaving site and prior to repositioning the 

equipment to begin the next hole.  Within the Core Protection Area, equipment should be disinfected after 

being cleaned.  Disinfectants used must be safe to use in potable water applications3, for example chlorine, 

hypochlorite or peracetic acid solution.  It should be noted that domestic forms of disinfectant such as 

perfumed sodium hypochlorite or Jeyes Fluid are specifically banned. 

 
3 Water UK, 2017.  Principles of Water Supply Hygiene, final version 1 October 2015 (updated 1 March 2017) 

Page 100



 7 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

Steam cleaning or jet washing is the most suitable technique for removing debris and contaminants and 

should be used at locations where the discharge water will not pose an environmental risk.  The wash-down 

area and method of cleaning should be identified in the method statement.   

Waste Collection and Disposal 

All drilling locations should be protected by plastic sheeting.  The method statement should describe the 

practical methods of containment of arisings and water at borehole and trial pit locations to protect 

groundwater, surface water courses and ground conditions in the event contamination is encountered. 

The method statement should describe how materials from the excavation will be collected, assessed for 

potentially contaminated material (if relevant) and disposed of in an appropriate manner. 

Where there is risk of encountering contaminated materials, arisings are to be collected in suitable 

containers and transferred to an appropriately licensed waste disposal facility.  Containers used for 

containment of waste arisings must be covered and in sound condition. 

Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling 

All refuelling of plant shall incorporate methods to prevent spillage to ground or groundwater.  Off-site re-

fuelling and storage of petroleum products and other hazardous materials is recommended.  If on-site 

refuelling is required it shall be undertaken on areas of hardstanding or over an impermeable surface, using 

a hand pump or similar method that minimises the risk of spillages.  All fuel containers shall be of suitable 

material and labelled.  All fuels stored on site must be in a lockable facility or container that is bunded to at 

least 110% of stored fuel capacity. 

 

Page 101



405000 405500 406000 406500

37
25

00
37

30
00

37
35

00
37

40
00

0 100 200 300 m1:6,000

December 2020

Code of Practice: Excavations in the Vicinity of
Buxton Thermal Springs

Figure 1.1

December 2020

Key
\\b

sl-
fs1

.gl
ob

al.
am

ec
.co

m\
sh

are
d\

Pro
jec

ts\
41

89
6 B

ux
ton

 H
yd

rog
eo

log
ica

l A
dv

ice
\D

 D
esi

gn
 Te

ch
nic

al\
Dr

aw
ing

s\4
18

96
-b

ri0
2_i

4.m
xd

   O
rig

ina
tor

: st
efa

n.b
ram

er

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.
Scale at A3:

 41896-bri02_i4

Surface Water/ River Network

Core Protection Area (applies
to shallow excavations and
borehole drilling)
Extended Protection Area
(applies to borehole drilling
only)

P
age 102



 1 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

 

Code of Practice   
Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

 

 

1. General 

1.1 Scope 

This Code of Practice provides a source of advice on how to protect Buxton Thermal Springs from the effects 

of excavations (defined as any excavation greater than 600 mm below ground level) that might (or might 

conceivably) damage, contaminate, pollute, disrupt, interrupt or otherwise interfere with the thermal spring.  It 

should be used whenever excavations are planned within the Core Protection Area shown on Figure 1.   

The Code of Practice is provided for intrusive works that may be termed shallow excavations: for example 

trenching for laying cables or excavations for shallow foundations.  More substantial excavations in the 

vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs are likely to have greater impact on ground conditions and will therefore 

require additional measures beyond this Code of Practice to ensure the springs are protected.  Such 

excavations will require planning permission hence the potential risks to Buxton Thermal Springs and 

additional measures required will be assessed as part of that process. 

A separate Code of Practice is available from High Peak Borough Council that describes the recommended 

approach for borehole drilling within the Core Protection Area.  Deep borehole drilling has the potential to 

influence Buxton Thermal Springs from a greater distance than shallow excavations.  Therefore, the Code of 

Practice for borehole drilling applies in both the Core Protection Area and the Extended Protection Area, 

both of which are shown on Figure 1.   

1.2 Background 

Thermal springs are rare in Britain.  The Buxton Thermal Springs have been used since Roman times and 

have a long history of use as a mineral water and spa.  They consist of a series of springs that discharge at 

temperatures up to 27.5 degrees Celsius through Carboniferous Limestone in the vicinity of The Crescent in 

Buxton.  The location of the springs suggests that the thermal water is capped beneath Namurian strata 

(shales and sandstones, “Millstone Grit”) that exist to the north of The Crescent, with the thermal water 

emerging at the ground surface at the feather edge of the Namurian strata.  The thermal water is unpolluted 

and has unique chemical properties that distinguish it from the non-thermal groundwater.  The thermal 

springs are understood to originate from the percolation of rainfall into a network of micro-fractures in the 

Carboniferous Limestone to reach a depth greater than 900 m.  The heated water then returns to the 

surface, probably following faults in the limestone strata.   

The thermal water is bottled as Buxton Water, which is one of the best known Natural Mineral Water brands 

in UK.  The Crescent buildings have been regenerated as a Spa Hotel, which also uses the thermal water, in 

this case for bathing and spa treatments.   

Although the thermal water has a greater hydraulic head than the cold groundwater system, there is a 

delicate balance between the cold and thermal groundwater systems and the precise route of the waters 

though the limestone is not entirely known. There is therefore a need to avoid disturbing established flow 

pathways within the limestone in and around the Crescent.  Excavations, borehole drilling and piling have the 

potential to disturb groundwater flow pathways.  The construction works associated with creating an 

excavation or borehole also have the potential to cause contamination of the groundwater, reducing 

groundwater quality and affecting their unique chemical characteristics.   

  

Page 103



 2 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

1.3 Who the code is aimed at? 

This Code of Practice is aimed at utility companies, landowners and occupiers, contractors, and supervising 

personnel who are planning to create shallow excavations within the Core Protection Area as shown on 

Figure 1.  There is a risk that such activities within the Core Protection Area may affect the Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

1.4 How were the protection areas defined?  

The protections area were defined by considering the pathways for thermal groundwater emerging at Buxton 

Thermal Springs and the hydrogeological factors that affect the vulnerability of those pathways.   

The Core Protection Area corresponds to the area where the Namurian strata are expected to be less than 

50 m thick, the ground level is below 300 m AOD and the location is within 250 m of known thermal 

groundwater associated with Buxton Thermal Springs.  The northern limit of the Core Protection Area follows 

the boundary of the Environment Agency’s Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

The Extended Protection Area is defined by being within 500 m of known thermal groundwater associated 

with Buxton Thermal Springs and where the Namurian strata are estimated to be less than 100 m thick.  The 

northern and eastern limit of the Extended Protection Area follows the boundary of the Environment 

Agency’s Confined Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1c) for Buxton Thermal Springs.   

1.5 Further Information 

This document should be read in conjunction with other codes of practice, health and safety guides and 

British Standards in relation to excavations, drilling, installation and decommissioning of these schemes.  

These include the BS 5930:2015 (Code of practice for ground investigations). 

High Peak Borough Council’s Code of Practice Borehole Drilling in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

provides information, guidance and a list of requirements for managing potential effects from drilling 

boreholes on Buxton Thermal Springs.   

The Core Protection Area is wholly within the Inner Groundwater Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton 

Thermal Springs.  The Environment Agency uses Source Protection Zones as an initial screening tool to 

identify areas in which some activities or developments have the potential to adversely affect groundwater 

intended for human consumption.  Environment Agency position statements relevant to potentially polluting 

activities and development within SPZ1 can be found in The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater 

protection1.  Source Protection Zones are not statutory designations and the Environment Agency may not 

be required to permit the excavation works being proposed.  However, the Environment Agency’s position 

statements provide an indication of activities that pose a risk to groundwater and means of mitigating those 

risks.   

2. Fundamental Requirements 

2.1 General 

When constructing shallow excavations in sensitive areas, such as near to Buxton Thermal Springs, a 

precautionary approach is required.  Ideally, such activities would be avoided within the Core Protection 

Area.  However, if such activities are to be completed in the Core Protection Area, a risk assessment and 

method statement describing the approach to be taken should be prepared and discussed with High Peak 

Borough Council, as the owners and abstraction licensees of the Buxton Thermal Springs, and also 

appropriate regulators.  The recommended approach to preparing the risk assessment and method 

statement is described below.   

 
1 February 2018 Version 1.2 

Page 104



 3 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

No intrusive works should be completed until High Peak Borough Council has received a copy of the 

programme of works, including proposed starting date, and has approved the risk assessment and 

method statement provided.   

In case of emergency: telephone the Council on 01298 28400  

2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater Quality 

Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) it is a criminal 

offence to “cause or knowingly permit” groundwater to become polluted.  Penalties include fines, 

imprisonment or both.  

As well as legal requirements not to pollute groundwaters, civil liability may also follow where mineral waters 

are adversely affected by the activities of a third party which could be substantial, particularly if guidance set 

out in this Code of Practice is not followed.  Developers should seek their own advice in this regard and take 

out appropriate insurance for works they may wish to carry out in advance. 

2.3 Desk Study, Risk Assessment and Method Statement 

The following steps should be carried out as a minimum: 

1. Desk study to collate and understand background information. 

2. Risk assessment to understand the risks to the Buxton Thermal Springs from the proposed activities. 

3. Method statement that demonstrates that the activities can be conducted safely without detriment to 

the Buxton Thermal Springs, including appropriate actions if thermal groundwater is encountered. 

4. Identify any requirements for regulatory consents, permits or notifications and requirements for 

notifications to/discussion with local stakeholders. 

The desk study, risk assessment and method statement must be completed or directly supervised by 

someone qualified in hydrogeology or geoenvironmental engineering and having experience of completing 

hydrogeological desk studies and groundwater risk assessments.   

A desk study review is intended to identify the sensitivity of the proposed excavation location.  It should 

consider the local geology/hydrogeology/hydrology conditions, particularly the depth to Carboniferous 

Limestone, proximity to known or expected thermal water, potential land contamination issues, proximity to 

water features such as River Wye, septic tanks, services etc.  The desk study review should also be used as 

the basis of preliminary discussions with stakeholders and other interested parties including regulators, 

conservation bodies, and landowners.   

The risk assessment should include consideration of: 

 The likelihood of encountering thermal water 

 The likelihood of contaminating the Carboniferous Limestone by the excavation process, either 

by accidental contamination from the excavation equipment or by introducing near surface 

contamination into the Carboniferous Limestone aquifer 

 The likelihood that the groundwater system will be disturbed and affect the balance between the 

thermal and cold groundwater systems 

For all risks identified, the method statement should identify appropriate good practice for the activity and 

appropriate mitigation measures reduce residual risks to Buxton Thermal Springs during and following the 

works to acceptable levels.  The method statement must show that the excavation method selected provides 

adequate mitigation for that risk and that there is sufficient monitoring to confirm the efficacy of the measures 

identified.   

If the proposed excavation location has the potential to be contaminated there is a risk that the excavation 

could lead to pollution of groundwater and migration of contaminants to Buxton Thermal Springs.  Where 

possible, excavation through potentially contaminated materials within the Core Protection Area should be 

Page 105



 4 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

avoided.  Where this is not possible, it is expected that work on potentially contaminated sites will follow the 

Environment Agency’s guideance on managing risk from land contamination2.  The process set out in this 

guide includes a risk assessment, which must consider Buxton Thermal Springs as one of the receptors.  

Construction works are also likely to be preceded by investigatory work conducted according to BS 

10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites – Code of practice.  At potentially 

contaminated sites, separate method statements should be prepared for investigatory works (excavations 

and drilling) as well as for subsequent excavations during construction.  

3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement 

3.1 Supervision 

The excavation works should be supervised at all times by an experienced qualified supervisor/foreman.  In 

addition, the excavation works should be under the overall supervision of a qualified hydrogeologist. 

3.2 Materials 

Prior to any excavation or drilling, a supply of bentonite pellets and bentonite powder sufficient to seal any 

incursions of thermal groundwater (15 degrees Celsius or greater), into the trench should be provided on 

site.  This should consist of a minimum of ten 25 kg bags of each bentonite powder and pellets. 

Suitable equipment (e.g. sandbags) should be provided at each location to control groundwater if 

groundwater should enter any excavation.  Such equipment will be required to reduce outflow of thermal 

groundwater whilst inflows are sealed with bentonite and/or to reduce outflow of non-thermal groundwater 

and maintain groundwater head in the aquifer (refer to the Method sub-heading under Section 3.4 below).   

3.3 Probe Holes 

Probe holes are narrow diameter borings (30 to 80 mm diameter) made using a window sampling technique.  

One or more probe holes should be drilled at the site of the excavation or trench to a depth of 0.5 m below 

the intended base of the excavation to determine ground conditions before excavation commences.  Probe 

holes will also allow monitoring of groundwater during excavation.  A long trench may require a number of 

probe holes at approximately 3 m centres.  Additional probe holes may be required if the risk assessment 

identifies geological uncertainties that may affect the risk to Buxton Thermal Springs: for example uncertainty 

over the thickness of the Namurian cover at the site of the excavation or if geological faulting is likely.   

Guidance and requirements provided in the parallel Code of Practice Borehole Drilling in the Vicinity of 

Buxton Thermal Springs should be consulted when preparing the part of the method statement concerned 

with constructing probe holes.  In addition to those requirements, drilling of a probe hole should be stopped 

if: 

 limestone is encountered beneath Namurian cover; 

 groundwater with a temperature equal to or exceeding 15 degrees Celsius is encountered;  

 groundwater is encountered that rises the ground surface and overflows continually (flowing 

artesian conditions); or 

 evidence of contamination is encountered (unless specifically mitigated by the method 

statement for investigation of a potentially contaminated site). 

These circumstances would suggest that the excavation/trench should be relocated, as there could be a 

significant risk to the Buxton Thermal Springs.  In any of these circumstances High Peak Borough Council 

must be notified and the probe hole backfilled to ground surface with bentonite cement grout prepared with 

water of potable quality.  The risk assessments and method statements for excavation should be reviewed in 

light of the information provided by the probe holes and the excavation designs may need to be revised.   

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm  

Page 106

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


 5 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

The temperature of water in probe holes should be monitored during excavation works.  Excavations should 

be suspended if the water temperature exceeds 15 degrees Celsius.  High Peak Borough Council must be 

notified and monitoring records made available for inspection. Probe holes used for monitoring should be 

capped at the surface and the annular space around any temporary stand-pipes adequately sealed to 

prevent runoff entering the holes during the works.   

Following completion of the excavation, probe holes should be backfilled and sealed with bentonite cement 

grout prepared with water of potable quality.  Probe holes completed within the base of the excavation 

should be sealed and the cement allowed to cure before other material is placed within the excavation.  This 

will ensure that the probe holes are adequately sealed.   

3.4 Excavation Methodology 

Method 

For excavated trenches and other excavations, any open trench should be restricted to no more than 5 m in 

length (unless existing site information has demonstrated that the thickness of Namurian strata at the 

location has at least 10 m thickness, in which case a longer trench length up to 12 m may be acceptable).  

There should be a means for sub-dividing the length of any open trench, should invasive thermal water 

inflow need to be held at one end of the trench or the other.  This practice aims to reduce losses of thermal 

water during sealing of the inflow as described below 

Groundwater and arisings shall not be allowed to enter natural water bodies or drains or to seep onto 

unprotected ground and cause seepage to the water table.  Groundwater shall not be allowed to spill outside 

the working area.   

Arrangements should be made to prevent the ingress of surface water into the trench.  

Throughout the excavation of each trench the temperature of any water entering the trench and in probe 

holes should be carefully monitored.  If water with a temperature at or exceeding 15 degrees Celsius is 

encountered, the excavation must stop and the inflow must be immediately sealed.  High Peak Borough 

Council must be notified and monitoring records made available for inspection.  The construction of a trench 

that encounters thermal water presents a significant risk to the Buxton Thermal Springs and the 

excavation/trench will not be continued unless High Peak Borough Council can be assured that the 

mitigation plan prepared in the method statement, or a modification of this, will provide the necessary 

protection to the Buxton Thermal Springs.   

On-site Plant  

Any on-site equipment should be clean and confirmed free of oil or fuel leakage before the work at site 

starts.  The method statement should detail the measures to be taken to avoid contamination of the ground 

or the aquifer by the excavation process.  Recommended minimum measures include: 

 The static plant shall be supplied with drip trays and adsorbent matting to prevent loss of fuel or 

lubricant to the ground. 

 Any equipment used to create the excavation and probe holes should be appropriately cleaned 

prior to use.  In addition, if the excavation/drilling is expected to encounter groundwater, tools 

should be disinfected on arrival and before leaving the site.  Disinfectants used must be safe to 

use in potable water applications3, for example chlorine, hypochlorite or peracetic acid solution.  

It should be noted that domestic forms of disinfectant such as perfumed sodium hypochlorite or 

Jeyes Fluid are specifically banned.  Steam cleaning or jet washing is the most suitable 

technique for removing debris and contaminants and should be used at locations where the 

discharge water will not pose an environmental risk.  The wash-down area and method of 

cleaning should be identified in the method statement.   

 
3 Water UK, 2017.  Principles of Water Supply Hygeine, final version 1 October 2015 (updated 1 March 2017) 

Page 107



 6 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

Waste Collection and Disposal 

The method statement should describe how materials from the excavation will be collected, assessed for 

potentially contaminated material (if relevant) and disposed of in an appropriate manner. 

Where there is risk of encountering contaminated materials, arisings are to be collected in suitable 

containers and transferred to an appropriately licensed waste disposal facility.  Containers used for 

containment of waste arisings must be covered and in sound condition. 

Dewatering from the excavation could affect groundwater levels at Buxton Thermal Springs and should be 

avoided through use of alternative designs as far as practicably possible.  However, if there is a need to 

dewater the excavation (for example, to remove non-thermal groundwater to maintain safe working 

conditions), particular care should be taken to monitor the temperature of the water being extracted to be 

sure that it does not exceed 15 degrees Celsius.  The method statement should describe how the water will 

be discharged from the site in a manner that will protect groundwater and surface water courses.  An 

Environmental Permit may be required to discharge water from the workings.   

Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling 

All refuelling of plant shall incorporate methods to prevent spillage to ground or groundwater.  Off-site re-

fuelling and storage of petroleum products and other hazardous materials is recommended.  If on-site 

refuelling is required it shall be undertaken on areas of hardstanding or over an impermeable surface, using 

a hand pump or similar method that minimises the risk of spillages.  All fuel containers shall be of suitable 

material and labelled.  All fuels stored on site must be in a lockable facility or container that is bunded to at 

least 110% of stored fuel capacity. 

  

Page 108



405000 405500 406000 406500

37
25

00
37

30
00

37
35

00
37

40
00

0 100 200 300 m1:6,000

December 2020

Code of Practice: Excavations in the Vicinity of
Buxton Thermal Springs

Figure 1.1

December 2020

Key
\\b

sl-
fs1

.gl
ob

al.
am

ec
.co

m\
sh

are
d\

Pro
jec

ts\
41

89
6 B

ux
ton

 H
yd

rog
eo

log
ica

l A
dv

ice
\D

 D
esi

gn
 Te

ch
nic

al\
Dr

aw
ing

s\4
18

96
-b

ri0
1_i

4.m
xd

   O
rig

ina
tor

: st
efa

n.b
ram

er

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.
Scale at A3:

 41896-bri01_i4

Surface Water/ River Network

Core Protection Area (applies
to shallow excavations and
borehole drilling)
Extended Protection Area
(applies to borehole drilling
only)

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



!P

Water in Buxton SPD

Designated Nature Conservation Sites

September 2021

Key
\\s

al-
fs1

2.g
lob

al.
am

ec
.co

m\
sh

are
d\

Pro
jec

ts\
42

53
1 H

igh
 Pe

ak
 SP

D\
PR

E-T
RA

NS
ITI

ON
\G

rap
hic

s\A
rcG

IS\
MX

D\
SA

L0
01

.m
xd

   O
rig

ina
tor

: w
ilsc

03
Buxton

Peak District National Park

Peak District Moors
(South Pennine Moors Phase 1)

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.
1:150,000Scale at A3:

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 km

!P

Special Areas of Conservation

Sites of Special Scientific Interest

Sourced from DEFRA (9th April 2019)

Sourced from DEFRA (29th July 2019)

Sourced from DEFRA (22nd November 2019)

Client

Sourced from DEFRA (1st July 2019)

Peak District Dales

South Pennine Moors

Special Protection Area

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Consultation Statement 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 113



Introduction 

This Statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local development) 
(England) regulations 2012 in relation to the Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). Accordingly, it details: 

(i) the persons the local planning authority consulted when preparing the supplementary planning document; 

(ii) a summary of the main issues raised by those persons; and 

(iii) how those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document 

 

Consultation process and consultees 

Consultation on the SPD has been undertaken in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and the High Peak Statement of Community Involvement. This consisted of two key stages, early stakeholder 
engagement followed by a public consultation. 

Early stakeholder engagement 

Due to the technical nature of the SPD, the Council and its appointed consultant sought early engagement on the issues to be 
addressed in the document as well feedback on the potential guidance to protect the quality and quantity of water sources in the 
Buxton area as well as minimising phosphate levels in the River Wye. As such, a stakeholder meeting with the following 
organisations was held in January 2020: 

• Natural England 
• Environment Agency 
• Severn Trent Water 
• Nestle Waters UK 

These stakeholders were identified as being particularly critical to the SPD given their respective responsibilities for and interest in 
the protection of water quality in the Buxton area. Pro-active engagement with Natural England and the Environment Agency also 
helps the Council to fulfil its obligations to adhere to the Duty to Co-operate. Following the meeting, a draft SPD was developed 

P
age 114



ahead of public consultation as well as a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening statement to determine if a full SEA 
would be necessary. 

Public consultation 

A public consultation was held on the draft SPD and SEA Screening Report between 13th May and 18th June 2021. The 
consultation documents were published on the Council's website for review. 

Notifications of the consultation were sent by email or letter to relevant contacts on the Council's planning policy consultee 
database. This included all relevant statutory consultees, local stakeholder organisations and residents and businesses in the 
Buxton area (see Appendix for details). Further publicity in the form of a press release and news on the Council's website was also 
published to raise awareness of the consultation. 

Regulation 35 also requires that consultation documents should be made available at the Council’s principal office and other 
relevant locations. However, in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 removed the requirement to make hard copies available for a temporary period up 
until 31 December 2020. This period was then extended until 31 December 2021. The Council's principal office was closed to the 
public during this time and local libraries access was limited. As such, the Council offered consultees the opportunity to view hard 
copies of the documents via alternatives means on request. No such requests were received. 

Following the consultation, all comments were reviewed to identify key issues and the potential need for amendments to the 
documents. These details are considered in the next Chapter of this Consultation Statement. 

 

Issues raised and how they have been addressed 

A total of 13 comments were submitted in relation to the SPD. The main issues raised included: 

• The SPD should have a broader scope to consider water quality more generally as well as measures to support biodiversity 
and address climate change 

• Additional references need to consider the implications of ground source heat pumps 
• Consideration should be given to minerals operations (current and former) in the vicinity  
• Reference should be made to the historic environment, including waterlogged archaeology  

P
age 115



• There should be greater emphasis on the storage of liquids and fuels that could potentially impact groundwater 
• The phosphate load produced by household  activities will not be reduced through water efficiency measures. What water 

efficiency does do is reduce the volume of water reaching the wastewater treatment works, thus relieving stress on the 
sewerage system. 

• Several minor miscellaneous amendments requested for clarification purposes 

A further 2 comments were submitted regarding to SEA Screening report. Natural England concurred with the conclusion in the 
Screening Report that a full SEA is not required. Historic England confirm that they had no further comments to make. 

The tables below provide details of each comment and how they have been addressed. 

  

P
age 116



Water in Buxton SPD – consultation feedback and officer responses 

ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB1   

Marine 
Management 
Organisation 

General 
comment 

Thank you for including the MMO in your recent consultation submission. 
The MMO will review your document and respond to you directly should a 
bespoke response be required. If you do not receive a bespoke response 
from us within your deadline, please consider the following information as 
the MMOs formal response.    
 
The Marine Management Organisation (MMO) is a non-departmental 
public body responsible for the management of Englands marine area on 
behalf of the UK government. The MMOs delivery functions are; marine 
planning, marine licensing, wildlife licensing and enforcement, marine 
protected area management, marine emergencies, fisheries 
management and issuing European grants.   Marine Licensing   Activities 
taking place below the mean high water mark may require a marine 
licence in accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act (MCAA) 
2009 . Such activities include the construction, alteration or improvement 
of any works, dredging, or a deposit or removal of a substance or object 
below the mean high water springs mark or in any tidal river to the extent 
of the tidal influence. Local authorities may wish to refer to our marine 
licensing guide for local planning authorities for more detailed 
information. You can also apply to the MMO for consent under the 
Electricity Act 1989 (as amended) for offshore generating stations 
between 1 and 100 megawatts in England and parts of Wales.  The MMO 
is also the authority responsible for processing and determining harbour 
orders in England, and for some ports in Wales, and for granting consent 
under various local Acts and orders regarding harbours. A wildlife licence 
is also required for activities that that would affect a UK or European 
protected marine species.    
 
Marine Planning   As the marine planning authority for England the MMO 
is responsible for preparing marine plans for English inshore and offshore 
waters. At its landward extent, a marine plan will apply up to the mean 
high water springs mark, which includes the tidal extent of any rivers. As 
marine plan boundaries extend up to the level of the mean high water 
spring tides mark, there will be an overlap with terrestrial plans which 
generally extend to the mean low water springs mark. Marine plans will 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

P
age 117



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

inform and guide decision makers on development in marine and coastal 
areas.   Planning documents for areas with a coastal influence may wish 
to make reference to the MMOs licensing requirements and any relevant 
marine plans to ensure that necessary regulations are adhered to. For 
marine and coastal areas where a marine plan is not currently in place, 
we advise local authorities to refer to the Marine Policy Statement for 
guidance on any planning activity that includes a section of coastline or 
tidal river. All public authorities taking authorisation or enforcement 
decisions that affect or might affect the UK marine area must do so in 
accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act and the UK Marine 
Policy Statement unless relevant considerations indicate otherwise. Local 
authorities may also wish to refer to our online guidance and the Planning 
Advisory Service soundness self-assessment checklist.  If you wish to 
contact your local marine planning officer you can find their details on out 
gov.uk page.     The East Inshore and Offshore Marine Plans were 
published on the 2 nd April 2014, becoming a material consideration for 
public authorities with decision making functions.  The East Inshore and 
East Offshore Marine Plans cover the coast and seas from Flamborough 
Head to Felixstowe. For further information on how to apply the East and 
Inshore and Offshore Plans please visit our Marine Information System 
.   The South Marine Plan was published on the 17 th July 2018, 
becoming a material consideration for public authorities with decision 
making functions. The South Marine Plan covers the coast and seas from 
Folkestone to the River Dart in Devon. For further information on how to 
apply the South Marine Plan please visit our Marine Information System 
.    
 
The MMO is currently in the process of developing marine plans for the 
remaining 7 marine plan areas by 2021. These are the North East Marine 
Plans, the North West Marine Plans, the South East Marine Plan and the 
South West Marine Plans.   Minerals and waste plans and local 
aggregate assessments   If you are consulting on a mineral/waste plan or 
local aggregate assessment, the MMO recommend reference to marine 
aggregates is included and reference to be made to the documents 
below:   The Marine Policy Statement (MPS), section 3.5 which highlights 
the importance of marine aggregates and its supply to Englands (and the 
UK) construction industry. The National Planning Policy Framework 

P
age 118



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

(NPPF) which sets out policies for national (England) construction 
minerals supply. The NPPF Minerals Planning Practice guidance which 
includes specific references to the role of marine aggregates in the wider 
portfolio of supply. The National and regional guidelines for aggregates 
provision in England 2005-2020 predict likely aggregate demand over 
this period including marine supply.   The NPPF informed Minerals 
Planning Practice guidance requires local mineral planning authorities to 
prepare Local Aggregate Assessments, these assessments have to 
consider the opportunities and constraints of all mineral supplies into their 
planning regions “ including marine. This means that even land-locked 
counties, may have to consider the role that marine sourced supplies 
(delivered by rail or river) play “ particularly where land based resources 
are becoming increasingly constrained. 

WIB2 Tilly Tailor   
General 
comment 

Please keep it safe for the people of Buxton Not to be sold off like a lot of 
land in the borough. 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB3 Steve Freek 
Highways 
England 

General 
comment 

Thank you for inviting Highways England to comment on the draft Water 
in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).    We (HE) 
recognise the need to protect Buxtons water resources and water quality 
which is embedded within the adopted High Peak Local Plan. However 
the nearest Strategic Road Network (SRN) link is located over 15 miles 
from the area of interest in Buxton, and will not be affected by the 
proposals included in the SPD.  As such Highways England have no 
further comments to make on this particular consultation 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB4 
Mrs Rachel 
Purchase   Object 

2.4.2 Puts water primarily in the context of the economy of the area, 
employment, efficiency and to some extent climate change, with quite an 
emphasis on thermal and mineral waters. It seems to be treating water 
more as a commodity than as a public good, when government policy is 
turning towards favouring the latter. A wider view of what water is and is 
used for, and how it might be more widely protected and enhanced for 
biodiversity would be welcome, especially given that the Council has 
declared a Climate Change and Biodiversity Emergency and biodiversity 
is given little consideration, protection or means of enhancement in this 
guidance. In the light both of increasing statutory requirements on local 
authorities to protect and enhance biodiversity, and the Council's own 
plans to produce a Biodiversity Strategy, this guidance should place 
greater emphasis on water quality and associated biodiversity 
enhancement as an aim and requirement in its own right. With an 

Guidance to minimise 
phosphates in the River 
Wye is proposed to 
help protect the 
biodiversity value of the 
River Wye SSSI which 
is a component of the 
Peak District Dales 
Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). 
The Habitat Regulation 
Assessment of the 
Local Plan identified 
this as part a particular 

P
age 119



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

emphasis on protecting mineral water (and presumably its abstraction) 
what are the requirements about limiting abstraction if biodiversity will 
suffer?  
 
2.4.3 is a paragraph on Climate Change. Given the Council's declared 
emergency, Biodiversity should also have a stand-alone paragraph. 
While concern is expressed about sewage, septic tanks and surface run-
off and there are 2 WFD groundwater bodies rated as 'poor' I struggled to 
see how this guidance will comprehensively address these concerns. I 
would welcome this guidance giving explicit recognition to the Wildlife 
Trusts' "Homes for People and Wildlife". This prioritises: water 
management, pollution control, the use of green spaces and water 
courses, sustainable urban drainage, swales and rain gardens, green 
roofs, trees, woodlands and wetlands, and other natural features to 
manage water and reduce flood risks. All of this is pertinent for this 
guidance which would be more comprehensive if including these 
approaches.  
 
While it is clearly a good idea to improve water efficiency, this doesn't 
take account of the wider picture, which should also focus on water 
quality and not only on reducing phosphate levels. Could this guidance 
not set out what is best practice and then require developers to comply 
with this? And a quality and outcomes standard, which included 
biodiversity targets, might be more effective than purely a quantity 
standard for water-efficiency. I found that the language used in the 
guidance was insufficently clear and instructive. Some of the text seemed 
more descriptive than prescriptive (eg at 6.4). Much of the wording also 
seems equivocal, almost inviting developers not to comply with what the 
Council would like to see eg 6.4.9 "it is expected that developers will 
explore opportunities to integrate water recycling..." Why could the 
wording not "require" developers to do this? Similarly 6.5.3, 6.5.6 and 6.6 
seem to do the same thing   

issue which required 
attention.  
 
An SPD can only 
provide additional 
guidance for adopted 
policies to supplement 
the Local Plan. It 
cannot introduce new 
policy requirements.  
 
The intent of this SPD 
is provide specific 
technical guidance to 
aid the implementation 
of Policies S7 (Buxton 
Sub-Area Strategy) and 
EQ1 (Climate Change) 
insofar as protecting 
water quality in the 
River Wye and water 
sources in the Buxton 
area. 
 
A broader focus on 
biodiversity would go 
beyond the original 
remit of the SPD and is 
better suited to the 
Local Plan review. This 
would also apply to the 
whole Borough rather 
than solely the Buxton 
area.  
However, with regards 
to the implementation of 
water efficiency 

P
age 120



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

measures, some 
amendments have 
been made to Section 6 
of the SPD in light of 
the comments received.   
 
 
  

WIB5   

Derbyshire 
County 
Council 

General 
comment 

Local Member Comments Councillors Linda Grooby and Tony Kemp, the 
Local County Council Members for Buxton North and East, and Buxton 
West Electoral Divisions respectively, have been consulted. Councillor 
Kemp has responded as follows: ˜There is little if anything ˜new to me in 
much of the document and I understand why the SPD is needed. If I have 
any comment it could be that I could see little, if any mention of the risks 
posed by vertical drilling for heat pumps “ something likely to be an 
increasing issue in the very near future. I do know, for example, that such 
occurred when a bungalow was replaced by a small block of apartments 
immediately adjacent to my own property (just before I joined the 
Borough Council) “ and the owner of the Buckingham Hotel on Burlington 
Road has also proposed such (turned down, and I think this was one 
ground for refusal). Both properties are within the core protection zone. I 
may have missed it as I havent read every word! I would also suggest 
there might be some thought given to the effects of slurry pools and 
wheel-washing facilities at the aggregate and cement plants in the 
immediate vicinity and maybe some consideration of the potential for 
contamination in the lake at Waterswallows (which is “ or was “ a basalt 
plug or intrusion through the Carboniferous Limestone to the North of the 
town). These matters are probably relevant to the County Council as the 
mineral extraction authority.  
 
Officer Comments General The SPD provides an appropriate background 
to issues that planning officers will need to include in their reports when 
considering proposals. As such, DCC welcomes and supports the Water 
in Buxton SPD. Specific The Water in Buxton SPD provides detailed 
guidance intended to support Policies SP7: Buxton sub-area strategy and 
EQ1: Climate Change of the adopted High Peak Local Plan, and this is 
welcomed. The Codes of Practice included at Appendices A (Boreholes) 

Vertical drilling for 
ground source heat 
pumps would be 
covered within Section 
5.1 of the SPD. A 
reference to ground 
source heat pump 
vertical drilling has 
been added to 
paragraph 5.3.3 to 
make it clear that 
boreholes for ground 
source heat are subject 
to this guidance. 
 
The aggregate and 
cement plants and lake 
at Waterswallows fall 
outside of the Core and 
Extended Protection 
Areas.  Additional 
measures to protect the 
quality of the mineral 
water are not 
considered to be 
necessary outside of 
those zones.  Existing 
legislative controls 
(planning permissions, 

P
age 121



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

and B (Excavations) to the document are also noted and it is considered 
that these provide good advice for developers. However, it is also noted 
that no mention is made in respect of the potential impacts of mineral 
development, specifically dewatering operations, on either the EA Source 
Protection Zone or the Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area. Appendix 
B refers to excavations, but mineral operators are not included in the list 
set out at 1.3 and the excavations referred to appear only to relate to 
shallow excavations. Whilst it is acknowledged that the nearest quarries 
are located some way outside of the Mineral Water Catchment Area as 
set out in Figure 3.2, at least one quarry does abut the southern extent of 
the EA SPZ illustrated in Figure 3.1. DCC is also aware that the 
geological and karstic hydrogeological systems underlying the quarries 
are complex and, in some instances, interlinked. This point is alluded to 
in paragraph 1.2.9 where it is stated that the precise route of cold and 
thermal groundwater systems through the limestone is not entirely 
known.  
 
It would be useful to know whether mineral development has been 
excluded from the SPD due to the relative distance of the existing sites 
from the SPZ and Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area, or if it has 
been considered at all. If there has been a specific decision to exclude 
mineral development, then DCC would suggest that it would be useful to 
amend the document to clearly state this and also to give the reasons 
why it has been excluded.  
 
Climate Change and Sustainability DCC is pleased to see reference to 
ground source heat pumps, SuDs and septic tanks, all of which could 
affect Buxtons mineral water. The guidance provides advice on 
minimising water consumption, rainwater harvesting, and water recycling, 
and refers to the BREEAM standards, which all support DCCs efforts to 
combat climate change. Habitats Directive (Wye Valley Site of Special 
Scientific Interest) If it has not done so already, DCC would request that 
High Peak Borough Council consults the Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, the 
Environment Agency and Natural England on these issues. 

environmental 
permitting etc) acting to 
prevent groundwater 
pollution are sufficient 
to protect the natural 
mineral water from 
these activities (or 
expansion of these 
activities in the future).  
 
 
The purpose of the 
SPD with regards to 
protection of natural 
mineral water is to 
identify the area where 
there is a known 
specific risk to the 
mineral water supply 
and to provide guidance 
for excavation and 
drilling within this area.  
The area is restricted to 
part of sub-urban 
Buxton and the list of 
activities given in 
Section 1.3 of Appendix 
A and Appendix B lists 
those 
organisations/individual
s that are likely to be 
undertaking works 
within the Core or 
Extended Protection 
Areas.  Mineral 
development is not 
excluded from these 

P
age 122



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

codes of practice but 
the location of the Core 
and Extended 
Protection Areas means 
that it is highly unlikely 
that mineral extraction 
will take place within 
those zones.   
 
Impacts of dewatering 
associated with mineral 
extraction are managed 
through the 
Environment Agency’s 
abstraction licensing 
process.  HPBC 
considers that the 
abstraction licensing 
process offers sufficient 
protection to Buxton 
thermal springs from 
dewatering that 
additional measures are 
not necessary. 
 
Uncertainty over the 
precise flow paths that 
groundwater takes to 
the thermal springs in 
Buxton is the reason for 
identifying additional 
measures that should 
be taken when working 
within the Core and 
Extended Protection 
Areas in the SPD.  The 
key point in the 

P
age 123



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

additional measures 
identified is that they 
should apply to all 
scales of activities in 
these areas that meet 
the criteria, whether 
planning permission, 
licensing or other 
regulatory approval is 
required or not.  
Outside the Core and 
Extended Protection 
Areas the existing 
protections afforded by 
planning permissions, 
abstraction licensing, 
environmental 
permitting etc are 
considered sufficient to 
protect Buxton thermal 
springs.   
 
Derbyshire County 
Council as the minerals 
planning authority may 
wish to consider the 
provision of policy or 
guidance to address the 
matters raised in the 
SPD. The SPD is 
intended to provide 
guidance in relation to 
the Borough Council’s 
own planning policies.  
  

P
age 124



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB6   
Historic 
England 

General 
comment 

We welcome the reference in paragraph 1.2.1 setting out the historic 
context of Buxton and citing the valuable contribution the historic 
environment makes within Buxton.  
Within Section 2 we would welcome a reference to the historic 
environment and relevant heritage legislation. Whilst we accept that this 
is an SPD predominantly concerned with water infrastructure issues and 
preserving the unique quality of the water in Buxton; we consider the 
historic townscape, significance of heritage assets and the presence of 
waterlogged archaeology for example, are relevant issues for the SPD to 
consider.  
 
We would be supportive of a reference to the historic environment 
chapter (Section 16) within the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and a link to our website, which contains relevant advice and 
information concerning these issues. For example, the ˜Strategy for 
Water and Wetland Heritage document will be relevant when considering 
buried archaeology, waterlogged archaeology and paleolithic evidence, 
as an example. A link to Historic Englands Good Practice Advice Notes 
which cover a range of information such as considering significance and 
setting, how to deal with heritage in the Local Plan and considering 
heritage through the development management process would also be 
useful 
 
We welcome the reference to Local Plan Policy S7 and the link to 
heritage. We consider that relevant issues for the SPD to expand upon 
within Section 3, are as below:The historic environment of the heritage 
spa town in Buxton and associated designated and non designated 
heritage assets, as well as the historic landscape and townscape through 
which Buxton is widely recognised and regarded.The design of any water 
scheme; SUDS, or those related to the industry of Buxton water for 
example, and any associated groundworks for development affecting 
water infrastructure will need to have consideration to and conserve the 
significance of known heritage assets, both designated and non 
designated and the potential for any as yet unknown heritage assets 
such as buried archaeology.As above, this will be particularly sensitive 
for archaeological assets, especially those that are preserved in a 
waterlogged environment where any change in their groundwater 

The SPD is intended to 
provide guidance on 
water quality in the 
Buxton area as per 
Local Plan policy. A 
wider remit to cover 
heritage is not 
appropriate. This matter 
could be explored as 
part of the Local Plan 
review. 
 
Add text into section 1.4  
“How to use this 
Supplementary 
Planning Document” to 
clarify that the SPD 
should be read in 
conjunction with the 
Local Plan as a whole.  

P
age 125



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

environment may have effects/ implications. Buried archaeological 
deposits can be damaged by changes to the water management 
procedures and changes to the moisture level and soil content, for 
example. Any development/ management strategies would need to 
consider how this may affect the significance of heritage assets, including 
their setting and ensure any impacts are avoided or minimised.The 
design of SUDS should take the presence of, or potential presence of, 
any buried archaeology into consideration and developers should 
undertake early discussions with Historic England, where necessary.  
 
Paragraph 4.1.6. it may also be necessary to consult with Historic 
England, if there are heritage assets which could be affected, including 
unknown archaeology. The issues raised in the bullet points above will 
also need to be considered in relation to Section 5 and how development 
will also affect the significance of heritage assets including their setting, 
found within and near to the water environment discussed within the 
protection zone/ SPD. We recommend that you consult your local historic 
environment staff for specific comments that relate to the historic 
environment of High Peak authority, who will have access to more 
detailed information from the Historic Environment Record.  

WIB7   

High Peak 
Borough 
Council 
(Environmenta
l Health) 

General 
comment 

Section 5: 5.12, Appendix A: 2.2 and Appendix B 2.2 reference to 
Environmental Protection Regulations (2016), it is believed that this is 
meant to refer to ˜The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2016 (as amended).  
 
Paragraph 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.2, Section 5: Protection of mineral water 
sources in Buxton, Appendix C  
 
There should be greater emphasis on the storage of liquids and fuels that 
could potentially impact groundwater. within the context of the above 
paragraphs. Appendix C does recommend a template condition for 
˜Fuel/Chemical Storage; however, this appears to be the first reference to 
this type of risk.  
 
Not all commercial and industrial developments will be subject to 
proactive regulatory controls under ˜The Environmental Permitting 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended); examples include: 

The SPD has 
specifically covered 
issues of intrusive 
ground works and their 
potential impact on the 
thermal springs that 
developers need to 
know about.   
 
It is not considered that 
there is a problem with 
existing regulations and 
provisions for chemical 
storage with respect to 
the springs. Detailed 
guidance has not been 

P
age 126



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

Bulk storage of non-specified chemicals where only blending activities 
are undertaken. Bulk storage of specified chemicals below regulatory 
thresholds. Decanting of small containers of chemicals into a larger 
reaction chamber, but remaining below regulatory thresholds (likely to 
occur in small industrial units).  
 
Developments for general industrial units where the end use may not be 
known, could ultimately involve the above listed activities, such as at 
tenanted premises where a risk assessment may not have taken place at 
the planning stage and premises change occupiers.  
 
It is considered that this section of the SPD should refer to Section D of 
˜the Environment Agencys approach to groundwater protection, 
(February 2018, Version 1.2), as well as, ensuring consideration is given 
to developments involving the above ground storage of fuels or 
chemicals, to ensure this is taken into account prior to submission of a 
planning application. Any template conditions for ˜fuel/ chemical storage 
should also take account of this.  
 
In addition, domestic, commercial and industrial development may 
involve above ground fuel storage. It is important that this is identified in 
any development proposal to ensure installations comply with ˜The 
Control of Pollution (Oil Storage) England Regulations 2001.  
 
Furthermore, demolition and construction activities will from time to time 
involve the storage of bulk liquids, which may present a risk to 
groundwaters. Developers should ensure that this is further 
encompassed within any risk assessment for developments within the 
SPZ. This might be achieved by use of a template condition on planning 
permission for approval by the LPA prior to development commencing.  
 
By emphasising the above in the SPD, will only add to support 
developers when preparing an application to ensure that developments 
undertake an appropriate risk assessment and that control measures are 
implemented and maintained to preserve the quality of water resources 
within the Buxton Sub-area. 

included on these 
matters.   
 
However, a new section 
has been added to the 
SPD signposting the 
Environment Agency’s 
position statement and 
the need for developers 
to consider above 
ground storage (5.6). 
 
The reference to the 
regulations in the SPD 
and appendices has 
been revised to read 
˜The Environmental 
Permitting (England 
and Wales) Regulations 
2016 (as amended).” 
 
 
  

P
age 127



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB8 
Rebecca 
Wyllie 

Canal & River 
Trust 

General 
comment 

Thank you for your consultation in respect of the above mentioned draft 
Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The 
document provides guidance to ensure that development preserves the 
quality of water resources within the Buxton Sub-area and supports water 
efficiency. The Canal & River Trust is a charity entrusted with the care of 
over 2000 miles of canals, rivers, docks and reservoirs in England and 
Wales. These historic, natural and cultural assets form part of strategic 
and local green infrastructure networks, linking urban and rural 
communities as well as habitats. Our waterways contribute to the health 
and well-being of local communities and economies, creating attractive 
and connected places to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure time. To 
meet the Trusts objectives it is important that all levels of planning policy 
and associated documents provide a robust policy framework that 
recognises and supports canals, rivers and docks as a cross-cutting 
policy theme; and acknowledges the diverse roles which they perform. 
The Trust does not own or manage any assets within Buxton, or within 
the protection zones outlined. Our nearby assets include Combs 
Reservoir and Peak Forest Canal and both of these are located some 
distance from Buxton. Therefore the Trust has no specific comments to 
make on the content and procedures set out within the draft ˜Water in 
Buxton SPD, which is an insightful and comprehensive document. The 
Trust would wish to continue to be consulted on policy documents 
prepared by High Peak Council, and thank you again for your 
consultation and opportunity to comment. We are keen to be engaged 
and comment on such documents where they may impact upon our 
waterways and assets. We would welcome being retained in the 
database of consultees going forward and being notified in future to be 
able to comment on any forthcoming policy documents. 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB9 
Environmen
t Agency 

Environment 
Agency 

General 
comment 

Thank you for providing the Environment Agency with the opportunity to 
comment on the draft Water in Buxton supplementary planning document 
(SPD). We note that the document is intended to support the existing 
policies Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy and EQ1: Climate Change 
found within the High Peak Local Plan, and in particular gives further 
guidance to developers on how these policies can be achieved. The 
Environment Agency has the following comments:  
 

In relation to the 
apparent 
misunderstanding 
relating to phosphate 
load, it is agreed that 
total phosphate is the 
same but reduced 

P
age 128



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

Section 1.2 “ The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and 
impact of new homes in Buxton The Environment Agency welcome this 
section and the outlining of the associated issues. 1.2.11 “ this is a 
slightly simplified version of the process. Can I suggest the following 
amendment to the first and second sentences:  
 
Replace - Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for 
plant and animal growth but it can have harmful effects on the ecology of 
rivers through a process called ˜eutrophication where there is a reduction 
in dissolved oxygen caused by an increase in mineral and organic 
nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead to a 
deterioration in conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for 
certain species.  
 
With - Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for plant 
and animal growth but it can have harmful effects on the ecology of rivers 
through a process called ˜eutrophication where there is an increase in 
mineral and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that 
can lead to a reduction in dissolved oxygen and deterioration in 
conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for certain species.  
 
It appears there is a misunderstanding around the sources of phosphate 
associated with housing throughout the document. Phosphate load is 
associated with the inhabitants and their actions (Washing clothes, 
sewage etc.) rather than the volume of water. The phosphate load 
produced by these activities will not be reduced through water efficiency 
measures. What water efficiency does do is reduce the volume of water 
reaching the wastewater treatment works, thus relieving stress on the 
sewerage system.  
 
2 1.2.13 - Could be amended to The water produced by housing is 
acknowledged as having a direct effect on the amount of phosphate in 
the R. Wye once it is discharged from the wastewater treatment works 
(WwTW). The need for water efficiency measures to help reduce water 
produced by housing is therefore important to reduce stress on the 
sewerage system and enable efficient treatment to reduce phosphate 
discharged to the R. Wye  

water use leads to 
greater ability to treat 
water. Para 6.2.3 does 
try to reflect that.  
 
The suggested changes 
to 1.2.11 and 1.2.13 are 
accepted and reflected 
in the SPD.  
 
With regards to the 
suggested changes to 
2.2.6, it is considered 
that the existing 
wording is sufficient to 
signpost the HRA 
requirements and no 
changes are proposed. 
 
The suggested change 
to 5.5 (Septic tanks) is 
accepted and the SPD 
has been updated.  
 
The proposed 
amendments to Section 
6.2 are accepted and 
the SPD has been 
updated. 
 
The proposed 
amendments to Section 
5.4 are accepted and 
the SPD has been 
updated. 
 

P
age 129



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

 
Section 2.2 - The Habitats Directive 2.2.6 “ This should be expanded to 
include Applicants should perform a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) to identify the potential risk of nutrients entering the Peak District 
Dales SAC designated site when undertaking a project proposal. Section 
5.5  
 
Septic tanks 5.5.1 “ could be amended to ¦The council is concerned 
septic tanks could affect the groundwater quality in the Buxton Sub-area, 
and may impact the condition of the Peak District Dales SAC.  
 
5.5.3 “ Expanded to include The associated shallow infiltration systems 
should be designed to provide appropriate attenuation of any pollutants 
before they reach groundwater  
 
Section 6.2 Water efficiency in residential development  
6.2.2 “ We welcome this observation. Particularly highlighting the fact that 
reduced flow can relieve the stress on the sewerage system thus 
supporting the efficiency of the system and reducing potential for spills 
from Combined Sewage Overflows (CSOs).  
 
6.2.3 “ The two parts of this sentence appear contradictory and should be 
split. A reduction in water usage does not lead to a directly equivalent 
reduction in phosphate load in the river. The second sentence could then 
be amended to The achievement of greater water efficiency would 
reduce stress on the sewerage system, indirectly contributing to 
phosphate reduction in the R. Wye and reducing negative impacts on the 
ecological status of the Peak District Dales SAC.  
 
General Comments  
We welcome the water efficiency principles outlined in this document and 
would suggest there is scope for expanding their application to include 
retrofitting to the existing building stock within Buxton. This would have 
much broader societal and environmental sustainable benefits.  
 
5.4 - Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) This 
section should emphasise a requirement to avoid discharges via 

With regards to the 
general comments, the 
scope of the SPD is 
defined by existing 
Local Plan policy which 
specifically includes 
‘new development’ only 
with regard to water 
efficiency. However, 
these matters can be 
considered in the 
review of the Local 
Plan. 
 
With regards to SuDS, 
it is considered that the 
SPD provides sufficient 
guidance for applicants. 

P
age 130



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

boreholes or deep infiltration systems which result in a direct discharge to 
groundwater. Shallow systems should be designed to provide attenuation 
of any pollutants before they reach the groundwater. 

WIB1
0   

Natural 
England 

General 
comment 

Natural England welcomes the SPD which is a positive step towards the 
improvement of the water quality of the River Wye and we look forward to 
working with the Council in the future on this issue. We consider that the 
report is very clear and comprehensive and have set out our detailed 
comments under the document headings as follows:  
 
General Comments We suggest that when considering water quality 
within the River Wye your authority may also want to consider assessing 
any erosion problems or siltation for a holistic approach to the river 
environment. In addition, air quality may affect the quality of surface 
water. It should be ensured that future development will not lead to 
atmospheric emission with potential local effects on surface water. 
 
1.1 Overview  
1.1.3 The purposes of the guidance are welcome but perhaps measures 
to reduce the current phosphate levels in the river could also be included, 
noting that the river is already under a diffuse water pollution plan.  
 
1.2 Background  
1.2.12 We note that phosphorous pollution also originates from urban 
sources and septic tanks.  
 
3.2 Source Protection Zones  
3.3.3 We note that figure 3.2 shows the SPZ4, but this is not clarified in 
the legend. We suggest that it would be helpful if the four Source 
Protection Zones (SPZ) are shown on a map within the document (we 
note the link to interactive mapping).  
 
5.1 Types of Development  
5.1.8 Within the section on shallow excavations, we note that the 600m 
threshold is used however it would be useful to see an explanation of 
how this threshold was chosen and if there is information to back this up 
for example a reference or other explanation.  
 

 
 
 
The broad support for 
the SPD is welcomed. 
With regards to the 
scope of the SPD, this 
is framed by the policy 
provisions in the 
existing Local Plan. 
Broader matters related 
to river management 
could be explored 
through the Local Plan 
review informed by 
relevant evidence base. 
 
With regards to the 
Overview (1.1.3) it is 
proposed to add a 
reference to reducing 
phosphate load where 
possible. 
 
With regards to the 
Source Protection Zone 
figure (Figure 3.1 not 
3.2) it is considered that 
the plan provides the 
relevant zone for 
Buxton as SPZ1 (as 
identified in para 3.2.3). 
 

P
age 131



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

6.2 Water Efficiency in Housing  
6.2.3 Natural England welcomes this policy to encourage greater water 
efficiency which would reduce phosphate in the River Wye and improve 
its ecological status.  
6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption We suggest 
that education and information dissemination to the major users could be 
an effective measure which could be included under Section 6.4. 

With regards to the 
comments on Section 
6.4, this section already 
sets out expectation for 
developers to signpost 
guidance on water 
efficiency within new 
homes. 
 
The 600 mm depth 
threshold for shallow 
investigations is based 
upon practical 
experience gained by 
HPBC during re-
development of Buxton 
Crescent.  During the 
re-development, 
excavations deeper 
than 600 mm required 
additional risk 
assessment and 
monitoring.  These 
measures were found 
to be effective in 
managing changes to 
groundwater conditions 
around the Buxton 
thermal springs during 
the works.  Excavations 
shallower than 600 mm 
were completed without 
the additional 
hydrogeological 
measures and no 
adverse impacts on the 

P
age 132



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

thermal springs were 
observed.   

WIB1
1 

Mr Ian 
Jackson   Object 

I believe there are a couple of issues not mentioned in the ˜Water in 
Buxton “ supplementary planning document that should be considered in 
this public consultation. The key issue is that in the European and 
National Legislative Content section you have not included the 
Renewable Energy Directive or Climate Change Act, and by not 
considering renewable energy in the development of the SPD you are 
missing some low carbon energy generation opportunities and potentially 
impacting negatively on climate change. The two most obvious omissions 
from the report are; 
 
The SPD should include a requirement for any user of the thermal spring 
to incorporate heat capture for use as a renewable heat source for 
Buxton. The plan as it stands also seems to prevent any future 
development of using the thermal energy within Buxton, which in the near 
future may be more important environmentally and economically than a 
business filling plastic bottles with water.If the spring water would 
naturally flow into the River Wye, if it wasnt abstracted for the bottling 
operations, the water would be available to the many hydroelectric power 
stations on the River Wye and River Derwent, including Cauldwells Mill, 
Masson Mill, Belper, Milford and Derby. If the water abstracted is 
affecting minimum flows of the River Wye and the Derwent it will be 
impacting the Environment Agency abstraction licences, restricting 
renewable energy generation. I hope this information is helpful in the 
consultation exercise. 

The SPD is intended to 
provide guidance on 
water quality in the 
Buxton area as per 
Local Plan policy. A 
wider remit is not 
appropriate. These 
matters could be 
explored as part of the 
Local Plan review. 
  

WIB1
2 

The Coal 
Authority 

The Coal 
Authority 

General 
comment 

Thank you for your notification received on the 13 May 2021 in respect of 
the above consultation. I can confirm that the Coal Authority has no 
specific comments to make in respect of the Water in Buxton 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB1
3  

Peak District 
National Park 
Authority 

General 
Comment 

Summary 
 
The SPD focus on the protection of the thermal and non-thermal ground 
water supply that is ‘Buxton Water’ and maintain the integrity / purity of 
the supply.  Given the importance of the supply from a visitor and 
economic perspective to a gateway town. We are supportive of this 
approach. 

The general support for 
the SPD is welcomed.  
 
A link to the map of 
Buxton Sub-Area as 
identified on the Local 
Plan Policies Map has 

P
age 133



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

 
The SPD focuses on the activities that could impact mineral springs and 
water quality impacts of a development, particularly on the River Wye 
SSSI, which is a component of the Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). Given the cross-boundary importance of both 
designations, we support the approach taken. 
 
General Comments  
 
There are several maps included within the document but there doesn’t 
seem to be an overall map showing the administrative area that this 
policy covers. Could one be included please so it is clear? 
 
The SPD cites development types likely to have an impact on mineral 
water sources, should a similar section be produced for those likely to 
have an impact on water quality? 
 
The SPD references various policies and legislation/ extracts with an 
emphasis on wildlife to encourage the applicant to consider ecological 
issues and goes on to specifically consider the need to address impacts 
on the Wye Valley SSSI/ Peak District Dales SAC.  It also (in the 
consents section) advises applicants to consider European protected 
species and seek advice from an experienced professional ecologist to 
determine if surveys within the development site may be required.  
However, these are selective ecological considerations and do not 
require the applicant to think more widely to address other ecological 
impacts/consideration that the development may have, such as other 
protected species or impacts on priority habitats or species. The 
document could make the rationale/purpose for this clearer because as it 
currently reads, the document could be interpreted as suggesting that 
designated habitats and European protected species are the only 
ecological considerations of a development. 
 
Below are a few more specific comments: 
 
Page.6: Other species are affected by eutrophication other than the three 
listed. These are SAC species – it is presumed that these have been 

been included in the 
SPD.  
 
The intent of this SPD 
is provide specific 
technical guidance to 
aid the implementation 
of Policies S7 (Buxton 
Sub-Area Strategy) and 
EQ1 (Climate Change) 
insofar as protecting 
water quality in the 
River Wye and water 
sources in the Buxton 
area. 
 
Additional text has been 
included at 1.4  “How to 
use this Supplementary 
Planning Document” to 
clarify that the SPD 
should be read in 
conjunction with the 
Local Plan as a whole. 
 
The SPD is not 
intended to provide full 
guidance on all 
ecological matters but 
does highlight assets 
with specific reference 
to qualifying features of 
the SAC and relevant 
legal requirements. 
Para 5.3.5 is clear that 
the list of potential 
requirements is not 

P
age 134



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

particularly picked out because they are specific qualifying features of the 
SAC, but they are not the only species in the Wye to be affected by 
eutrophication.  
 
Page 11: Is it possible to fully reference this plan (in a reference section) 
or a web link in the footnotes (as there are for other documents): 
  
SAC map 
  
The legend title would seem to suggest that everything that is listed is a 
Special Area of Conservation. It is just the Peak District Dales and South 
Pennine Moors that fall under this designation category (all SAC and 
SPA’s are also SSSI’s) 
 
I hope the above comments are helpful to you. 

exhaustive. However, 
5.3.4 has been 
amended to draw the 
reader to other potential 
ecological 
considerations that may 
need to be addressed. 
 
A reference and link to 
the Local Plan is 
already provided in the 
Introduction (page 5). 
As the SPD provides 
guidance for the Local 
Plan, and most readers 
will be aware of the 
Local Plan, it is 
considered that one 
reference is sufficient.  
 
A revised legend for the 
map of the SAC (and 
other designated 
assets) has been 
included in the SPD. 
 
 

 

Water in Buxton SPD SEA Screening Report – consultation feedback and officer responses 

ID Full Name Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response 

Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB6   Historic 
England 

General 
comment 

With regards to the accompanying SEA report, we have no additional 
comments to raise. 

 Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB10   Natural 
England 

Support Natural England welcomes the Screening Report which assesses the 
requirement for Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) for Water in 

 Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

P
age 135



Buxton SPD. We agree with the reports conclusions that it is unlikely that 
any significant environmental effects will result from the SPD and 
therefore a SEA would not be required. 

 

  

P
age 136



APPENDIX – List of consultees 

Private individuals and residents registered on the Borough Council’s planning policy consultee database plus the following 
organisations and stakeholder groups. 

108 Ventures 
A.E Planning Consultants 
Accessible Derbyshire 
All Things Neighbourhood Planning 
Amos Group Ltd 
Ancient Monuments Society 
Arcus Renewable Energy Consulting Limited 
Ashbourne Community Transport 
Auto Cycle Union 
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Barratt Developments Plc 
Barton Willmore 
Bellway 
Beresford Contracting Limited 
BNP Paribas Real Estate UK 
British Horse Society (East Midlands) 
British Telecom 
Building Research Establishment 
Buxton Civic Association 
Buxton Community School 
Buxton Festival 
Buxton Neighbourhood Forum 
Buxton Opera House 
Buxton Town Team 
Campaign to Protect Rural England 
Canal & River Trust 

P
age 137



Cass Associates Llp 
Castleton Parish Council 
Caulmert Ltd 
Chapel-en-le-Frith High School 
Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish Council 
Charlesworth Parish Council 
Chelmorton Parish Council 
Cheshire East Council 
Chinley Buxworth & Brownside Parish Council 
Chisworth Parish Council 
Churches in the Peak 
Civil Aviation Authority 
CJK Packaging Ltd 
Connex Community Support 
Council for British Archaeology 
County Land & Business Association 
Crossroads Derbyshire 
Crowley Associates 
D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport DCMS 
Department for Transport 
Derby & Derbyshire CCG 
Derby University 
Derbyshire Advocacy Service 
Derbyshire Association of Local Councils 
Derbyshire Coalition for Independent Living 
Derbyshire Community Health Services 
Derbyshire Constabulary 
Derbyshire County Council 
Derbyshire Dales District Council 

P
age 138



Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service 
Derbyshire Gypsy Liaison Group 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 
Derbyshire Youth Offenders Team 
Derwent & Hope Woodlands Parish Council 
Disley Parish Council 
DLP Planning Ltd (East Midlands) 
DPDS Consulting Group 
DPP 
East Midlands Chambers of Commerce 
East Staffordshire Borough Council 
Edale Parish Council 
EE 
Electricity North West 
Emery Planning Partnership 
Entec UK Ltd 
Environment Agency 
Equality and Human Rights Commission 
Fairfield Residents Association 
Fairhurst 
Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group 
Fidler Taylor 
Frank Marshall 
Friends of Peak District 
Friends of the Earth 
Friends of the Peak District 
Gamesley Residents Association 
GL Hearn Property Consultants 
Gladman 
Glossop Indoor Market Traders 

P
age 139



Glossop Mountain Rescue Team 
Good Reit Ltd 
Great Places Housing Group 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
Harpur Hill Residents Association 
Harris Lamb Chartered Surveyors 
Hartington and Upper Quarter Parish Council 
Hartington Middle Quarter Parish Council 
Hayfield Parish Council 
Health & Safety Executive 
Heathcote Design and Development 
High Peak Access Group 
High Peak CVS 
High Peak Health Forum 
High Peak Partnership 
High Peak Rail Users Group 
Highways England 
Himor Group 
Historic England 
Home Builders Federation 
Homes England 
Hope with Aston Parish Council 
Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustees Ltd 
Hourigan Connolly 
HOW Planning 
Indigo Planning 
Jones Homes 
Ken Wainman Associates 
Kettleshulme Parish Council 
King Sterndale Parish Meeting 

P
age 140



Kirklees Metropolitan Council 
Kirkwells Town Planning & Sustainable Development 
Consultants 
Knights LLP 
Lambert Smith Hampton 
Levvel Ltd 
M C Beattie Property Limited 
M C Northern Limited 
Manchester Airports Group 
Manchester City Council 
Marine Management Organisation 
Middlemarch Environmental Ltd 
Miller Homes 
Mono Consultants 
MS & HM Eckert Limited 
National Farmers Union 
National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups 
National Grid Gas - Distribution Network 
National Trust 
Natural England 
Nestle Waters 
Network Rail 
New Mills School Business & Enterprise College 
New Mills Town Council 
NHS Derby and Derbyshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
NHS England 
NHS Property Services Ltd 
NJL Consulting 
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
Nottingham Community Housing Association 

P
age 141



OFCOM 
Office of Rail and Road 
Old Glossop Residents Association 
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 
Omya UK Limited 
Otter Controls Ltd 
Paper Escape 
Paul Butler Associates 
Peacock + Smith 
Peacock and Smith 
Peak District Local Nature Partnership 
Peak District National Park Authority 
Peak Forest Parish Council 
Persimmon Homes Yorkshire 
Plan:8 Town Planning Ltd 
Planning and Design Group 
Planning Design Practice Ltd 
Planware Ltd 
Ramblers Association 
Rapleys LLP 
Redrow Homes 
Renewable UK 
Roger Yarwood Planning Consultant Ltd 
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 
S L R Consulting Ltd 
save roughfields 
Savills 
Severn Trent Water 
Sheffield City Council 
South Area Tenants Consumer Panel 

P
age 142



South Derbyshire District Council 
Sport England 
St Thomas More Catholic School 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Stewart Ross Associates 
Stockport M.B.C. 
Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 
Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 
Tameside MBC 
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd 
Tetlow King Planning 
The Church of England 
The Coal Authority 
The Gardens Trust 
The Planning Inspectorate 
The Theatres Trust 
The Woodland Trust 
Three 
Tintwistle Parish Council 
Transition Buxton 
Transport for Greater Manchester 
Turley Associates 
United Utilities 
United Utilities Water PLC 
Vision Buxton 
Visit New Mills 
Vodafone and O2 
W A Fairhurst & Partners 
W Y G Engineering Ltd 

P
age 143



Waltons 
Whaley Bridge Matters 
Whaley Bridge Residents Association 
Whaley Bridge Town Council 
Wildgoose Construction 
Wood land Trust 
Wood Plc 
Wormhill Parish Council 

 

 

P
age 144



Water in Buxton SPD: Schedule of Modifications 

The following table identifies all of the modifications made to the draft SPD as published for public consultation. 

 

Reference Paragraph / figure 
number 

Modification (deleted text has strikethrough; new text is underlined) 

1 Front Cover Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document Adopted December 2021.  
2 Page Footers Consultation Draft 
3 Para. 1.1.3  Supports effective management of water to improve overall water quality and prevent 

additional phosphates reaching the River Wye, supporting a reduction in phosphate load where 
possible. 

 
4 Para. 1.1.4 This document was adopted by the Council on 9 December 2021. It is  will be a material consideration 

when considering planning applications or planning appeals. This SPD does not introduce new 
policy but adds further detail to the policies within the Local Plan, specifically policies EQ1 and S7. 

 
5 Footnote 1 The High Peak Local Plan was adopted in April 2016. Available via: 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016. Policy S7 applies to the Buxton-
Sub Area as defined on the Policies Map  - https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-
map 

6 1.2.11 Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for plant and animal growth but it can have harmful 
effects on the ecology of rivers through a process called ‘eutrophication’ where there is an increase 
in mineral and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead to a reduction 
in dissolved oxygen and deterioration in conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for 
certain species where there is a reduction in dissolved oxygen caused by an increase in mineral 
and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead to a deterioration in 
conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for certain species . For the River Wye the 
species affected are White-clawed crayfish, Brook lamprey and Bullhead. 

7 1.2.13 The water produced by housing is acknowledged as a having a direct effect on the amount of phosphate in 
the River Wye once it is discharged from wastewater treatment works (WwTW). The need for water 
efficiency measures to help reduce water produced by housing is therefore important to reduce phosphate 
loading. The need for water efficiency measures to help reduce water produced by housing is therefore 
important to reduce stress on the sewerage system and enable efficient treatment to reduce phosphate 
discharged to the River Wye. 

P
age 145

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016


8 1.4.2 The SPD should be read in conjunction with the Local Plan as a whole. 
 

9 2.2.6  The relevant caselaw must be considered where applicants are required to undertake a project-based 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and impacts are identified. Of particular relevance are the 
‘Dutch cases’.  

 
10 2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)1 sets out the Government’s aim for the planning system 

to enhance the natural and local environment by (NPPF, 2019 2021: para. 174(d)) 170:  
 

11 Footnote 8 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (201921) National Planning Policy Framework. 
Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdfhttps://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2 

12 5.2.2 It is important to note that NPPF (201921: para 556) states that planning conditions should only be… 
13 5.3.2 Under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016), a permit… 
14 5.3.3 Applicants are also advised to consult the good practice guides produced by the Environment Agency if the 

development is intending to use Ground Source Heating and Cooling whilst any vertical borehole 
drilling for ground source heat pumps should follow guidance in Section 5.1. There is potential for 
adverse effects on groundwater quality that need to be considered. 

 
15 5.3.4 o European Protected Species receive full protection under law. Applicants should apply to 

Natural England and seek advice from an experienced professional ecologist to determine if 
surveys within the development site may be required. Applicants must also address other 
ecological impacts/considerations, such as impacts on other protected species, priority 
habitats or species, where relevant. 

 
16 5.4.3 The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection requires a hydrogeological risk assessment 

to be completed for SuDS within SPZ1 to show that pollution of groundwater will not occur and that 
the SuDS will not pose an unacceptable risk to the potable groundwater source.  Discharges via 
boreholes or deep infiltration systems which result in a direct discharge to groundwater are to be 
avoided. Shallow systems should provide attenuation of any pollutants before they reach the 

 
1 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National Planning Policy Framework. Available via: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-framework--2 

P
age 146

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Planning_conditions


groundwater. The Council will require evidence of the risk assessment has been undertaken when 
applying for permission for SuDs within SPZ1.  

 
17 5.5.1 As required by Local Plan policies and the NPPF, new development proposals must demonstrate that there 

is no adverse impact on water quality. The Council is concerned septic tanks could affect the 
groundwater quality in the Buxton sub-area and may impact upon the condition of the Peak District 
Dales SAC. 

 
18 5.5.3 Septic tanks should only be considered by developers if it can be clearly demonstrated by the applicant that 

discharging into a public sewer to be treated at a public sewage treatment works or a package 
sewage treatment plant is not feasible (taking into account cost and/or practicability). The 
associated shallow infiltration systems should be designed to provide appropriate attenuation of 
any pollutants before they reach groundwater. 

 
19 5.5.4 The Environment Agency’s General Binding Rules for Small Sewage Discharges prevent the use of septic 

tanks within 50 m of a SAC, within 30 m of a public foul sewer or within Groundwater SPZ1.  The 
practical effect of these restrictions is that septic tanks within the Buxton sub-area will require 
permitting under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016).   

 
20 5.6 

5.6       Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels 

5.6.1Section D of the Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection (2018)2 sets out a position 
statement relevant to potentially polluting activities related to fuel and hazardous substances 
storage to prevent such substances being released into groundwaters. Applicants proposing 
developments in the Buxton area incorporating above ground storage of chemicals, fuels or bulk 
liquids, or will require such storage through construction or demolition, should ensure that the 
Environment Agency’s position statement is taken into account, the risks assessed and a scheme 
is in place for construction. 

 

 
2 Environment Agency (2018) Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

P
age 147

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


5.6.2In addition, any domestic, commercial and industrial development that may involve above ground fuel 
storage must ensure compliance with The Control of Pollution (Oil Storage) England Regulations 
(2001).  

 
21 6.2.1 The policy requirement for higher standards of water efficiency aims to reduce the phosphate load on the 

River Wye to meet targets established through the WFD and Habitats Directive to meet the 
protected areas objectives in the Humber River Basin Management Plan (2015);  and support the 
achievement of greater sustainability of water resources (in line with climate change elements of 
the rest of the policy). The Council therefore expects that new residential development complies 
with the policy requirement. and provide guidance to sign post developers to the factors that 
should be considered. 

 
 

22 6.2.3 A reduction in water usage does not lead to a directly equivalent reduction in phosphate load in rivers. The 
achievement of improved water efficiency would reduce the stress on the sewerage system, 
indirectly contributing to phosphate reduction in the River Wye and thereby reducing negative 
impacts on the ecological status of the Peak District Dales SAC.however the achievement of 
greater water efficiency would reduce phosphate in the River Wye and reduce negative impacts on 
its ecological status.  

 
23 6.4.9 It is expected that dDevelopers should  will explore opportunities to integrate water recycling into the design 

of new residential and non-residential development. 
 

24 6.5.3 To demonstrate compliance with Policy EQ1, Ddevelopers will be expected to clearly explain 
25 Appendix B  Appendix A Code of Practice – Excavations in the in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

 
 

 

P
age 148



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

9 December 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Climate Change Action Plan 
 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 

Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Head of Communities and 

Climate Change 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
ALL 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: SCATTER Emissions Baselining; Appendix 

B: Climate Attitude Survey Results; Appendix C: Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 
2030;  

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 This report continue’s to develop the Council’s approach to tackling the climate 
change emergency. 

 
1.2 This report and the attached strategy form part two of the approach looking at 

those wider aspects of the climate change, that are on the whole beyond the 
direct control of the Council. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive approve the Climate Change Strategy 2021 – 2030, 

subject to the amendments recommended by the Climate Change Working 
Group on 17 November 2021. 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 High Peak Borough Council recognises the global climate emergency 
and is committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of 
the Paris Agreement. 

 
3.2 The Borough Council cannot solve the problem on its own, but can take a 

lead role in the district and use its powers and influence to support wider 
local action to reduce emissions and prepare for a changing climate. 

 

Page 149

Agenda Item 7



  

3.3 The national Climate Change Committee estimate that local authorities1 
have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local 
areas and are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of local 

emissions. The Committee recognised that more than half of the cut in 
emissions required to meet national reduction targets rely on people and 

businesses taking up low-carbon solutions. 
 

3.4 When developing its plan for reducing district-wide emissions, the 

Council drew upon three main sources of information: Information 
gathered by the Working Group, Data Analysis and a Climate Change 

Attitude Survey. 
 

3.4 The plan, which can be found at Appendix C, is intended to provide a 

clear vision and strategy for achieving net zero emissions from the district 
by 2030.  

 
3.5 The plan was considered and supported by the Climate Change Working 

Group on 18 November 2021 subject to the following: 

 

 changing the mission statement from “to do what they can” to “to do 

all they can”. 

 adding an action seeking to influence the improvement of public 
transport. 

 including reference to air source heat pumps. 

 recognising that Fairfield Road has been identified as an area of poor 

air quality. 

 expanding the section with regards to waste to focus more on 

reduction of waste produce. 

 changing the definition of Community Orchards and including a new 

definition of Community Gardens within the Glossary. 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 This is a key action towards delivering Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan. It also 

supports the Council’s actions in delivering on Climate Change. 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 None identified. 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

No direct implications 
 

6.2 Workforce 

                                                 
1 This refers to Derbyshire County Council and the Peak District National Park Authority as well as the 

Borough Council. 

Page 150



  

 
The Council is recruiting a Climate Change and Biodiversity Officer 
to play a lead role in delivering the Climate Change Strategy. 

However, all Services will be involved in delivering Pt 1 and 2 of 
our climate change plans. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 

The plan includes a commitment to give priority in responding to 
climate change to the needs of vulnerable groups who are most at 

risk to the adverse effects of climate change, including food and 
fuel poverty, and lack of access to green space. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 

The Council carries an earmarked reserve set aside for initiatives 
responding to the Climate Emergency. This reserve is available to 
provide the funding for unbudgeted in-year spend developing 

projects designed to further the Council’s ambitions around climate 
change. Once specific projects have been developed (and their 

business case signed off); the necessary budget requirements can 
be incorporated into the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
None – the Council does not have a specific statutory duty to tackle 

climate change 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The strategy is central to the Council’s response to tackling climate 

change in the district. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
The Council’s Climate Change Working Group has examined the 

issue of climate change, with the support of the High Peak Green 
Network. In addition, the Council has commissioned a Climate 

Change Attitude survey that was carried out in September 2021.  
 
The Council has commissioned Anthesis to carry out a series of 

workshops over the coming month’s to continue the consultation 
and is developing a Communications and Engagement Strategy. 

 
6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The Council has set a various challenging target of achieving Net 
Zero by 2030. Local authorities (which includes the Borough 

Council, County Council and Peak District National park authority) 
have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their 
local areas and are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 

Page 151



  

5% of local emissions. The Council recognises that it will require all 
stakeholders to work together the achieve the 2030 target. 

 
Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Part 1 Action Plan available at 

www.highpeak.gov.uk/ClimateChange ” 
 
https://www.uk100.org/ 

 
https://racetozero.unfccc.int/join-the-race/ 
 

https://racetozero.unfccc.int/system/cities/ 
 

David Smith 

Head of Communities and Climate Change 
David.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

Page 152

http://www.highpeak.gov.uk/ClimateChange
https://www.uk100.org/
https://racetozero.unfccc.int/join-the-race/
https://racetozero.unfccc.int/system/cities/


  

7. Detail 

 
Introduction 

 
7.1 High Peak Borough Council recognises the global climate emergency and is 

committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of the Paris 
Agreement. 

 

7.2 The Borough Council cannot solve the problem on its own, but can take a lead 
role in the district and use its powers and influence to support wider local 

action to reduce emissions and prepare for a changing climate. 
 
7.3 The Council subsequently approved a new corporate plan (2019-23) on 10 

October 2019 that included an aim to: “Protect and improve the environment 
including responding to the climate emergency”. The Council’s corporate plan 

has previously included aims around improving the environment, but this is the 
first time that climate change has been specifically named as a key aim 
demonstrating the Council’s commitment to putting climate change at the heart 

of its activities. 
 

7.4 High Peak Borough Council subsequently declared a climate emergency on 
15th October 2019. The declaration commits the Council to become carbon 
neutral in its internal operations and the services it delivers, by 2030, and to 

work with partners to help achieve this target for the High Peak as a whole. 
The Council recognises that it will be difficult to achieve such an ambitious 
target but believes that the target needs to be challenging to encourage the 

action that is needed to tackle the climate change emergency. 
 

7.5 The Council divided its action planning process into two phases. The first 
phase focussed on reducing the emissions generated by the Council whilst 
delivering its functions. The Council approved an action plan describing for 

reducing these emissions on 1 July 2021. 
 

7.6 This report presents the second part of its Climate Change Plan, which looks 
beyond those emissions directly related to Borough Council activities and 
provides a plan for reducing emissions across the district. 

 
Reducing District Emissions 

 
7.7 The national Climate Change Committee estimate that local authorities2 have 

powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions in their local areas and 

are believed to be responsible for between 2 and 5% of local emissions. The 
Committee recognised that more than half of the cut in emissions required to 

meet national reduction targets rely on people and businesses taking up low-
carbon solutions. The Committee also helpfully set out the different methods 
that local authorities can use to control and influence emissions and tackle 

climate change: 

                                                 
2 This refers to Derbyshire County Council and the Peak District National Park Authority as well as the 

Borough Council. 

Page 153



  

 
• Direct Control: the Council’s own buildings, operations, travel 

 Procurement and commissioning & commercialisation 

 Place shaping: using powers to control development and transport 

(transport is a County Council function along with things like highways 

and education) 
 Showcasing: innovating, piloting, demonstrating and sharing good 

practice, scaling and replicating 
 Partnerships: leading, bringing people and organisations together, co-

ordinating and supporting others, joining others’ partnerships 

 Involving, Engaging and Communicating: translating global & national 

climate change targets for local relevance; with stakeholders to raise 

awareness, involving people and ideas for local solutions. 
 

7.8 When developing its plan for reducing district-wide emissions, the Council 
drew upon three main sources of information: Information gathered by 
Working Group, Data Analysis and a Climate Change Attitude Survey.  

 
7.12 Data analysis. Anthesis UK Ltd were asked to prepare a Scatter emissions 

baseline for the district. A copy of this report is available at Appendix A. 

 
7.13 The report reveals that in 2018, Derbyshire in-boundary emissions totalled 

1,181 ktCO2e. The majority resulted from buildings (76%) and transport 
(19%). 

 

7.14 The report also identifies that an annual reduction rate of 15.8% is needed to 
keep Derbyshire aligned with Paris Agreement targets. However, according to 

BEIS statistics, the average annual emissions reduction rate in Derbyshire  
between 2005 and 2019 was just over 1%. This means that if the district 
continues along a business-as-usual scenario, the carbon budget (2020 –

2100) will be exceeded by 2026. 
 
7.15 Climate Change Attitude Survey. The Council commissioned Future Focus 

Research to carry out 500 telephone interviews with the general public 
between 6 and 26 September 2021. A copy of the results can be found at 

Appendix B. In summary the survey revealed that: 
 

• 80% of residents are either very or a little concerned about the impact of 
climate change of the borough, while 19% are not concerned at all. 

• Of most concern are: 

 - environment destruction (96% very or a little concerned) 
 - loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity (96%) 

 - disease (95%) 
 - species extinction (94%). 

• 63% of residents understand either very well or quite well what is meant 

by Net Zero. 
• 34% feel that it is achievable to become Net Zero by 2030.  However, 

14% said it isn’t achievable and 52% do not know if it’s achievable. 
• 84% said that climate change is either somewhat, very or extremely 

important to them. 

Page 154



  

• 72% said it is likely (either very likely or likely) that they will take action on 
climate change. 16% said that they are unlikely to take action.    

• When asked what would help them to make changes to tackle climate 

change the most popular response is financial help and incentives (39%), 
followed by more information (25%) and advice (24%).   

• The most important areas to prioritise are considered to be reduce waste 
and improving the use of resources (85% very or quite important), 
followed by the way we use energy (83%)  

• The most important actions to tackling climate change are considered to 
be encouraging the reuse, repurposing and recycling of waste materials 

(86% very or quite important), followed minimising single use plastic in 
packaging or products (85%), making sure that new houses are energy 
efficient (85%) and increasing the use of renewable energy (85%). Of 

least important is encouraging home composting (59% important) 
 

The Plan 
 
7.16 The plan, which can be found at Appendix C, is intended to provide a clear 

vision and strategy for achieving net zero emissions from the district by 2030.  
 

Our Vision: High Peak Borough Council will be carbon neutral in its internal 
operations and the services it delivers by 2030. Working with partners, High 
Peak Borough will be carbon neutral by 2030. 

 
Our Mission: Encouraging people, businesses and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their carbon footprint and making it easier, where we 

can, for those changes to happen. 
 

Our Strategy: We will use our tools, levers and powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; applying our 
values and seeking opportunities to deliver co-benefits. 

 
7.17 The Carbon hierarchy recognises that some actions are better than others in 

terms of producing more lasting reductions in emissions. Our plan considers 
ways of avoiding emissions before thinking about ways of removing emissions 
or offsetting them. 

 
7.18 The 7 Ways to Net Zero is the local framework that we have developed to 

provide a structured response to reducing carbon emissions. It encourages us 
to consider actions under 7 main headings: 

 

 The Way We Live 

 The Way We Travel 

 The Way We Work 

 The Way We Make Energy 

 The Way We Look After Our Environment 

 The Way We Manage Waste, and 

 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur. 
 

Page 155



  

7.19 The plan also sets out the values that we will adopt when delivering our plan. 
This includes following the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate 
Change. 

 
Other Updates 

 
7.20 The Council has joined the UK100, which is a network for UK local authorities 

that focuses solely on climate and clean energy policy. As members, we have 

committed to the following pledges: 
 

 We will continue to lead the UK’s response to climate change, acting 
sooner than the government’s goal by making substantial progress within 
the next decade to deliver Net Zero. We will use our experience and 

achievements to advocate to the UK government in order to accelerate 
the delivery of ambitious local climate action. With greater powers and 

funding, we would go further. 
 

 We commit to do everything within our power and influence to rapidly 

reduce our greenhouse gas emissions and work with our residents and 
businesses to bring our wider communities’ emissions in line with Net 

Zero as soon as possible. 
 

 We pledge to understand our impact on climate change, prioritise where 

action needs to be taken and monitor progress towards our goals. We 
will reduce our emissions at source and limit the use of carbon offsets as 

part of the global effort to avoid the worst impacts of climate change. 
 

 We are closer to the people who live and work in our communities, so we 
have a better understanding of their needs. This means we can 
collaborate with them to build consensus for the solutions we need to 

transition to a Net Zero society that delivers multiple benefits and is fair, 
just and works for everyone. 

 
7.21 High Peak Borough Council has also signed up to the UN’s Cities Race to 

Zero Programme. In doing so, it publicly endorse the following Principles: 

 

 We recognise the global climate emergency. 

 We are committed to keeping global heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal 
of the Paris Agreement. 

 We are committed to putting inclusive climate action at the center of all 
urban decision-making, to create thriving and equitable communities for 
everyone. 

 We invite our partners – political leaders, CEOs, trade unions, investors, 
and civil society – to join us in recognising the global climate emergency 

and help us deliver on science-based action to overcome it. 
 

7.22 The Borough Council also pledges as a signatory to the Race to Zero: 

 

 To reach (net)-zero in the 2040s or sooner, or by mid-century at the latest, in 

line with global efforts to limit warming to 1.5°Celsius. 
  

Page 156



  

 explain what steps will be taken toward achieving net zero, especially in the 
short- to medium-term. Set an interim target to achieve in the next decade, 
which reflects a fair share of the 50% global reduction in CO2 by 2030 

identified in the IPCC Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°Celsius. 
 

 Plan at least one inclusive and equitable climate action that will help to place 
High Peak on a resilient pathway consistent with the 1.5°Celsius objective of 
the Paris Agreement and begin implementation no later than 2022. 

 

 Report progress annually, beginning no later than 2022. 

 
Next Steps 

 
7.23 It is inevitable that our actions and approach will change over the time as we 

grow to understand more about addressing climate change and in response to 

legislative changes and funding opportunities. The plan is designed to provide 
a framework for responding to such opportunities and emerging threats: 

 
7.24 We have identified several actions that need to take place over the next 12 

months: 

 

 Further develop our approach to target setting including milestones for 

action.  

 Recruit a Climate Change Officer 

 Enhance our monitoring procedures to make sure that the actions that 

we are taking are having an impact 

 Embed Climate Change activity within the Council’s annual budget 

process and Medium-Term Financial Plan. 

 Include mandatory Carbon Literacy/Awareness training for all new 

Council employees and become a Carbon Literate organisation. 

 Analyse the Council’s procurement emissions (due December 2021)1 

 Prepare a land and rural emissions profile (due December 2021) 

 Conduct a district-wide pathway analysis (due December 2021)1 

 Prepare and deliver a Communications and Engagement Plan. 
 

7.25 We began delivering our communications plan in the run-up to COP26 and we 

will continue with this delivery during COP26 and afterwards. This will  
include publishing a plain English summary of the approved Part 2 plan in 

January 2022 along with a request for people who live, work or learn in the 
district to commit to one or more pledges to reduce their carbon footprint. 

 

7.26 Our engagement activity will also begin during COP 26 with a series of events. 
Activities include an affordable warmth webinar, planting activities, educational 

sessions and litter picks. 
 
7.27 This activity will be followed swiftly by a series of on-line workshops, delivered 

by Anthesis, to present the findings of their research and develop ideas for 
further action that can be incorporated into the next refresh of our action plan. 

Arrangements for these workshops are currently being finalised with Anthesis 

Page 157



  

but the draft programme is provided below. Members are requested to advise 
on there availability for the date suggested below: 

 

Session Attendees Theme Provisional Dates 
Session 
length 

1 Council officers All sectors 

30th November 
2021 

(via Teams) 3 hours 

2 Councillors All sectors 

6pm 7 December 
2021 
(via Teams) 2 hours 

3 

Residents, 

Community and 
Youth Groups 

Buildings 
Transport 

Waste 
Energy Supply 

6pm 19 January 

2021 
(Via Zoom) 2 hours 

4 
Businesses & 
private services All sectors 

1pm 25 January 

2021 
(Via Zoom) 2 hours 

 
 

 

Page 158



High Peak District Council 

HIGH PEAK DISTRICT 
COUNCIL

SCATTER Emissions Baselining

September 2021

P
age 159



High Peak District Council 

Introduction

Page 5

01
SCATTER Emissions 

Inventory

Page 9

02
Carbon Budget 

Analysis

Page 20

03

Appendices

Page 24

04

CONTENTS

P
age 160



High Peak District Council 

01 IntroductionP
age 161



High Peak District Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
REPORT OVERVIEW & SCOPE

4

This report was commissioned by High Peak Council, who declared a 
climate emergency in 2019 and are in the process of developing a climate 
action plan to tackle emissions from the council’s operations and those of 
the borough.

The report is structured as follows:

o Chapter 1 provides the context for climate change action and sets out 
past emissions trends and performance 

o Chapter 2 provides an emissions inventory for the district, as defined by 
the SCATTER Inventory tool

o Chapter 3 provides a carbon budget for energy system emissions, based 
on research carried out by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change 
Research at the University of Manchester. 

The aim of this report is to support High Peak Borough Council in achieving 
its borough-wide target of becoming carbon neutral by 2030, by meeting 
the following objectives: 

1. Provide a robust baseline assessment of area-wide emissions that is 
aligned to international reporting standards

2. Use this information to inform the urgency and scale of action required 
to remain in line with the Paris Agreement 

3. Identify high-level priorities for the council to consider moving forwards 
as next steps

The scope of this report includes emissions from the consumption of solid, 

liquid and gaseous fuels within the area boundary of High Peak. Figures

quoted in the body of the report represent direct and indirect emissions 

arising from energy consumption within the area boundary.

Background & context

Commitments to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions have been made 

at various levels of government in recent years. 

In 2015, the Paris Agreement set the international target to limit global 

temperature increase to “well-below 2oC above pre-industrial levels”. A 

follow up report from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 

(IPCC) found that this requires a reduction in GHG emissions of around 45% 

by 2030 against a 2010 baseline. 

Within the UK, legislation has been in place since 2008 which sets 

reductions targets for national emissions. The Climate Change Act was 

subsequently strengthened in 2019 to reflect a more ambitious target of 

achieving carbon neutrality no later than 2050. In late 2020, the UK 

Committee on Climate Change (CCC) Sixth Carbon Budget set out further 

targets to achieve at least a 78% reduction in emissions no later than 2035 

(against a 1990 baseline). 

P
age 162

https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/sixth-carbon-budget/


High Peak District Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
EMISSIONS HISTORY

5

Local commitment to action on reducing climate change was reflected in 

council declarations in 2019.

High Peak Borough Council committed to a carbon neutral target of 2030 

both for the organisational emissions of the council itself as well as the 

borough as a whole.

Emissions history

Each year, the government publish data on local authority area emissions, 

documenting the GHG impact of in-boundary fuel consumption. Over time, 

these can be assessed for trends in performance. By 2019, national 

emissions had fallen by around 45% against 1990 levels, largely thanks to 

the removal of carbon-intensive fuels such as coal from the energy mix 

used to supply electricity to households. 

Figure 1.1 opposite shows the historic performance for High Peak and 

Staffordshire Moorlands from 2005-19, based on statistics published by the 

Government Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). 

Since 2010, emissions in High Peak have remained roughly stable around 

3,000 ktCO2, though analysis of subset data indicates a reduction of around 

34% over the same time period. 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

2
0
1
1

2
0
1
2

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

2
0
1
6

2
0
1
7

2
0
1
8

2
0
1
9

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
)

Grand total Subset total

Figure 1.1: Historic emissions from BEIS for High Peak. Subset total data refers to 

the grand total figure minus large industrial sites, motorways, land use and railway 

emissions. 

P
age 163



High Peak District Council 

1. INTRODUCTION
UNDERSTANDING BEIS DATASETS

6

Historic BEIS datasets are useful in observing trends and changes to 
emissions over time, since they provide the means for comparing the 
emissions impact of various activities across different years. 

It can however be difficult to judge whether some changes in emissions 
from one year to another are due to changes in activity or if they represent 
differences in the scope of reporting for different disclosure schemes. 
Since reporting scopes for schemes such as the EU Emissions Trading 
Scheme (EU ETS) are updated periodically, and the associated emissions 
relate to one specific site in many cases, this can pose challenges when 
considering emissions from large industrial sites. This is especially relevant 
to High Peak which records significant emissions from large industrial 
installations. 

Introducing SCATTER

SCATTER is an emissions baselining and modelling tool that is free to use 
for local authorities in the UK. The tool provides estimates for emissions, 
broken down by scope, considering a broader range of GHGs than BEIS 
figures and adopting slightly different methodologies for the calculation of 
emissions in some sectors. 

The tool was developed in partnership with BEIS, local authorities and the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. A summary of the differences 
between BEIS and SCATTER emissions data can be found in Appendix 2.

One of the more significant benefits of using SCATTER data is that the tool 
is aligned to international reporting frameworks. Figures within SCATTER 
are developed according to guidance in the GHG Protocol for Cities. 

Activities and figures required for specific reporting frameworks have been 

highlighted in Appendix 1, and it is worth noting that the totals quoted 

within Chapter 2 represent a broader “basket” of emissions than is required 

for the most basic reporting standards.

Adoption of the GHG Protocol guidance means that the methodologies 

adopted within SCATTER are different to those used by BEIS in some cases, 

which can lead to differences and deviations in figures quoted for the same 

emissions category. 

P
age 164

https://ghgprotocol.org/greenhouse-gas-protocol-accounting-reporting-standard-cities


High Peak District Council 

02 SCATTER 
Emissions 
Inventory

P
age 165



High Peak District Council 

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

8

In 2018, High Peak’s in-boundary emissions totalled 1,181 ktCO2e. The 

majority resulted from buildings (76%) and transport (12%).

This emissions inventory has been calculated from the SCATTER Inventory 

tool. The figures shown opposite represents emissions from a specified set 

of activities within the borough boundary.1

The remainder of this section provides a breakdown of each of the sectors 

defined opposite, with a more detailed description of each emissions 

source. 

Differences with BEIS data

The SCATTER Inventory tool is aligned to international reporting frameworks 

but there are important differences between the activities included in 

SCATTER compared to those reported under BEIS LA CO2 statistics. 

The differences between SCATTER and BEIS datasets are discussed in more 

detail in Appendix 2. SCATTER considers emissions from multiple 

greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide and methane with 

the data opposite relating to the 2018 reporting year. The emissions 

inventory only includes emissions generated within High Peak (Scopes 1 & 

2). 

A full data table can be found in Appendix 1.

Buildings (76%)

Transport (12%)

Waste (3%)

Figure 2.1: SCATTER inventory for High Peak, showing all direct and indirect 

emissions recorded under SCATTER.

High Peak Net 

Emissions: 1,181 

ktCO2e

Misc. (9%)

1 – For disclosure through international reporting frameworks, only some of these 

activities are required to be reported against. See Appendix 1 for more details on these.  

Livestock and land use (net)

P
age 166



High Peak District Council 

Residential buildings

Emissions from residential buildings totalled 154 ktCO2e within High Peak in 

2018. This figure estimates emissions arising from the consumption of energy in 

residential buildings of all types and tenures, including social housing, rented 

accommodation and privately-owned properties. In 2018, there were an 

estimated 42,700 households1 in High Peak.

The most significant source of emissions from households comes from the use of 

energy for heating and hot water. Most of this is achieved through natural gas 

consumption, with gas demand for heating making up 67% of residential building 

emissions. The second most significant source of emissions is the use of grid-

supplied electricity to the borough for lighting, appliances and cooking, which 

makes up around 22% of residential emissions. The remainder is made up of 

small contributions from other fuel types. 

Emissions from residential buildings can be mitigated by improving the energy 

efficiency of households through retrofitting measures, which reduce the 

overall demand for energy to heat the borough’s homes. Switching to low-

carbon heating systems, such as heat pumps, is another means of reducing 

domestic emissions.  

9

Figure 2.2: Residential emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile (left). A 

breakdown of the split between direct and indirect residential emissions (right).   

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

111 

43 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

Direct Indirect

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

1 – ONS, Estimate number of households in the local and unitary 

authorities of England and Wales (2018)

P
age 167

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/families/adhocs/11620estimatednumberofhouseholdsinthelocalandunitaryauthoritiesofenglandandwalescouncilareasofscotlandandlocalgovernmentdistrictsofnorthernireland2012to2018


High Peak District Council 

32 

69 

26 15 

502 

85 

13 
-

 -

 100

 200

 300

 400

 500

 600

Direct Indirect

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

Commercial buildings & facilities

Institutional buildings & facilities

Industrial buildings & facilities

Fugitive emissions

Non-residential buildings

By far the most significant contributor to High Peak’s emissions is the non-

residential buildings sector, totalling 730 ktCO2e across commercial, 

institutional and industrial buildings in 2018:

o Commercial buildings & facilities include buildings from which businesses 

operate such as shops and retail parks, offices, restaurants 

o Institutional buildings & facilities include public sector buildings such as 

schools, health centres, hospitals, leisure centres, council buildings and so 

on

o Industrial buildings & facilities include sites such as factories, warehouses 

and workshops associated with manufacture and engineering

o Fugitive emissions are also classified under this category – these emissions 

relate to irregular leaks of greenhouse gases from equipment and containers

The most significant source of emissions from non-residential buildings is the 

contribution from coal consumption at the borough’s industrial facilities. This is 

likely the result of activities at Hope Cement Works, which uses coal kilns and 

is the largest cement plant in the United Kingdom (in terms of tonnages of 

cement). As with residential buildings, the next most significant contributions 

to these totals is natural gas consumption for heating and hot water and 

electricity for appliances, lighting and cooking. 

Emissions from non-residential buildings can be mitigated in much the same 

way as residential buildings; improving energy efficiency through retrofit, as 

well as switching to low-carbon heating systems.

10

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

Figure 2.3: Non-residential building emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile 

(left). A breakdown of the split between direct and indirect non-residential building 

emissions (right).   

P
age 168



High Peak District Council 

Transport

Emissions from transport totaled 137 ktCO2e in 2018. SCATTER measures 

emissions from the following activities:

o On-road transport emissions are measured from all forms of on-road 

passenger and freight vehicles, including cars, vans, motorcycles, buses 

and taxis

o Rail transport emissions are measured from diesel-fuelled rail transport 

only – emissions from any electrified rail services are included in the 

commercial and industrial sectors

o Waterborne navigation describes emissions from transport along the 

borough’s waterways according to the length of available throughfares 

o Off-road transport describes emissions from land vehicles that are not 

classified as “on-road”

On-road transport dominates the emissions in this sector; DfT data indicates 

that over 4.1 billion vehicle miles were driven across Derbyshire’s roads in 

2018. 

The proportion of electric vehicles in the borough has grown significantly in 

recent years, but still constitutes less than 1% of the overall number of 

registered vehicles. 

Mitigating transport emissions can be achieved by a combination of modal shift 

to more active modes of travel such as cycling and walking, as well as the 

transition to electric vehicles from petrol and diesel. 

11

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

Figure 2.4: Transport emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile (left). A 

breakdown of the split between different subsectors of transport emissions (right).   

131 

5 
<0.5 1 

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 140

Direct

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

On-road

Rail

Waterborne navigation

Off-road

P
age 169



High Peak District Council 

29 

5 

73 

56 

(17)

<1

 (20)

 (10)

 -

 10

 20

 30

 40

 50

 60

 70

Direct

E
m

is
si

o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
e
)

Solid waste disposal
Wastewater treatment and discharge
Industrial process
Livestock
Land use
Local renewable generation

Waste 

Emissions from waste totaled 35 ktCO2e in 2018. SCATTER measures emissions 

from the following activities:

o Solid waste disposal emissions are associated with the treatment of 

commercial, industrial and municipal waste through various means, 

including incineration, open- and closed-loop recycling and composting

o Wastewater emissions are associated with the biological processes used to 

treat and manage liquid waste. 

According to DEFRA statistics for FY18/19, High Peak saw a recycling rate of 

just under 49%, with an average of 372kg of collected waste per resident.  

Miscellaneous emissions

SCATTER also measures emissions across smaller sectors of activity, categorized 

for the purposes of this report under miscellaneous. This category and the 

associated emissions stem from: 

o Industrial processes (73 ktCO2e) which describes emissions from all non-

energy related processes in industrial facilities, such as manufacturing and 

production of chemicals, metals and minerals

o Net livestock and land use (39 ktCO2e) which accounts for emissions from 

rearing livestock and manure management netted off against emissions 

sequestered by the natural environment

o Local renewable generation (<0.01 ktCO2e) which accounts for emissions as 

a result of local landfill gas sites 

12

2. SCATTER INVENTORIES 
HIGH PEAK

Figure 2.5: Waste & miscellaneous emissions as a proportion of the borough-wide profile 

(left). A breakdown of the split between different subsectors of emissions (right). Land 

use emissions (dashed green) are negative in High Peak – figures quoted in the initial 

profile take the net figure of livestock and land use emissions. 

P
age 170



03 Carbon Budget 
Analysis

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 171



3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS 
INTRODUCTION

14

This chapter discusses future emissions in terms of a carbon budget approach, 

based on research by the Tyndall Centre at the University of Manchester. 

This means that the pathway taken to carbon neutrality is as important as the 

selected target date, since different pathways will reach the target having 

emitted different amounts of cumulative emissions along the way. This 

highlights the importance of the annual reduction rate when considering 

carbon budgets. 
What is a carbon budget?

A carbon budget is a fixed limit of cumulative emissions that are allowed 

within a given time, in order that increases in average global surface 

temperatures remain within a certain threshold. 

The budget approach

When considering future routes to carbon neutrality, it is important to 

introduce the concept of a carbon budget.

This approach highlights the importance of cumulative carbon emissions,

since emissions now mean impacts later. Once emitted, carbon dioxide 

remains in the atmosphere for many decades, contributing to increasing the 

average global temperature. This means that the carbon budget does not 

reset; it represents a fixed upper limit to emissions. 

This approach is analogous to a monthly payday cheque, in the sense that 

the budget can be spent on the first day after getting paid, or be stretched 

out over the course of the month. Once it is “spent” (or in the case of a 

carbon budget, emitted) there is no budget left. 

Total cumulative emissions along 

each pathway

Rapid reductions: 1,995 ktCO2

Steady reductions: 3,500 ktCO2

Delayed reductions: 4,550 ktCO2

1,000 

ktCO2

Figure 3.1: Illustrative example of a carbon budget approach for a starting point of 

1,000ktCO2. Although all three of these hypothetical pathways reach net zero carbon 

by the same target date, the cumulative emissions (i.e. the carbon budget) associated 

with each pathway is significantly different. 

20302020

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 172



15

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS
TYNDALL CENTRE RESEARCH

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, based at the University of 

Manchester, have carried out an assessment for each UK local authority in 

terms of their “fair” contribution towards remaining in line with the Paris 

Agreement. 

The Paris Agreement’s “well-below 2oC” scenario sets an upper limit on 

allowed global emissions. Tyndall Centre academics have scaled this 

emissions ceiling down, allowing local authorities to understand the scale 

and extent to which they must reduce their emissions between the present 

and their target year for carbon neutrality. 

A more detailed description of the Tyndall Centre’s approach can be found 

in Appendix 3.

There are however a number of noteworthy caveats to make when 

considering carbon budget analysis:

o Emissions from agriculture and land use are not directly taken into 

account when calculating local authority budgets, instead being 

considered at the national level 

o The budget applies to energy system emissions only – cement 

manufacturing is not included within this analysis

o Non-CO2 emissions are also excluded from the analysis 

High Peak Borough Council

Key statistics at a glance – High Peak

An annual reduction rate of 15.8% is recommended to keep 

High Peak aligned with Paris Agreement targets

If High Peak continues along a business-as-usual scenario, the 

carbon budget (2020 – 2100) will be exceeded by 2026

According to BEIS statistics, between 2005 and 2019 the 

average annual emissions reduction rate in High Peak was just 

over 1%

In light of the fact that SCATTER baselines include a broader basket of local 

authority emissions than is assessed by the carbon budget analysis, the key 

takeaway piece of information is the annual reduction rate of emissions. 

P
age 173



16

3. CARBON BUDGET ANALYSIS
CARBON BUDGET

High Peak Carbon Budget

The Tyndall Centre recommends that cumulative emissions from the energy 

system within High Peak do not exceed 10,800ktCO2 over the period 2020-

2100. Figure 3.2 illustrates carbon budget milestones based on the annual 

reduction rate for High Peak.

For a full description of the differences between the SCATTER, BEIS and 

Tyndall Centre emissions data please see Appendix 2. 

High Peak Borough Council

Figure 3.2: Bar chart describing the Tyndall carbon budget, broken down into the 

periods defined in government reporting frameworks. The decline in emissions is 

based on the annual reduction rate of 15.8%.

8,400 

3,700 

1,600 

700 
300 100 100 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

C
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
 e

m
is

si
o
n
s 

(k
tC

O
2
)

2018-22 2023-27 2027-32 2033-37 2038-42 2043-47 2048-2100

Recommendations and Next Steps

Following the exploration of High Peak’s emissions baseline and carbon 

budgets in this report, it is recommended that the council develops a 

roadmap to meet the 2030 net zero target.

To do this, High Peak Borough Council should next look to:

1. Understand the type of measures needed to reduce emissions in the 

borough aligned to the 2030 net zero target

2. Estimate the scale and speed of implementing measures needed and 

engage internal stakeholders to understand what this means for the 

borough

3. Work with key external stakeholders such as residents, businesses and 

other organisations to develop an action plan 

4. Continue to measure and report on the borough’s emissions against KPIs 

to track progress 

P
age 174



04 Appendices

Appendix Page Number

Appendix 1 – Emissions Data Tables Page 25

Appendix 2 – Differences between 

SCATTER & BEIS inventories
Page 27

Appendix 3 – Tyndall Centre carbon 

budget methodology
Page 28

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 175



High Peak District Council 

APPENDIX 1
EMISSIONS DATA TABLES – HIGH PEAK 

18

Sector
Scope 1 & 2 

Emissions, ktCO2

Industry and Commercial Electricity 140.3

Industry and Commercial Gas 122.0

Large Industrial Installations 2,222.6

Industrial and Commercial Other 

Fuels 52.4

Agriculture 5.9

Domestic Electricity 35.9

Domestic Gas 108.0

Domestic 'Other Fuels' 7.8

Road Transport (A roads) 89.7

Road Transport (Motorways) -

Road Transport (Minor roads) 58.2

Diesel Railways 5.4

Transport Other 1.5

LULUCF Net Emissions -16.7

Grand Total 2,832.9

Sub Sector Direct, ktCO2e
Indirect, 

ktCO2e

Residential buildings 110.96 43.22 

Commercial buildings & facilities 32.48 69.29 

Institutional buildings & facilities 26.49 15.04 

Industrial buildings & facilities 501.91 84.58 

Agricultural fuels - -

Fugitive emissions 13.03 -

On-road 130.66 IE   

Rail 4.83 IE   

Waterborne navigation 0.31 IE   

Aviation NO   IE   

Off-road 1.31 IE   

Solid waste disposal 29.42 -

Biological treatment NO   -

Incineration and open burning NO   -

Wastewater 5.43 -

Industrial process 72.80 -

Product use 0.00 -

Livestock 56.09 -

Land use - 16.70 -

Other AFOLU NE   -

Electricity-only generation NO   -

CHP generation NO   -

Heat/cold generation NO   -

Local renewable generation 0.00 NO   

Sub-total 969.03 212.14

Grand total 1,181.16

Notes:

• BEIS data (left) and SCATTER data (right) 

are compiled using different 

methodologies.

• Within the SCATTER model, national figures 

for emissions within certain sectors are 

scaled down to a local authority level based 

upon a series of assumptions and factors 

taken from fuel consumption data, as 

opposed to being directly quoted emissions 

data. This is particularly of note in the 

large industrial installations subcategory.

• BASIC and BASIC+ frameworks relate to 

international reporting standards as set out 

in the GHG Protocol for Cities. 

• BASIC+ framework also requires disclosure 

of Scope 3 (“Other”) emissions for the built 

environment and transport sectors. These 

are available within the full SCATTER 

inventory available at 

www.scattercities.com

IE = Included Elsewhere

NE = Not Estimated

NO = Not Occurring

Included under BASIC framework

Included under BASIC+ framework

P
age 176

http://www.scattercities.com/


APPENDIX 2
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN BEIS & 
SCATTER INVENTORIES

19

Why does the BEIS summary differ from the SCATTER summary? 

• The BEIS summary represents CO2 only; SCATTER also includes 

emissions factors for other greenhouse gases such as Nitrous 

Oxide (N20) and Methane (CH4). These are reported as a CO2 

’equivalents (e)’.

• The BEIS summary does not provide scope split; SCATTER 

reports emissions by scope 1, 2, and 3 (i.e. direct, indirect or 

other categories) and includes more scopes than BEIS summary.

• The BEIS summary categories are not directly consistent or 

mapped to the BEIS LA fuel data which is available as a 

separate data set. SCATTER uses published fuel data and applies 

current-year emissions factors, whereas the BEIS data 

calculations scale down national emissions in each transport 

area. Specifically for road transport, BEIS data splits total 

emissions across road type; SCATTER uses total fuel consumption 

for on-road transport per LA.

• Different treatment of ‘rural’ emissions i.e. Agriculture, 

Forestry and Other Land Use (AFOLU) and Land Use, Land Use 

Change & Forestry (LULUCF) categories are derived from 

different underlying data sets.

SCATTER BEIS

Summary 1. Latest GHG Inventory by subsector

2. Pathways for emissions to 2050

Latest CO2 Inventory by 

subsector

Purpose 1. To provide each LA with an 

accurate current baseline in a 

standardised format according to 

international guidelines.

2. To model scenarios for emissions 

reduction to 2050 based on the 

baseline emissions and selected 

interventions, to support LA climate 

action planning.

To provide each LA with an 

accurate current baseline of CO2

emissions in a standardised 

format across the UK.

Scopes covered Scope 1, Scope 2 and some Scope 3. Scope 1 and 2 only.

Sources covered Stationary Energy 

Transport 

Waste 

Industrial Processes and Product Use 

Agriculture, Forestry and Land use 

Generation of grid-supplied energy

Industrial and Commercial

Domestic

Transport

Sources excluded Scope 3 emissions from Biological 

treatment, Incineration & open 

burning of waste and Wastewater.

Scope 3 emissions from Electricity-

only, Heat/cold and Local renewable 

generation.

Scope 3 fugitive emissions.

Energy generation, Waste, Off-

road transport, Rail transport, 

Waterborne navigation, Aviation.

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 177



Schematic showing how the global carbon 

budget is scaled to a local authority (LA) level. 

Bars/boxes in the diagram are not to sized scale 

of budgets 

APPENDIX 3
TYNDALL CARBON BUDGET 
METHODOLOGY

20

The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research, 

based at the University of Manchester, have 

translated the Paris Agreement targets of limiting 

temperature change below 1.5°C into a fixed 

emissions ‘budget’ for each local authority. 

The carbon budget defines a finite emissions limit 

that should not be exceeded in order that each 

local authority plays its full part in adhering to 

the Paris Agreement. 

The global budget is taken from the IPCC Special 

Report on 1.5°C and represents the latest IPCC 

estimate of the quantity of CO2 that can be 

emitted whilst remaining consistent with keeping 

global temperatures below 2°C. 

Global “well below” 2°C emissions budget

Global energy-only emissions budget

Global LULUCF & 

cement processing 

emissions

Rest of the world energy-only emissions budget 

(c. 99.4%)

UK emissions budget (c. 

0.6%)

UK 

aviation & 

shipping

UK energy-only 

budget

LA energy-

only budget

LA LULUCF 

budgetLink to full carbon budget report for High Peak

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 178

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E07000037/


APPENDIX 3
TYNDALL CARBON BUDGET 
METHODOLOGY

21

Methodology Notes

• Budget derived from IPCC AR5 synthesis report and represents a 66-100% probability of global warming not exceeding 2°C (“well below”). Due to the 

inertia in our energy systems and the amount of carbon we have already emitted, the Paris 1.5°C commitment is now only likely to be viable if 

negative emissions technologies (NETs) prove to be successful at a global scale. If the emissions reduction rates for High Peak and Staffordshire 

Moorlands are achieved and NETs are deployed at the scales assumed in the global models, then the targets adopted may be considered as a 1.5°C 

compatible. This also expressly assumes that other carbon cycle feedbacks, such as methane released due to melting permafrost etc., do not occur, 

and that an overshoot of 1.5°C does not result in increased feedbacks that further accelerate warming at lower budgets than the IPCC budgets 

currently estimate.  

• LULUCF stands for Land Use, Land Use Change & Forestry 

• UK Aviation & Shipping is accounted for at the national level. If emissions due to aviation and shipping increases, then a smaller proportion of the UK-

wide budget is available for the energy-only budget and vice versa. 

Negative Emissions Technologies (NETs)

NETs remain a highly speculative and uncertain development and are leaned upon heavily in IPCC models. 

If research, development and demonstration of NETs shows that they may work at scale, and then they are rolled out globally at unprecedented rates, 

1.5°C may theoretically be achievable. However, this is only made possible if rapid, deep 2°C mitigation begins now, and additional feedbacks do not 

occur. 

Exclusions from this budget

A key omission from this budget are emissions from aviation and shipping – the budget considers only the energy system. This “energy-only” budget also 

excludes emissions from land use, land change and forestry, as well as cement manufacturing.

The nature of aviation & shipping emissions means that responsibility is not attributed to individual authorities, but is instead accounted for at the UK 

level, as a “national overhead”. The Tyndall Centre analysis assumes that UK emissions from aviation remain constant up until 2030, followed by a steady 

reduction towards net zero carbon by 2075. 

High Peak Borough Council

P
age 179



Disclaimer

Anthesis (UK) Limited has prepared this report for the sole use of the client (High Peak Borough Council) and for the intended purposes as stated in the agreement between Anthesis and the

client under which this report was completed. Anthesis has exercised due and customary care in preparing this report but has not, save as specifically stated, independently verified information

provided by others. No other warranty, express or implied, is made in relation to the contents of this report. The use of this report, or reliance on its content, by unauthorised third parties

without written permission from Anthesis shall be at their own risk, and Anthesis accepts no duty of care to such third parties. Any recommendations, opinions or findings stated in this report are

based on facts and circumstances as they existed at the time the report was prepared. Any changes in such facts and circumstances may adversely affect the recommendations, opinions or

findings contained in this report.

22

P
age 180



Climate Change Attitude Survey
High Peak Borough Council

Report

 October 2021

P
age 181



Objectives and approach

Area % of interviews Number of interviews
Buxton and surrounding area 33% 167
Glossop and Glossopdale 33% 166
Central belt, inc Hope Valley 33% 167
TOTAL 100% 500

§ 500 telephone interviews with the general public
§ Random Digit Dialling approach – where we purchase a list of random telephone 

numbers with the relevant postcodes in order to achieve the required sample
§ Fieldwork conducted between 6th – 26th September 2021
§ Quotas were imposed as follows

Age % of interviews Number of Interviews
18 - 24 10% 51
25 - 44 31% 154
45 - 64 37% 186
65+ 22% 109
Total 100% 500

Gender % of interviews Number of Interviews
Male 49% 245
Female 51% 255
Total 100% 500

P
age 182



Objectives and approach

§ The objectives of the research were as follows:

- to assess the level of concern of impact of climate change on the borough
- to assess the level of concern over a number of factors affected by climate change
- to determine understanding of the term Net Zero
- to gather views on whether it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030
- to determine the public’s importance towards tackling climate change
- to determine the likelihood of taking actions to tackle climate change
- to find out what help required to make changed towards tackling climate change and 
achieving net zero

- to determine the importance of different factors in tackling climate change

P
age 183



Question 1a.  How concerned are you about the impact of climate 
change on our borough?

% respondents

Base: (500)

• 80% of residents (4 in 5) are 
either very or a little 
concerned about the impact 
of climate change of the 
borough.

• 19% (just less than 1 in 5) 
are not concerned at all.

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
least likely to be concerned 
(35% not concerned at all) as 
are men (27% not 
concerned) and those living 
in Central Belt (40% not 
concerned).

* caution: small sample size

Don't believe in climate change

Not concerned at all

A little concerned

Very concerned

1

19

50

30

P
age 184



Question 1b. How concerned are you about the following in relation to 
climate change?
% respondents

Base: (400. those who were concerned with climate change)

Climate refugees

Rising temperatures

Flooding

Extreme weather

Species extinction

Disease

Loss of animals, plants, habitats and 
biodiversity

Environment destruction

28

25

29

36

31

64

36

41

51

57

56

54

63

31

60

55

22

18

15

10

6

5

5

4

Very concerned A little concerned Not concerned at all• Over three quarter of 
residents are concerned to 
some extent about all 
aspects of climate change.

• Of most concern are:
- environment destruction 
(96% very or a little 
concerned)
- loss of animals, plants, 
habitats and biodiversity 
(96%)
- disease (95%)
- species extinction (94%).

P
age 185



Question 2.  How well do you think you understand what is meant by 
being Net Zero? 
% respondents

Base: (500)

Don't know

Not well at all

Not at all well

Quite well

Very well

1

6

29

46

17

• Just over 6 in 10 (63%) of 
residents understand either 
very well or quite well what is 
meant by Net Zero.

• There are no differences in 
understanding by age, 
gender or region.

P
age 186



Question 3.  Do you think it’s achievable to become Net Zero by 2030?  
% respondents

Base: (500)

Don't know

No

Yes

52

14

34

• Just over a third (34%) feel 
that it is achievable to 
become Net Zero by 2030.

• However, 14% said it isn’t 
achievable and over a half 
(52%) do not know.

• Those aged 18 -24* are least 
likely to think it is achievable 
(20% yes) as are males (24% 
compared to 44% of 
females).

• The main reasons given for 
not thinking it is achievable 
are:
-  not enough time
-  big businesses not doing 

enough
- Not all individuals are on 

board
- Other countries not 

doing enough
- Public transport is poor

*caution: small sample size

P
age 187



Question 4. How important is tackling climate change to you?
% respondents

Base: (500)

Not at all important

Not very important

Somewhat important

Very important

Extremely important

2

15

22

46

16

• 84% said that climate change 
is important to them (either 
somewhat, very or extremely)

• Approximately 1 in 6 people 
(17%) do not think it’s 
important. 

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
least likely to say it’s 
important (43% not 
important) as are those living 
in Central Belt (42% not 
important).

* caution: small sample size

P
age 188



Question 5. How likely is it you will take action on climate change?
% respondents

Base: (500)

Very unlikely

Unlikely

Neither likely nor unlikely 

Likely

Very likely

3

13

12

45

27

• Over 7 in 10 (72%) said it is 
likely (either very likely or 
likely) that they will take 
action on climate change. 
Whereas around 1 in 6 (16%) 
said that they are unlikely to 
take action.   

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
least likely to say they are 
going to take action (39% 
unlikely) as are men (23% 
unlikely compared to 9% of 
women) and those living in 
Central Belt (40% not likely).

* caution: small sample size

P
age 189



Question 6. What would help you make changes to tackle climate 
change and achieve a Net Zero High Peak by 2030? 

% respondents

Base: (500)

• When asked what would help 
them to make changes to 
tackle climate change the 
most popular response is 
financial help and incentives 
(39%), followed by more 
information (25%) and advice 
(24%).  

• 28% said that they didn’t 
need any help as they know 
what they needed to do and a 
further 18% said that they 
don’t intend to make any 
changes.

• Those aged 18 – 24* are 
most likely to say they don't 
intend to make any changes 
(41%) as are men (27% 
unlikely compared to 10% of 
women) and those living in 
Central Belt (32%).

* caution: small sample size

Don’t intend to make any changes

Don't need any help – I know what I 
need to do

Other

Support from voluntary and community 
groups

Advice

More information

Financial help and incentives

18

28

2

8

24

25

39

P
age 190



Question 7.  How important do you think it is to prioritise the following 
to tackle climate change in the borough?

% respondents

Base: (500)

The way we travel and how goods are 
transported

How we improve and maintain our 
gardens, parks, countryside and the 

natural environment

The way we use our land, where we 
build and what we build

How we heat, power and build our 
homes

The emissions from industry and 
agriculture

The way we use energy

Reducing waste and improving the use 
of resources

33

37

38

42

46

52

57

44

41

41

39

35

31

28

18

17

17

17

16

14

12

5

4

3

3

3

3

3

Very important Quite important Not very important Not at all important
• When shown a list of actions 
to tackle climate change over 
three quarters think they are 
all important to prioritise.

• The most important to 
prioritise are considered to be 
reduce waste and improving 
the use of resources (85% 
very or quite important), 
followed by the way we use 
energy (83%) 

P
age 191



Question 8.  How important do you think the following are for tackling 
climate in the borough?

% respondents

Base: (500)

Encouraging home composting 

Encouraging greater use of public transport

Encouraging walking and cycling

Increasing the use of electric vehicles through for 
example, more charging points

Encouraging volunteering and supporting local projects 
and groups

Buying local and seasonal products

Supporting allotments and community gardens

Planting trees in our towns and villages and in the 
countryside

Providing advice and support to businesses and 
residents

Protecting our green spaces, habitats and wildlife

Insulating and updating buildings and homes to 
improve their energy performance and increase use of 

renewable energy

Increasing the use of renewable energy 

Making sure that new houses are energy efficient

Minimising single use plastic in packaging or products

Encouraging the reuse, repurposing and recycling of 
waste materials

24

33

29

34

31

37

32

44

48

47

41

51

43

64

61

35

35

40

35

40

36

42

36

34

36

43

33

42

21

25

29

24

21

21

22

21

18

15

15

13

13

12

12

12

12

12

8

10

9

7

6

8

5

3

4

3

3

3

3

3

Very important Quite important Not very important Not at all important• When shown another list of 
actions to tackle climate 
change over three quarters 
think they are all important.

• The most important are 
considered to be encouraging 
the reuse, repurposing and 
recycling of waste materials 
(86% very or quite important), 
followed minimising single 
use plastic in packaging or 
products (85%), making sure 
that new houses are energy 
efficient (85%) and increasing 
the use of renewable energy 
(85%). 

• Of least important is 
encouraging home 
composting (59% important)

P
age 192



• 80% of residents are either very or a little concerned about the impact of climate change of the borough, while 
19% are not concerned at all.

• Of most concern are:
- environment destruction (96% very or a little concerned)
- loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity (96%)
- disease (95%)
- species extinction (94%).

• 63% of residents understand either very well or quite well what is meant by Net Zero.
• 34% feel that it is achievable to become Net Zero by 2030.  However, 14% said it isn’t achievable and 52% do 
not know if it’s achievable.

• 84% said that climate change is either somewhat, very or extremely important to them.
• 72% said it is likely (either very likely or likely) that they will take action on climate change. 16% said that they 
are unlikely to take action.   

• When asked what would help them to make changes to tackle climate change the most popular response is 
financial help and incentives (39%), followed by more information (25%) and advice (24%).  

• The most important areas to prioritise are considered to be reduce waste and improving the use of resources 
(85% very or quite important), followed by the way we use energy (83%) 

• The most important actions to tackling climate change are considered to be encouraging the reuse, repurposing 
and recycling of waste materials (86% very or quite important), followed minimising single use plastic in 
packaging or products (85%), making sure that new houses are energy efficient (85%) and increasing the use of 
renewable energy (85%). Of least important is encouraging home composting (59% important)

Summary

P
age 193



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Licence No. 10018411

NET

AIMING LOW: THE 
WAY TO NET ZERO
2021 TO 2030

P
age 195



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

INTROducTION
Councillor Jean Todd – Executive Member 
for Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety

The threats posed by climate change 
impacts on all of us and on future 
generations. It is the most serious challenge 
that we face.

We need everyone to come together to help 
achieve the ambitious target of becoming 
carbon neutral by 2030. The Borough 
Council has already set out how it intends 
to go about reducing its own emissions. 
This plan explains how High Peak Borough 
Council will contribute towards the borough 
becoming carbon neutral by 2030. We must 
be ambitious but also realistic about what 
the Borough Council can and cannot do. 

The Borough Council will do what it can to 
encourage a joined-up approach to tackling 
this vitally important issue that affects us all. 
But we need support from our businesses, 
residents, community groups and visitors. 

We need government to continue to build 
sustainability into key policies and laws such 
as the National Planning Policy Framework 
and Building Control Regulations. And we 
need other partner organisation such as 
the County Council, which has responsibility 
for our roads, transport and education, to 
take a lead on those areas that they have 
responsibility for. 

I ask you to support our plan because we 
will only be able to fix this problem if we 
work together. Every action, no matter how 
small can help. We all need to do what we 
can to respond to this global problem..

Title: Earth Warming Stripes 1850-2020, Ed Hawkins, University of Reading

59

P
age 196



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Councillor Anthony McKeown – Leader of 
High Peak Borough Council”

The Council’s decision to declare a climate 
change emergency was unanimous and an 
important step for High Peak. We know that 
meeting the target of becoming Net Zero 
by will be very challenging but the evidence 
of the impact to our planet if we do not rise 
across the globe to stop global warming 
is stark and undeniable. It is the time now 
to build on this joint sense of purpose and 
back our words with the necessary actions to 
address the crisis

We will only meet this challenge if we all 
come together and we invite everyone who 
lives, learns or works in the High Peak – 
and those who visit our beautiful borough 
– to join us in doing what they can to stop 
climate change starting today.

This document provides information, support 
and guidance to encourage each and every 
one of us to meet this challenge. It is the 
biggest challenge that we face and tackling 
it is one of the most important things that we 
will ever do.

OuR VISION

“High Peak Borough Council will 
be carbon neutral in its internal 
operations and the services it 
delivers by 2030

Working with partners, High Peak 
Borough will be carbon neutral by 
2030.”

OuR MISSION

Encouraging people, businesses 
and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their 
carbon footprint and making it 
easier, where we can, for those 
changes to happen

OuR STRATEGY

We will use our tools, levers and 
powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we 
focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; 
applying our values and seeking 
opportunities to deliver co-
benefits.

58

P
age 197



INTROducTION

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 The Way We 

Live

2 The Way We

Travel

3 The Way We

Work

4 The Way We

Make Energy

5 The Way We

Look After Our 
Environment

6 The Way We

Manage Waste

7 The Way We Can 

Help Change  
to Occur

Actions
Support new buildings 
to be energy efficient 
and minimise 
emissions

Reduce emissions from 
Council vehicles

Reduce emissions from 
Council buildings 

Look at generating 
green energy for 
Council buildings

Increase tree cover 
and improve nature

Reduce carbon 
emissions from our 
waste and recycling 
service

Consider Climate 
Change in all Council 
decisions and policies

Tackle fuel poverty 
and reduce emissions 
from homes

Support sustainable 
travel and 
development

Switch to green energy Promote the use of 
renewable energy

Protect and extend 
the existing green 
infrastructure

Encourage recycling 
and the green 
initiatives

Provide Councillors 
and staff members 
with appropriate skills 
and training

Support the increased 
use of EV vehicles

Buy low carbon 
products and services

Reduce the risk from 
flooding

Support community 
initiatives designed to 
reduce, recycle and 
repurpose waste

Promote climate 
change projects

Encourage people 
to make journeys by 
walking or cycling

Support the green 
economy

Work in partnership 
with our communities, 
including the most 
vulnerable

Encourage community 
climate change and 
nature projects

Support the 
development of a 
circular economy

Work with Parish 
Councils

Help businesses to get 
advice and support

Involve and engage 
our communities 
and create a more 
inclusive society

Encourage Council 
staff to adopt energy 
saving/low carbon

Lobby for change

57

P
age 198



cONTENTS

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cONTENTS

INTRODUCTION ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ 59

CLIMATE CHANGE – OUR STRATEGY ��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 55

Our Challenge .....................................................53

Our Response ......................................................45

Our Approach ......................................................42

Our Values ............................................................. 37

Our To Do List .......................................................35

THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OUR PLAN ���������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 34

1 The Way We Live ..............................................34

2 The Way We Travel ..........................................30

3 The Way We Work ............................................ 27

4 The Way We Make Energy ........................... 24

5 The Way We Look After Our  
Environment ......................................................... 22

6 The Way We Manage Waste ........................19

7 The Way We Can Help Change  
to Occur ..................................................................16

KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY) �����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������12

WHAT CAN I DO? ������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� 3

84% High Peak
people
think it’s
important
to tackle
climate
change

56

P
age 199



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY
Climate change is the greatest threat to our 
future existence. It is a global problem that 
requires global solutions. We know that we 
cannot solve the problem on our own, but 
we can take a lead role in our borough and 
use our powers and influence to support 
wider local action to reduce emissions and 
prepare for a changing climate.

The Borough Council declared a climate 
emergency on 15th October 2019 following 
unanimous, cross-party backing, and 
committed to:

‘the Council to become carbon neutral in its internal operations and the 
services it delivers, by 2030, and to work with partners to help achieve this 
target for the High Peak as a whole.’

The declaration recognises that we need 
to work together, in partnership, to respond 
to the challenge of the climate change 
emergency.

It will require the Council to change the 
historic ways of heating and powering our 
buildings and vehicles, and the goods and 
services that we procure, when providing 
essential services for our communities. 

We will need to adopt zero and low carbon 
alternatives and put climate change at the 
centre of our decision making. 

In July 2021, the Council took the important 
step of approving its first Climate Change 
plan to set out how it intends to reduce 
emissions generated by the Council’s 
activities.

55

P
age 200



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

But reducing the Council’s emissions is only a 
small part of the solution. We need to come 
together across the borough, so that all our 
residents, community groups and businesses 
are working together to respond to the 
emergency. 

“It comes down, I think, to us 
each taking responsibility for the 
personal choices in our everyday 
lives. That’s all any of us can be 
expected to do. And it is those 
everyday choices that add up”

Dr Jon Copley, University of Southampton

This plan sets out the role that the Borough 
Council can play in encouraging this 
collective action, from ensuring that local 
plans support sustainable development, 
to working in partnership with other 
organisations, to promoting good ideas 
and supporting our local community to get 
involved.

The plan sets out the first steps of the 
journey. We will update it over time to take 
advantage of new ideas and opportunities, 
and to respond to any new legislation 
and guidance, funding opportunities or 
challenges. It’s the first steps of a long 
journey but we believe that we can get there 
if we work together.

• We recognise the global climate 
emergency.

• We are committed to keeping global 
heating below the 1.5°Celsius goal of the 
Paris Agreement.

• We are committed to putting inclusive 
climate action at the centre of our 
decision-making to create thriving and 
equitable communities for everyone.

• We pledge to reach Net Zero by 2030 in 
line with global efforts to limit warming to 
1.5°Celsius.

• We invite our partners – political, business 
and community leaders; statutory 
organisations; trade unions; civic society 
and community members – to join us in 
recognising the global climate emergency 
and help us deliver on science-based 
action to overcome it.

• We invite everyone within the High Peak 
to act today and implement at least one 
measure to reduce their carbon footprint.

54

P
age 201



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR cHALLENGE

GLOBAL RISKS 

In 2020, the World Economic Forum (WEF) identified the top 5 global risks 
based on their likelihood of happening. All of the top 5 were environmental: 
extreme weather, climate action failure, natural disasters, biodiversity loss, 
and human-made environmental disasters. No environmental risk made the 
top 5 prior to 2011.

Three of the WEF’s top five global risks based on the impact that they would 
have were also environmental (climate action failure, biodiversity loss and 
extreme weather). The societal impact of water crises also featured in the 
top 5, alongside the risks associated with weapons of mass destruction.

The Global Risks Report 2020, World Economic Forum

Greenhouse gases – or GHGs - are 
released during many of the activities that 
we do day-to-day, such as driving petrol 
cars or heating homes. It is also released 
– or emitted - by industry. We call these 
‘emissions’. Carbon dioxide (CO2) is the most 

common GHG that is created by human 
activity– mainly through the burning of fossil 
fuels such as coal and gas. CO2 tends to 
remain in the atmosphere for hundreds of 
years.

The amount of Greenhouse gases from 
human activity have increased sharply 
since the industrial revolution especially in 
recent decades. This tips the ‘carbon cycle’ 
(where natural emissions of CO2 equal those 
removed) out of balance and increases the 
amount in the atmosphere.

GHGs trap heat in the atmosphere. The 
amount of CO2 in the atmosphere is now 
at its highest in several million years, and 
research shows that the heat trapped by this 
and other GHGs is increasing the average 
global temperature. This is called global 
warming..

53

P
age 202



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

“Global warming of 1.5°C and 2°C 
will be exceeded during the 21st 
century unless deep reductions in 
carbon dioxide (CO2) and other 
greenhouse gas emissions occur 
in the coming decades” 

Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science 
Basis, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC). 

Climate change is the changes in global 
weather patterns that are driven by global 
warming. The risks from climate change 
include:

• Extreme weather events.

• Environmental and economic damage.

• Further sea level rise as major ice sheets 
melt.

• Risks to health and wellbeing from 
poor equality, exposure to extreme 
temperatures, etc.

• Severe impacts on the world’s poorest 
and most vulnerable populations.

• Disruption and irreversible loss of natural 
habitats and resources.

A GLOBAL PROBLEM –  
LOcAL IMPAcTS

• Extreme weather events increase the risk 
of flooding and damage to the transport 
network. For example, on the evening of 
31 July 2019 heavy rain fell in Derbyshire 
and in particular the High Peak area 
with significant flooding in Buxton. On 1 
August 2019 the emergency services were 
alerted to the threat of a potential dam 
breach at Toddbrook reservoir, Whaley 
Bridge which resulted in the evacuation of 
approximately 550 properties. 

High Peak also experienced flooding, tree 
falls and road closures in February 2020 
as the area as affected by Storm Ciara.

• Increasing temperatures and severe 
weather events induced by climate 
change will directly and indirectly result 
in habitat alterations and increase the 
vulnerability of animal and plant species.

Sphagnum moss is especially susceptible 
to environmental changes and faces 
extinction in the event of severe climatic 
changes. 

By 2080, climate change may result in the 
loss of moorland birds, such as merlin and 
golden plover, from the Dark Peak.

52

P
age 203



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

• Drier conditions may result in rivers and 
streams becoming increasingly seasonal 
and at risk of drying up, with the risk of 
losing ponds altogether, especially dew 
ponds. 

The danger of wildfires also increases as 
peat soils dry out and woodlands suffer 
from summer drought. For example, in 
23 April 2020, a moorland fire burned for 
more than 7 days and covered an area 
of about four sq miles at Rakes Moss 
between Crowden and Glossop. The fire 
created large volumes of smoke, with 
residents many miles away in Manchester 
reporting they could smell burning and 
nearby residents and those in Stalybridge 
told to keep their windows and doors 
closed. 

The Royal Society for the Protection 
of Birds (RSPB) reported that the fire 
destroyed about £40,000 worth of its 
restoration work. 

The impacts can be far-reaching: the 
2018 wildfires at Saddleworth Moor and 
Winter Hill causing poor air quality up to 
50 miles away with five million people 
being exposed to levels of dangerous 
particulates

51

P
age 204



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

FOOD SHORTAGES HUMAN IMPACTS IMPACT ON NATURE

Ocean acidification

Sea level rise

Reduced 
fishery and 
aquaculture 
productivity

Crop failure 
and 

farmland 
loss

Flooding of 
towns and 
farmland

Coastal 
submersion

Displacement 
of people

Social and 
economic 

costs

Risks to 
human 

health and 
wellbeing

Disease Ecosystem 
collapse

Biodiversity 
loss

Altered rain patterns Extreme weather Flood Heatwave Drought Fire

Global Warming and Climate Change Other Air Pollutants e.g particulates

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

IMPAcTS OF cLIMATE cHANGE

50

P
age 205



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GLOBAL

Each of the last four decades has been 
successively warmer than any decade 
that preceded it since 1850. Global surface 
temperature was 1.09°C higher in 2011–2020 
than 1850–1900. Models predict that Earth 
will warm between 2 and 6°C in the next 
century.

The levels of emissions have increased 
dramatically since the end of World War 
II. The fastest rate of increase in the 20th 
century was in the 25 years leading up to 
1970, with an annual average rate of more 
than 5%. Since 1970 it has been around 2%.

uNITEd KINGdOM (uK): 

In 2018, UK emissions were estimated to 
be 451.5 million tonnes carbon dioxide 
equivalent (MtCO2e).

The UK’s ten warmest years on record have 
occurred since 2002 and seven of the ten 
wettest years on record have happened 
since 1998. 

Heatwaves are now 30 times more likely 
to happen in the UK due to climate change 
and the Met Office predict that, at current 
rates, heatwaves in the UK can be expected 
to happen every other year by 2050. Winter 
storms are at least 40% more likely because 
of climate change.

Title: Earth Warming Stripes 
1884-2020, Ed Hawkins, 

University of Reading

49

P
age 206



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT THE uK THINKS ABOuT cLIMATE cHANGE

Eight in ten people (80%) in March 2021 
were either very concerned (33%) or fairly 
concerned (47%) about climate change.1

Among all people apart from the 1% who did 
not believe in climate change1:

• Over six in ten (63%) thought that climate 
change is already having an effect in the 
UK.

• Half (49%) thought that climate change 
is currently affecting people in their local 
area, 70% thought it was affecting people 
in the UK and 83% thought it was affecting 
people in other countries.

• The impacts people most expected to 
occur over the next 15 to 20 years are 
rising sea levels or more flooding (63%), 
rising temperatures or hotter summers 
(60%) and more extreme events such as 
storms (60%).

Almost half (46%) of UK citizens consider 
climate change to be an urgent priority that 
requires action immediately, with a further 
28% considering it a pressing issue that 
needs addressing in the next 5-10 years2.

53% of people believe that individuals can 
have a big or fairly big impact on climate 
change, 41% believed that they could have 
not much or no impact at all, and 6% didn’t 
know3.

Climate change is a topic of high concern to 
rural citizens (87%). 60% of rural citizens think 
that we are already feeling the effects of 
climate change (56% urban).4 

1 BEIS Public Attitudes Tracker (March 2021, Wave 37, 
UK); 2 ICARO Attitudes to climate change in the UK 
Key findings, September 2020; 3 YouGov, August 2021; 
4 Britain Talks Climate, 2020

UK greenhouse gas emissions are estimated 
to have fallen by 49% between 1990 and 
2020 (but this does not include emissions 
linked to the production of goods that 
are consumed in the UK but produced 
abroad or the UK’s ‘share’ of emissions from 
international aviation and shipping). Half 
of the total cut in emissions since 1990 were 
from the energy supply sector (mainly power 
generation). Gas replaced coal for electricity 
generation during the 1990s, renewables 
(especially wind) grew in the 2010s and coal 
use has fallen further in recent years to just 
2% of generation. Energy supply emissions 
are now below those from transport which 
have not changed very much since 1990.

48

P
age 207



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

HIGH PEAK

In 2018, High Peak’s in-boundary emissions 
totalled 1,181 ktCO2e. The majority resulted 
from buildings (76%) and transport (12%).

Sub Sector Direct, ktCO2e
Indirect, 
ktCO2e

Residential buildings 110.96 43.22 
Commercial buildings & facilities 32.48 69.29 
Institutional buildings & facilities 26.49 15.04 

Industrial buildings & facilities 501.91 84.58 
Agricultural fuels - -
Fugitive emissions 13.03 -

On-road 130.66 IE   
Rail 4.83 IE   

Waterborne navigation 0.31 IE   
Aviation NO   IE   
Off-road 1.31 IE   

Solid waste disposal 29.42 -
Biological treatment NO   -

Incineration and open burning NO   -
Wastewater 5.43 -

Industrial process 72.80 -
Product use 0.00 -
Livestock 56.09 -
Land use - 16.70 -

Other AFOLU NE   -
Electricity-only generation NO   -

CHP generation NO   -
Heat/cold generation NO   -

Local renewable generation 0.00 NO   
Sub-total 969.03 212.14

Grand total 1,181.16

IE = Included Elsewhere

NE = Not Estimated

NO = Not Occurring

Included under BASIC framework
Included under BASIC+ framework

Key statistics at a glance - 
HIGH pEAK

An annual reduction rate of 
15.8% is recommended to 
keep High Peak aligned with 
Paris Agreement targets

According to BEIS statistics, 
between 2005 and 2019 the 
average annual emissions 
reduction rate in High Peak 
was just over 1%

If High Peak continues along 
a business-as-usual scenario, 
the carbon budget (2020 - 
2100) will be exceeded by 
2026

47

P
age 208



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT THE HIGH PEAK THINKS ABOuT cLIMATE cHANGE

Eight out of ten (80%) residents are either 
very or a little concerned about the impact 
of climate change.

Over eight out of ten (84%) said that 
climate change is important to them (either 
somewhat, very or extremely).

People were most concerned about 
environment destruction (96% very or a little 
concerned), loss of animals, plants, habitats 
and biodiversity (96%), disease (95%) and 
species extinction (94%).

Respondents said that financial help and 
incentives (39%) and more information (25%) 
would help them to tackle climate change.

The actions that people thought would 
be important for tackling climate change 
were minimising single use plastic (64% said 
this was very important); encouraging the 
reuse, repurposing and recycling of waste 
materials (61%); and increasing the use of 
renewable energy (51%).

Future Focus Research surveyed 500 people, 
selected randomly from across the borough, 
in September 2021 on behalf of High Peak 
Borough Council

80% people
concerned
about
climate
change

46

P
age 209



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR RESPONSE

KYOTO

11 dEcEMBER 1997: 

Developed nations pledged in the Kyoto 
Protocol to reduce emissions by an average 
of 5% by the period 2008-12.

PARIS 

12 dEcEMBER 2015: 

The Paris Agreement - a legally binding 
international treaty on climate change- was 
adopted. Its goal is to limit global warming 
to well below 2, preferably to 1.5 degrees 
Celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels.

Why 1.5?

Climate Change and Biodiversity: 

Limiting global warming to 
1.5°C above pre-industrial levels 
avoids half the risks associated 
with warming of 2°C for plants, 
animals, and insects in terms of 
climate change induced range 
loss.

Climate Change and Human 
Health: 

With 1.5°C of future global 
warming, many tropical and sub-
tropical regions will face extreme 
risks to population health from 
heat stress. These risks become 
widespread in these regions with 
temperature increases of 2.5°C to 
3°C.

Climate Change and Sea Level 
Rise: 

Global sea level rises are 
predicted to rise by up to 52cm by 
2100 with a temperature rise of 
1.5°C and up to 63cm for a 2.0°C 
rise. The additional 11 cm of sea 
level rise is projected to result in 
additional global annual flood 
costs of US$ 1.5 trillion per year 
(0.25% of global GDP) without 
adaptation. Flood cost for UK is 
projected to increase from 2.5% of 
GDP (1.5°C) to 4% GDP(2°C).

Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research 
2018, The implications of global warming of 
1.5°C and 2°C

45

P
age 210



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

uK

26TH NOVEMBER 2008: 

The Climate Change Act 2008 was 
introduced to ensure that the net UK carbon 
account for all six Kyoto greenhouse gases 
for the year 2050 is at least 80% lower than 
the 1990 baseline. 

27TH JuNE 2019: 

The UK government amended the Climate 
Change Act and set a legally binding 
target to achieve net zero greenhouse gas 
emissions from across the UK economy by 
2050 with five yearly carbon budgets to set 
actions and review progress.

HIGH PEAK

12 dEcEMBER 2018: 

The Council established a Single use plastic 
(SUP) working group to develop options for 
eliminating the use of SUPs by the Council

10 OcTOBER 2019: 

The Council approved a new corporate plan 
(2019-23) that included “Protect and improve 
the environment including responding 
to the climate emergency” as one of the 
four aims of the Council. The Council’s 
corporate plan has previously included 
aims around improving the environment, 
but this is the first time that climate change 
has been specifically named a key aim. This 
demonstrates the Council’s commitment to 
putting climate change at the heart of its 
activities.

15TH OcTOBER 2019: 

High Peak Borough Council declared a 
climate emergency. The declaration commits 
the Council to become carbon neutral in 
its internal operations and the services it 
delivers, by 2030, and to work with partners 
to help achieve this target for the High Peak 
as a whole. 

This means that by 2030 any greenhouse 
gas emissions from the borough must be 
balanced with an equivalent amount of 
emissions that are collected and stored in a 
way that keeps them safe (sequestered) or 
offset. If we do this, we become a carbon 
neutral borough with a net zero carbon 
footprint.

1 JuLY 2021: 

The Borough Council approved its 2021/22 
Climate Change Plan (Part 1), which 
focussed on reducing the Council’s own 
emissions.

44

P
age 211



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Following the declaration of a climate 
emergency, the Council introduced a 
Climate Change Working Group to help 
develop its approach.

A group of Council Officers also met 
internally to develop ideas and create the 
plan.

1 JuLY 2021: 

1 July 2021: The Borough Council approved its 
2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1), which 
focussed on reducing the Council’s own 
emissions.

We also considered information from the 
following sources when creating our plan:

• Research conducted on our behalf by 
Anthesis

• The results of a Climate Change Attitude 
carried out in September 2021. 

• Advice and guidance from High Peak 
Green Network

• A review of national and international 
guidance, and local authority plans from 
across the country.

The Council has reviewed its structures and 
the skills and capacity of the workforce that 
are needed to deliver its plans. It will also 
build the cost of delivering the Council’s 
actions within the plan into the Council’s 
annual budget and Medium-Term Financial 
Plan.

The Council carries an earmarked reserve 
set aside for initiatives responding to the 
Climate Emergency. This reserve is available 
to provide the funding for unbudgeted in-
year spend developing projects designed 
to further the Council’s ambitions around 
climate change. Once specific projects 
have been developed (and their business 
case signed off); the necessary budget 
requirements can be incorporated into the 
Medium Term Financial Plan.

43

P
age 212



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR APPROAcH

Our Vision:  
High Peak Borough Council will 
be carbon neutral in its internal 
operations and the services it 
delivers by 2030

Working with partners, High Peak 
Borough will be carbon neutral by 
2030.”

Local authorities have powers or influence 
over roughly a third of emissions in their 
local areas and UK100 estimate that local 
authorities are responsible for around 
6% of emissions. For High Peak, the local 
authorities are High Peak Borough Council, 
Derbyshire County Council, and the Peak 
District National Park Authority.

“More than half of the emissions 
cuts needed rely on people and 
businesses taking up low-carbon 
solutions – decisions that are 
made at a local and individual 
level. Many of these decisions 
depend on having supporting 
infrastructure and systems in 
place. Local authorities have 
powers or influence over roughly 
a third of emissions in their local 
areas”

Climate Change Committee, Local 
Authorities and the Sixth Carbon Budget, 
December 2020 

This means that we all have a part to play 
in tackling climate change. We see our role 
as a borough council to be to encourage 
people, businesses and other organisations 
to do what they can to reduce their carbon 
footprint and make it easier, where we can, 
for those changes to happen.

42

P
age 213



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Our Mission:  
Encouraging people, businesses 
and other organisations to do 
what they can to reduce their 
carbon footprint and making it 
easier, where we can, for those 
changes to happen.

The national Climate Change Committee 
is an independent, statutory body that has 
set out the different methods that local 
authorities can use to control and influence 
emissions and tackle climate change.

• Direct Control: the Council’s own 
buildings, operations, travel

• Procurement and commissioning & 
commercialisation

• Place shaping: using powers to control 
development and transport (transport is a 
County Council function along with things 
like highways and education)

• Showcasing: innovating, piloting, 
demonstrating and sharing good 
practice, scaling and replicating

• Partnerships: leading, bringing people 
and organisations together, co-ordinating 
and supporting others, joining others’ 
partnerships

• Involving, Engaging and Communicating: 
translating global & national climate 
change targets for local relevance; with 
stakeholders to raise awareness, involving 
people ad ideas for local solutions

41

P
age 214



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

We have used this list as a framework for 
creating our plans to achieve net zero in 
High Peak by 2030.  

“As much as 62% of the future 
reduction in emissions will rely on 
individual choices and behaviours, 
from day to day lifestyle choices 
to one off purchases such as 
replacing boilers that use fossil 
fuels or buying an electric vehicle”.

House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 2021, Achieving Net Zero

“The public need to be involved – 
over half the emissions reductions 
we identified to reach Net Zero 
actively involve people, whether 
by choosing to purchase low-
carbon technologies like electric 
cars, or by making different 
choices, for example on their 
travel and diets.”

Climate Change Committee 2020, The Sixth 
Carbon Budget: The UK’s path to Net Zero

40

P
age 215



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

We believe that we can meet our aim of 
becoming a carbon neutral Council – sitting 
within a carbon neutral borough – by 2030 
if we focus our actions on 7 Ways to Net Zero.

• The Way We Live

• The Way We Travel

• The Way We Work

• The Way We Make Energy

• The Way We Look After Our Environment

• The Way We Manage Waste, and

• The Way We Can Change to Occur.

The way we 
Live

The way we 
Travel

The way we
Work

The way we

Manage
Waste

The way we help

Change
to occur

The way we 
Make

Energy

The way we
look after our

Environment

NET

39

P
age 216



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Some actions that we can take are better 
than others at producing more lasting 
reductions in emissions. We call this the 
Carbon Management Hierarchy. In our plan, 
we will look at ways of avoiding emissions 
before we think about ways of removing or 
offsetting.

THE cARBON MANAGEMENT 
HIERARcHY

We acknowledge that climate change is 
a ‘grand challenge’ but it also presents 
opportunities. This includes improving 
people’s health and wellbeing through 
active travel and cleaner air, using nature-
based solutions to improve people’s quality 
of life, tackling deprivation by addressing 
food and fuel poverty, improving our natural 
environment through the protection and 
expansion of green spaces; and delivering 
economic growth and creating jobs. These 
are often referred to as the co-benefits of 
tackling climate change. We will look for 
opportunities to deliver co-benefits wherever 
possible.

Clean growth is one of the four Grand 
Challenges set out in the UK’s Industrial 
Strategy.

“We will maximise the advantages 
for UK industry from the global 
shift to clean growth – through 
leading the world in the 
development, manufacture and 
use of low carbon technologies, 
systems and services that cost less 
than high carbon alternatives.”

HM Government, Industrial Strategy, 
Building a Britain fit for the future

Avoid
Avoid activities that cause emissions

Most favoured option

Least favoured option

Reduce
Change activities to reduce emissions

Replace
Change sources to reduce emissions

Remove
Undertake activities to 

store emissions
O�set

O�set residual
emissions

Actions at the top produce more lasting reductions in emissions

38

P
age 217



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR VALuES
We will:

• Put climate change at the heart of our 
decision making.

• Base our decision-making on science and 
best practice wherever possible.

• Promote awareness of climate change 
and the best practices for responding to it.

• Create a framework to enable people 
and organisations to take action to 
address climate change.

• Focus our actions on those areas under 
our control and where we can have 
the greatest impact, whilst seeking to 
influence the behaviour of actions of 
others.

• Focus our efforts on delivering the actions 
within our action plan whilst also taking 
of advantage of any opportunities to 
apply for funding to support local action 
to respond to the Climate and Nature 
emergency. 

• Identify and take advantages of the co-
benefits of addressing the Climate and 
Nature emergency, such as improving 
physical health and mental wellbeing, 
achieving economic growth and 
alleviating poverty.

• Support the voluntary and community 
sector to deliver community-led projects 
and activity.

• Give priority in responding to climate 
change to the needs of vulnerable groups 
who are most at risk to the adverse effects 
of climate change, including food and 
fuel poverty, and lack of access to green 
space.

• Put inclusive climate action at the centre 
of our decision-making to create thriving 
and equitable communities for everyone.

• Embed fairness as a core principle and 
seek to ensure that the benefits of acting 
on climate change are shared widely, and 
that the costs do not burden those who 

are least able to pay, or whose livelihoods 
are most at risk as the economy changes.

• We invite our partners – political, business 
and community leaders; statutory 
organisations; trade unions; civic society 
and community members – to join us in 
recognising the global climate emergency 
and help us deliver on science-based 
action to overcome it.

37

P
age 218



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

Our Strategy:  
We will use our tools, levers and 
powers and apply the Carbon 
Management Hierarchy as we 
focus on our 7 Ways to Net Zero; 
applying our values and seeking 
opportunities to deliver co-
benefits.

OuR FEEdBAcK

We will provide regular updates on what we 
have achieved throughout the year and a 
final update once each year has ended.

We will also provide reports on specific 
actions within our plan, such as the 
introduction of new policies or strategies, 
and the delivery of projects. Information 
about the delivery of the plan will also 
be included within the Council’s quarterly 
performance reports.

The Council’s reports are available on the 
Council’s website and members of the public 
can watch the committees either in person 
or on-line.

We will also seek ways of talking directly with 
our communities throughout the year.

36

P
age 219



cLIMATE cHANGE – OuR STRATEGY

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

OuR TO dO LIST
We know that our plans will need to change 
as the climate emergency landscape 
inevitably shifts over time. With that in mind, 
we will make sure that we review our plans 
regularly so that they remain fit-for-purpose. 
We will update our website whenever we 
make changes to our plan.

In the next 12-months we will also:

• Further develop our approach to target 
setting including milestones for action. 
The release of the Census 2021 data will 
help us to establish baselines.

• Enhance our monitoring procedures to 
make sure that the actions that we are 
taking are having an impact

• Embed Climate Change activity within the 
Council’s annual budget and Medium-
Term Financial Plan.

• Deliver the actions under Aim 4 of our 
corporate plan (Aim 4: Protect and 
improve the environment including 
responding to the climate emergency)

• Include mandatory Carbon Literacy/
Awareness training for all new Council 
employees

• Analyse the Council’s procurement 
emissions1

• Conduct a borough-wide pathway 
analysis1

• Hold a series of workshops to further 
develop a picture of ‘how’ various 
measures are implemented across the 
borough and the Council’s role in these1.

1 Anthesis – who are the leading 
sustainability experts globally – have been 
commissioned to undertake this work on 
behalf of the Council.

35

P
age 220



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

1 THE WAY WE LIVE

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Emissions from residential buildings totalled 
154 ktCO2e within High Peak in 2018. This 
figure estimates emissions arising from 
the consumption of energy in residential 
buildings of all types and tenures, including 
social housing, rented accommodation and 
privately-owned properties. 

The most significant source of emissions 
from households comes from the use 
of energy for heating and hot water. 
Most of this is achieved through natural 
gas consumption, with gas demand for 
heating making up 67% of residential 
building emissions. The second most 
significant source of emissions is the use 
of grid supplied electricity to the borough 
for lighting, appliances and cooking, 
which makes up around 22% of residential 

emissions. The remainder is made up of 
small contributions from other fuel types.

In 2019, official figures show that 13.1% of 
households in High Peak were living in fuel 
poverty (compared to an average of 13.8% 
for the whole of England). In High Peak 
approximately 3,460 private sector homes 
fail the Decent Homes Standard on thermal 
comfort. A greater proportion of private 
rented homes do not meet the required 
standard for thermal comfort (14.0%) than 
owner occupied homes (8.5%). 

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

5% of High Peak of Private Sector 
homes will be below the Decent Homes 
Standard on thermal comfort by 2025 
and 0% by 2030.

10% of households will be living in fuel 
poverty by 2025 and 0% by 2030.

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
residential buildings in High Peak by 
2030..

34

P
age 221



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Place shaping
1.1 New buildings and other 

development within the 
Borough will have high 
levels of energy efficiency 
and minimise carbon 
emissions

Work with the Vision 
Derbyshire Climate 
Change Sub-group to 
review the Local Plan to 
further increase the focus 
on climate change

Timetable for Local Plan 
review to be agreed in 
Spring 2022 

The Derbyshire 
Renewable Energy Study 
is due in 2022

Revised Local Plan 
approved with increased 
focus on climate change

Clarity needed from 
Government regarding 
their reforms of the 
planning system which 
will determine the scope 
and role of Local Plans in 
tackling climate change. 

Head of 
Development 
Services

Produce a Developer 
Contributions 
Supplementary Planning 
Document to consider 
scope for guidance on 
S106 agreements that 
can be negotiated under 
the current Local Plan. 
This work will consider 
the scope for climate 
change measures that 
can secured in the short/
medium term under 
current policy.

2022 Increased funding 
secured from developers 
to support climate change 
adaptation and mitigation 
measures. 

Scope for developer 
contributions is limited 
by the viability of 
development. 

Head of 
Development 
Services

Work with the Vision 
Derbyshire Climate 
Change Sub-Group to 
develop guidance for 
climate change mitigation 
and adaptation. A metric 
to assess planning 
applications in terms of 
the above is also being 
developed alongside the 
guidance. 

2022 Supplementary Planning 
guidance introduced

Increased awareness of 
opportunities to address 
climate change through 
developments

Head of 
Development 
Services

33

P
age 222



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.2 We will support action 
including retrofitting 
to reduce fuel poverty, 
prevent health hazards 
relating to damp and 
excess cold. and reduce 
emissions from homes

We will update the 
Council’s private sector 
housing policy to include 
a greater emphasis 
on improving energy 
efficiency in privately 
rented housing.

December 2022 Revised Private Sector 
Housing Policy approved 
with increased focus on 
sustainability

 Head of Regulatory 
Services

We will enforce Minimum 
Energy Efficiency 
Standards (MEES) in the 
private rented sector

On-going Number of enforcement 
actions

Head of Regulatory 
Services

Examine opportunities 
for the Council to 
train assessors and 
coordinators in the PAS 
2035 standard

December 2022 Policy produced Head of Assets

Partnerships

1.3 We will work in 
partnership to combat 
fuel poverty, help 
residents to heat their 
home and address 
the public health 
consequences of climate 
change.

We will work in 
partnership with 
Derbyshire County, the 
Local Authority Energy 
Partnership and others to 
tackle fuel poverty

On-going Number of properties 
supported

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

32

P
age 223



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

1 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.4 We will support action to 
reduce school-related 
carbon emissions

We will encourage the 
County Council to support 
schools to cut carbon 
emissions, such as by 
participating in the LESS 
CO2 programme and 
accessing Salix finance, 
and to ensure that school 
meals are delivered in 
accordance with the 
official Eatwell Guide  

On-going Reduced emissions from 
schools

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

We will promote the Eco 
Schools programme.

Number of Eco Schools in 
the Borough

1.5 Supporting the 
development of zero 
carbon buildings

We will develop a 
roadmap to achieve net 
zero carbon new buildings 
from 2030 through 
adopting appropriately 
worded policies in the 
replacement Local 
Plan following public 
examination

2022 Head of 
Development 
Services

Involving, Engaging and Communicating

1.6 Encourage the insulation 
of existing homes across 
the Borough as well as the 
installation of other green 
energy solutions

We will use our influence 
to strongly promote any 
successor schemes to the 
Green Homes Grant

On-going This depends upon the 
introduction of successor 
schemes

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

1.7 We will consult on the 
Local Plan review

Approach to be 
determined in Spring 2022

Head of 
Development 
Services

31

P
age 224



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 THE WAY WE TRAVEL

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Transport is the largest emitting sector of 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, producing 
27% of the UK’s total emissions in 2019. Of 
this, the majority (91%) came from road 
transport vehicles. The biggest contributors 
to this were cars and taxis, which made up 
61% of the emissions from road transport, 
followed by Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) 
(18%) and vans (17%).

International aviation emissions (which are 
not counted towards the UK’s total domestic 
emissions) have more than doubled in the 
period 1990- 2019 (a 138% increase).

Emissions from transport totalled 137 ktCO2e 
in High Peak in 2018. On-road transport 
dominates the emissions in this sector; 
Department for Transport data indicate that 
over 4.1 billion vehicle miles were driven 
across the Borough’s roads in 2018. The 
proportion of electric vehicles in the Borough 

has grown significantly in recent years, but 
still constitutes less than 1% of the overall 
number of registered vehicles.

Approximately 63% of people aged 16-74 in 
the High Peak travel to work by driving a car 
or van. 

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

40% of commuter journeys will be made 
by public transport, cycling and walking 
by 2025 and 45% by 2030.

There will be Net Zero vehicle-related 
emissions in line with Government 
targets.

30

P
age 225



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
2.1 We will reduce 

emissions from Council 
vehicles and Council-
related activity

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of 
Transformation

Place shaping
2.2 We will reduce 

transport-related 
emissions by 
encouraging 
sustainable 
development

As part of the next review of 
the Local Plan, consider further 
opportunities for supporting electric 
vehicles as well as ensuring that 
future developments are well-
connected to bus routes and 
walking and cycling networks

Timetable for Local 
Plan review to be 
agreed in Spring 
2022

Revised Local Plan 
approved with 
increased focus on 
reducing travel and 
transport related 
emissions

Increased take up of 
Electric Vehicles

Head of 
Development 
Services

We will encourage and 
support the increased 
use of EV vehicles

We will support the development 
of a County EV charging point 
strategy and installation plan for 
the Borough.

March 2022 Strategy and plan 
produced

The approach helps 
to provide a consistent 
approach across Derbyshire. 
The development of the 
strategy will be led by the 
County Council and requires 
timely buy-in from all 
boroughs

Head of Assets

We will review the Taxi Licensing 
Policy to consider updating the 
vehicle standards and including a 
specification for emissions

December 2022 New policy approved Head of Regulatory 
Services

29

P
age 226



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

2 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Partnerships
2.3 We will work in 

partnership to reduce 
travel and transport 
related emissions

We will support the County Council 
to deliver measures for tackling 
climate change within their Local 
Transport Plan 

We will encourage and support 
Derbyshire County Council to take 
action to encourage sustainable 
travel including,

- improving pedestrian and cycle 
routes across the borough

- Support improvements to public 
transport, including the scope to 
support Gamesley Stations

On-going Derbyshire County 
Council deliver 
schemes to encourage 
sustainable travel 
solutions

Head of 
Regeneration

We will encourage 
people to make 
journeys by walking or 
cycling (“active travel”) 
rather than by car. This 
will include a specific 
focus on helping and 
encouraging the most 
vulnerable sections 
of our communities to 
become more active.

Support the development of a 
cycling and walking plan for Buxton

To be agreed Plan produced Head of 
Regeneration

Support the completion of the 
Pennine Bridleway in Glossop

To be agreed Bridleway completed Head of 
Regeneration

Support the completion of the White 
Peak cycle loop

To be agreed Loop completed Head of 
Regeneration

28

P
age 227



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 THE WAY WE WORK

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

The most significant contributor to 
Derbyshire High Peak’s emissions is the non-
residential buildings sector, totalling 730 
ktCO2e across commercial, institutional and 
industrial buildings in 2018.

The most significant source of emissions 
from non-residential buildings is coal 
consumption in industrial buildings. As 
with residential buildings, the next most 
significant contributions to these totals is 
natural gas consumption for heating and hot 
water and electricity for appliances, lighting 
and cooking.

Industrial processes which describes 
emissions from all non-energy related 
processes in industrial facilities, such as 
manufacturing and production of chemicals, 
metals and minerals produced 73 ktCO2e of 
emissions in 2018.

Net livestock and land use, which accounts 
for emissions from rearing livestock and 
manure management netted off against 
emissions sequestered by the natural 
environment, accounted for 39 ktCO2e of 
emissions in 2018.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
non-residential buildings by 2030

27

P
age 228



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
3.1 We will reduce energy use 

and improve the energy 
efficiency of Council 
buildings including Leisure 
Centres 

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Assets

3.2 We will switch the 
Council’s energy supply to 
100% green energy

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Assets

Procurement and commissioning & commercialisation
3.3 We will reduce the 

number of products 
purchased by the Council, 
chose low carbon/carbon 
neutral products where 
possible, and seek to 
use contractors who are 
working towards carbon 
neutrality

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Service 
Commissioning

Partnerships
3.4 We will seek to influence 

local economic priorities 
and activities to drive 
growth of the green 
economy and creation of 
local, green jobs. This will 
include supporting out 
vulnerable communities 
and those who will be 
most harmed by climate 
change

Work with the Local 
Enterprise Partnership 
to ensure that their 
decisions are in line with 
the rapid growth of the 
green economy, climate 
reduction pathways and 
nature restoration plans.

This will include promoting 
the re-training of workers 
in high carbon industries 
to low carbon sectors.

On-going LEP has an increased 
focus on the greener 
economy and greener 
jobs in the Borough

Head of 
Regeneration

26

P
age 229



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

3 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

3.5 We will support work 
aimed at promoting a 
circular economy

On-going Head of 
Regeneration

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
3.6 Provide advice and 

support to businesses
We will signpost people 
to appropriate sources 
of information via our 
website

March 2022 Information posted on 
Council website

Head of 
Regeneration

3.7 Encourage and enable 
energy saving/low carbon 
behaviour by all council 
staff

We will deliver campaigns 
aimed at reducing energy 
consumption and carbon 
emissions.

This will include delivering 
‘carbon literacy’ training 
to help staff members 
to identify opportunities 
for cutting carbon are 
maximised throughout 
council services.

On-going The Council becomes 
a carbon literate 
organisation

25

P
age 230



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

4 THE WAY WE MAKE ENERGY

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from 
the power sector were 65 MtCO2 in 2018, 
which is 15% of the UK total. These emissions 
come from the burning of coal and gas 
for electricity, with a small proportion 
from oil and other small-scale embedded 
generation: Gas plants contribute to 70% of 
power emissions. They provide 40% of total 
electricity generation. Coal accounts for 
23% of emissions but only 5% of generation. 
The remaining 7% of emissions come from 
oil and a variety of other small generation 
sources (Climate Change Committee, The 
Sixth Carbon Budget: Electricity generation)

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

Renewable energy target to be 
developed.

24

P
age 231



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

4 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
4.1 We will investigate 

options for generating 
green energy for Council 
buildings

We will Commission 
expert advice to review 
the Council’s estate and 
develop an action plan

April 2022 Options reported to 
Council after review 
completed

Head of Assets

Place shaping
4.2 We will promote the use of 

renewable energy
Review the Local Plan and 
consider measures such 
as:

- Identifying areas 
suitable for renewable 
energy and produce 
guidance,

- Investigate options for 
community and Borough 
heat networks

Timetable for Local Plan 
review to be agreed in 
Spring 2022

Derbyshire Renewable 
Energy Study due 2022

Revised local plan 
adopted outlining 
approach to renewable 
energy proposals

Head of 
Development 
Services

23

P
age 232



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 THE WAY WE LOOK AFTER OuR ENVIRONMENT

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Climate change can have a devastating 
impact on our natural environment, but 
restoring and improving nature can help us 
to reduce emissions.

Well-functioning, fertile soils maintain our 
food and timber supply. They store carbon 
and support a diverse range of organisms 
that form part of the terrestrial food chain 
for wildlife

UK peatlands are one of the most important 
terrestrial natural stores for carbon. They 
are estimated to store over 25 times the UK’s 
total current annual emissions and store an 
order of magnitude higher than the carbon 
stored in trees. However, the area of land 
suitable for peat forming vegetation in the 
uplands could decline by between 50% and 
65% by the 2050s

The abundance and distribution of UK 
terrestrial and freshwater species has 
declined by 13% since 1970. Upland areas 
face particularly acute risks, with 75% of 
present-day upland species potentially 
facing a decline in climate suitability by the 
end of the century under a medium level of 
warming

Particulate matter with an aerodynamic 
diameter of 2.5μm or less (PM2.5) has 
a significant impact on human health, 
including premature mortality, allergic 
reactions, and cardiovascular diseases. The 
2019 fraction of mortality attributable to 
PM2.5 pollution in High Peak is 5%, which is 
below the national average of 5.1%. There 
are two areas within High Peak where air 
pollution exceeds that target values for 
the protection of human health. These are 
known as Air Quality Management Areas 
(AQMA) and the two areas are Tintwhistle 
and Dinting Vale. 

The percentage tree cover for the Borough 
is 20% with urban tree cover in High Peak is 
estimated to be around 20%

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

Mortality attributable to PM2.5 pollution 
across the Borough will remain below 
the national average. 

Annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) will 
be reduced by 17.6 μg/m³ in Tintwhistle 
and by 15.14 μg/m³ in Dinting Vale by 
2030 

There will be 21% urban canopy cover by 
2025 and 24% by 2030.

We will develop further targets when we 
prepare our biodiversity strategy..

22

P
age 233



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
5.1 We will increase tree 

cover, and improve 
wildlife habitats and 
biodiversity

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of 
Communities & 
Climate Change

Place shaping
5.2 We will protect and 

enhance the existing 
green infrastructure 
resource within the 
Borough’s towns and 
villages

We will develop and 
extend the existing 
elements of green 
infrastructure, where 
necessary, to create a 
multi-functional network 
that links existing and 
proposed green spaces

We will implement 
planning policies adopted 
through the Local Plan.

This will include 
developing a Biodiversity/
Green Infrastructure that 
supports the Local Plan

Timetable agreed Spring 
2022

Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Head of 
Development 
Services

5.3 We will encourage 
action and mandate 
implementation of 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
requirements through 
planning to conserve and 
improve biodiversity in the 
Borough

We will develop a 
Biodiversity/Green 
Infrastructure Strategy 
that supports the Local 
Plan

March 2022 Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Head of 
Development 
Services

Head of Service 
Commissioning

21

P
age 234



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

5 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

5.4 We will encourage tree 
planting and create 
a framework for the 
planting of new trees

We will develop a Tree 
Strategy that supports the 
Local Plan

March 2022 Strategy adopted by the 
Council

Number of new trees 
planted

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Partnerships
5.5 We will work with the 

County Council and 
others to reduce the risk of 
flooding in the Borough

We will support delivery 
of the Derbyshire Local 
Flood Risk Management 
Strategy

On-going Head of 
Development 
Control

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
5.6 We will support projects 

to involve families and 
young people in nature-
based projects 

We will support the Fairer 
for Nature and Buxton 
Wild Weeks programmes 
and seek to extend the 
approach to other areas  

On-going Number of initiatives 
delivered

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Number of families and 
young people engaged

5.7 Work in partnership 
with our communities, 
including the most 
vulnerable to protect and 
improve the environment

We will work with High 
Peak CVS, Connex, New 
Mills Volunteer Centre, 
The Bureau and others to 
develop our approach

March 2022 Approach agreed

Numbers engaged

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

20

P
age 235



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 THE WAY WE MANAGE WASTE

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

Emissions from waste from the Borough 
totalled 35 ktCO2e in 2018. This includes Solid 
waste disposal emissions and wastewater 
emissions. 56% of household waste is reused, 
recycled, or composted in the Borough. The 
target for residual waste per household was 
475kg in 2021/22.

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

51% of waste will be reused, recycled or 
composted by 2025.

There will be 465 kg or less residual 
waste per household in 2021/22

There will be Net Zero emissions from 
waste by 2030.

19

P
age 236



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
6.1 We will implement 

measures to reduce 
carbon emissions from 
the Council’s waste and 
recycling service

We will continue to review 
the efficiency of existing 
waste collection rounds 
and make appropriate 
changes 

On-going Reduced mileage and 
therefore reduced 
emissions

The Government could 
require the Council to 
collect waste streams 
different which could 
increase the number 
of vehicles required to 
deliver these services. This 
could have a negative 
impact on mileage and 
increase emissions if we 
still use diesel vehicles.

Head of Service 
Commissioning

We will encourage our 
community to recycle 
waste

On-going Increased rate of 
recycling, reduction of 
residual waste collected 
per household

New direction by 
Government could lead to 
changes to services which 
frustrate residents but 
hopefully would lead to 
increased performance

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Partnerships
6.2 We will work with 

Derbyshire County Council 
and other Derbyshire 
Councils to encourage 
recycling and the broader 
greener agenda

We will work with the 
Derbyshire Waste 
Partnership to develop 
and implement a joint 
Waste Management 
Strategy

On-going Strategy developed and 
implemented

All local authorities 
are awaiting new 
Government direction 
on proposed changes to 
waste services as stated in 
the Resource and Waste 
Strategy (RAWS) 2018

Head of Service 
Commissioning

18

P
age 237



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

6 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Involving, Engaging and Communicating
6.3 We will encourage and 

support community 
initiatives designed to 
reduce, recycle and 
repurpose waste

We will support 
community initiatives 
where we can

Number of initiatives Lack of community 
schemes either already in 
existence or a lack of new 
initatives

Head of Service 
Commissioning

17

P
age 238



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 THE WAY WE cAN HELP cHANGE TO OccuR

WHY IS THIS A PRIORITY?

More than half of the emissions cuts needed 
rely on people and businesses taking up 
low-carbon solutions

WHAT ARE OuR TARGETS?

The Borough Council will become a 
Carbon Literate Organisation by 2020

All Town and Parish Councils will be 
supported to take action to tackle 
climate change

16

P
age 239



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

Direct Control
7.1 We will ensure that 

climate change 
implications are 
considered in all Council 
decisions and key policies

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan Head of Democratic 
Services

We will ensure that our 
Councillors and Council 
staff have the training 
and skills required to 
contribute to the Council’s 
carbon zero target.

We have set out our approach in our HPBC Climate Change Plan

We will also work towards becoming a Carbon Literate Organisation by December 2022

Head of Democratic 
Services

Head of 
Transformation

We will create a more 
inclusive society

We will collect information on the needs of frontline communities with respect to climate planning and/or 
implementation

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Showcasing
7.2 Promote climate change 

project, schemes and 
initiatives

Encourage shop local 
schemes

March 2022 Head of 
Regeneration

Promote green tourism March 2022 Head of 
Regeneration

We will share relevant 
good practice, and 
promote schemes and 
programmes that reduce 
our carbon footprint

December 2021 Number of schemes, etc 
promoted

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

15

P
age 240



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

7.3 Encourage and support 
community-led delivery 
of sustainability and 
biodiversity initiatives. 
In particular, we will 
encourage and support 
activity involving the most 
vulnerable members of 
our communities and 
those who will be most 
harmed by climate 
change..

We will work with local 
Community and Voluntary 
Sector organisations to 
help develop and support 
local sustainability groups

On-going Number of community 
groups supported

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

We will support 
community projects, 
including through the 
Community Climate 
Change budget.

Budget available each 
financial year

Projects supported Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

Partnerships
7.4 We will work with Parish 

Councils to enable them 
to take local action to 
address Climate Change, 
including developing their 
own climate action plans. 

We will provide support to 
Parish Councils through 
the Parish Assemblies

On-going Climate Change features 
on Parish Council 
agendas

Head of Democratic 
Services

Involving, Engaging & Communicating
7.5 We will use our influence 

to make changes to local, 
regional and national 
legislation, policies 
and guidance where 
appropriate

We will respond to 
consultations, engage in 
relevant partnerships, and 
lobby for change

On-going Number of consultations 
responded to

Executive Director 
(Place)

14

P
age 241



THE WAY TO NET ZERO - OuR PLAN

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

7 What will we do? How will we do it When will we do it How will we know it’s 
working?

What else needs to 
happen?

What could stop us from 
making it happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

7.6 We will help the 
community to keep up to 
date with the latest ideas, 
advice and information 
about climate change

We will make extra effort 
to reach groups such 
as vulnerable members 
of our community, 
high carbon emitting 
businesses, farmers and 
landowners.

We will produce a 
Communications & 
Engagement Strategy 
that includes a focus on 
climate change education

We will deliver a 
communications 
campaign

December 2021 

On-going

We will publish our 
strategy on our website

Number of campaigns 
delivered

Head of 
Transformation

7.7 We will provide our 
communities with 
opportunities to take part 
in shaping and delivering 
climate change activity. 

We will produce a 
Communications & 
Engagement Strategy

We will deliver a series of 
engagement events

December 2021

On-going

We will provide details 
of the results of our 
engagement activities

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

7.8 Provide advice and 
support to residents, 
businesses and others

We will signpost people 
to appropriate sources 
of information via our 
website

Website updated by 
December 2021

We will monitor the 
number of people that 
visit our website

Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change

7.9 Encourage utility 
companies to replace any 
trees that are removed to 
allow them to carry out 
maintenance work

The Council will ask utility 
companies to replace 
trees at their own cost

On-going Number of trees replaced Head of Assets

13

P
age 242



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AcTIVE TRAVEL

Walking, cycling, or using some other form 
of physical activity for all or part of a journey 
instead of using a car or other motorised 
transport.

You can find more information here 

www.activetravel.org.uk

AIR QuALITY MANAGEMENT 
AREAS (AQMAS)

An area where air pollutant concentrations 
exceed / are likely to exceed national air 
quality objectives. AQMAs are declared for 
specific pollutants and objective.

You can find more information about the 
AQMAS in High Peak here: Pollution - 
High Peak Borough Council and general 
information about AQMAS here: DEFRA Air 
Quality Objectives

BIOdIVERSITY

The variety of animal and plant life in any 
environment.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Natural History Museum: What 
is biodiversity?. 

You may also be interested to watch David 
Attenborough’s - Extinction: The Facts

BLuE INFRASTRucTuRE

The network of rivers, canals, ponds, 
wetlands, floodplains, water treatment 
facilities, etc. Green infrastructure refers to 
trees, lawns, hedgerows, parks, fields, forest.

cOMPENSATION

Storing or removing emissions rather than 
avoiding or reducing.

cARBON BudGET

A simplified way to measure the additional 
emissions that can enter the atmosphere to 
stay below 1.5C (or any other temperature 
limit).

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Carbon Budget - what is it and 
why is it important?

cARBON cYcLE

The carbon cycle is the way carbon is stored 
and replaced on Earth. The main ways 
that carbon gets into the carbon cycle are 
volcanoes, and the burning of fossil fuels 
like coal and gas. The main way carbon 
gets taken out of the atmosphere is by 
photosynthesis by living organisms.

12

P
age 243

https://www.activetravel.org.uk/
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/341/Pollution
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/341/Pollution
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/Air_Quality_Objectives_Update.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=XTC4qiXd36Q
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=XTC4qiXd36Q
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000mn4n/extinction-the-facts
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m000mn4n/extinction-the-facts
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=blsTXGFdeDk
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=blsTXGFdeDk


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cARBON dIOXIdE EQuIVALENT 
(cO2E)

Different greenhouse gases, such as 
methane, nitrogen oxides, etc., have 
different impacts on the greenhouse 
gas effect. The gaseous emissions from 
greenhouse gases can be converted to the 
amount of CO2 needed to create the same 
effect. This is called the Carbon Dioxide 
equivalent (CO2 e) and allows reporting of a 
single figures for emissions.

cARBON FOOTPRINT

A carbon footprint is the total amount of 
greenhouse gases (including carbon dioxide 
and methane) that are generated by our 
actions

You can calculate your own footprint here:

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/

cARBON LITERAcY

Being aware of the impact of everyday 
activities on the climate, and knowing what 
steps can be taken to reduce emissions as 
an individual, a community group, or an 
organisation, and why it’s important that we 
all take these steps. 

You can find more information here 

https://carbonliteracy.com/

cARBON MANAGEMENT 
HIERARcHY

Some actions are better than others at 
producing more lasting reductions in 
emissions. Avoiding emissions in the first 
place needs to be prioritised over actions 
that remove or offset omissions.

cARBON NEuTRAL

Carbon neutral means that the amount of 
carbon that is emitted (released) is the same 
as that absorbed from the atmosphere. To 
achieve net zero emissions, all worldwide 
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions will 
have to be counterbalanced by carbon 
sequestration.

cARBON SINK

Any system that absorbs more carbon than 
it emits. The main natural carbon sinks are 
soil, forests and oceans.

11

P
age 244

https://footprint.wwf.org.uk/#/
https://carbonliteracy.com/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

cIRcuLAR EcONOMY

A model of production and consumption, 
which involves sharing, leasing, reusing, 
repairing, refurbishing and recycling existing 
materials and products as long as possible. 
This is in contrast to the traditional, linear 
economic model, which is based on a take-
make-consume-throw away pattern.

A circular economy is based on three 
principles:

• Design out waste and pollution.

• Keep products and materials in use.

• Regenerate natural systems – favouring 
the use of renewable resources and 
enhancing natural systems by returning 
valuable nutrients to the soil.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Ellen McArthur Foundation’s 
Humans Changed the Face of the Earth, 
Now We Rethink Our Future

cLEAN ENERGY

Energy that creates little or no greenhouse 
gases and that does not pollute the 
atmosphere energy when used. 

cLIMATE cHANGE

Climate change is the changes in global 
weather patterns that are driven by 
global warming. If you want to know 
more, then you may want to watch David 
Attenborough’s Climate Change - The Facts.

cLIMATE cO-BENEFITS

Positive outcomes from action that are not 
directly related to climate change mitigation. 
Such co-benefits include cleaner air, green 
job creation, public health benefits from 
active travel, and biodiversity improvement 
through expansion of green space.

cLIMATE ENVELOPE

The climate where a species currently lives.

cOMMuNITY ORcHARdS

Community orchards are places for people 
to come together to plant and cultivate local 
and unusual varieties of fruit, and sometimes 
nut, trees often planted among grass full of 
wildflowers.

10

P
age 245

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=A5wn_iinbxw
https://www.bbc.co.uk/iplayer/episode/m00049b1/climate-change-the-facts


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

dOuGHNuT EcONOMY

An economic theory developed by University 
of Oxford economist Professor Kate Raworth 
that suggests that a thriving human 
existence is only possible by considered use 
of available resources. The theory suggests 
that we risk catastrophic effects that are 
harmful to human life if we use too much 
of the available resources and that using 
earth’s resources unwisely can also lead to 
a shortfall, with humans existing in danger 
and hardship.

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch Kate Raworth explain Doughnut 
Economics.

EcO-ScHOOLS

A programme that allows young people to 
introduce and lead environmental actions 
and education in their school.

You can find more information here: Eco 
Schools

EEMS

Energy Efficiency Measures

ELEcTRIc VEHIcLES (EV)

Electric vehicles are powered by electric 
motors. They get some or all their power 
from large, rechargeable batteries. Different 
categories include: 

All-electric EVs, where the battery is the only 
power source.

Plug-in Hybrids (PHEVs), which can switch 
between running on electricity or fossil fuels.

Hybrids (HEVs) which do not plug in and 
have a much smaller battery which is 
recharged while driving.

Fuel Cell Vehicles that generate their own 
electricity on-board from a fuel such as 
hydrogen.

EV cHARGING

There are three main types of charger:

Slow Typically rated up to 3kW with a 
charge time of 8-10 hours

Fast Typically rated at either 7kW or 22kW 
with a charge time of 3-4 hours

Rapid Typically rated from 43kW with a 
charge time of 30-60 mins (only compatible 
with EVs with a rapid charging capability)

The choice of connectors depends on the 
charger type (socket) and the vehicle’s 
inlet port. On the charger-side, rapid 
chargers use CHAdeMO, CCS (Combined 
Charging Standard) or Type 2 connectors. 
Fast and slow units usually use Type 2, 
Type 1, Commando, or 3-pin plug outlets. 
On the vehicle-side, European EV models 
(Audi, BMW, Renault, Mercedes, VW and 
Volvo) tend to have Type 2 inlets and the 
corresponding CCS rapid standard, while 
Asian manufacturers (Nissan and Mitsubishi) 
prefer a Type 1 and CHAdeMO inlet 
combination.

9

P
age 246

https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=Ziw-wK03TSw&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/watch?app=desktop&v=Ziw-wK03TSw&feature=youtu.be
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/
https://www.eco-schools.org.uk/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

EMISSIONS

Emissions are things (in this cases gases) 
that are given off or released into the air 
from things like factories and cars.

For our purposes, it is the release of the 
seven greenhouse gases specified in the 
Kyoto Protocol.

ENERGY EFFIcIENcY

Using less energy to do the same thing, 
such as heat a home. This can lower fuel 
consumption, reduce emissions and help 
tackle climate change. Measures to improve 
energy efficiency within buildings can 
include the installation of loft or cavity wall 
insulation (improving the energy efficiency 
of the building) or installing new appliances 
that are more energy-efficient (such as new 
heating systems).

EPc RATING 
ENERGY PERFORMANcE 
cERTIFIcATE (EPc)

This shows how much a building will cost 
to heat and light, what its carbon dioxide 
emissions are likely to be and what 
improvements can be made to improve its 
energy efficiency. An EPC rates a property 
in bands from A (most efficient) to G (least 
efficient) and is valid for 10 years from the 
date it’s issued. 

FOSSIL FuELS

A fuel (oil, coal or gas) that was formed from 
the remains of living organisms millions of 
years ago. Fossil fuels are non-renewable 
energy resources which are harmful for the 
environment because they release carbon 
dioxide, and other greenhouse gases and 
harmful air-polluting gases, when they burn.

GLOBAL WARMING

Global warming is the term used to describe 
the rising of the average temperature on 
Earth. It has to do with the overall climate 
of the Earth rather than the weather on any 
given day.

GREEN ENERGY

Energy from natural sources, such as the sun 
and wind.

8

P
age 247



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GREEN INFRASTRucTuRE

The network of green spaces including green 
roofs, living walls, parks, nature reserves, 
backyards and gardens, waterways and 
wetlands, streets and transport corridors, 
pathways and green corridors, squares and 
village greens, sports fields and cemeteries.

The National Planning Policy Framework 
defines Green infrastructure as: “A network 
of multi-functional green space, urban and 
rural, which is capable of delivering a wide 
range of environmental and quality of life 
benefits for local communities”.

The term is often used to also include ‘blue 
infrastructure.’

GREEN INFRASTRucTuRE 
PLANNING

Providing networks designed to link existing 
(and proposed) green spaces with green 
corridors running through towns, villages 
and rural areas.

GREEN JOBS

Jobs that have a direct, positive impact 
on the planet such as renewable energy, 
electric transport, energy efficiency or nature 
conservation.

GREEN SPAcE

All natural and semi-natural areas where 
vegetation such as trees, lawns, hedgerows, 
parks, fields, woods and forests grow (or 
could grow).

GREENHOuSE EFFEcT

The greenhouse effect is the rise in 
temperature that the Earth experiences 
because greenhouse gases trap energy 
from the sun.

GREENHOuSE GASES

Greenhouse gases are gases in Earth’s 
atmosphere that trap heat. They let sunlight 
pass through the atmosphere, but they 
prevent the heat that the sunlight brings 
from leaving the atmosphere. 

The Kyoto Protocol identifies seven 
greenhouse gases: Carbon dioxide 
(CO2), Methane (CH4), Nitrous oxide 
(N2O), Hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs), 
Perfluorocarbons (PFCs), Sulphur 
hexafluoride (SF6) and Nitrogen trifluoride 
(NF3).

If you want to find out more, you may want 
to watch The Royal Society’s The Basics of 
Climate Change

7

P
age 248

https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/climate-change-evidence-causes/basics-of-climate-change/
https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/projects/climate-change-evidence-causes/basics-of-climate-change/


KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

GREEN TOuRISM 

Small scale tourism that encourages people 
to visit natural areas and minimize their 
impact on the local environment

Ecotourism is a type of green tourism where 
the flora (vegetation)  and fauna (wildlife) 
are the principal attractions

Sustainable Tourism, according to the 
United Nations World Tourism Organization 
is “Tourism that takes full account of 
its current and future economic, social 
and environmental impacts, addressing 
the needs of visitors, the industry, the 
environment and host communities.”

HABITATS

A habitat is a place where an animal lives 
and provides it with food, water and shelter. 
There are many different sorts of habitats 
around the world polar regions, to forests, 
grasslands and deserts.

LOcAL PLAN

Local Plans are prepared by Local Planning 
Authorities and provide a local guide to what 
can be built where and shape how land use 
and places will change and develop in the 
future. Planning applications need to be 
in line with Local Plans otherwise they are 
unlikely to receive planning permission.

MASTER PLAN

A master plan is a long-term planning 
document that provides an ideal, imagined 
layout to guide land use and development.

MINIMuM ENERGY EFFIcIENcY 
STANdARdS (MEES)

The Domestic Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standard (MEES) Regulations set a minimum 
energy efficiency level for domestic private 
rented properties.

OFFSET

A carbon offset is a reduction in emissions of 
carbon dioxide or other greenhouse gases 
made to compensate for emissions made 
elsewhere. This includes things like land 
restoration or the planting of trees.

PAS 2030 STANdARd

Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 2030 
is a British Standards Institute (BSI) that sets 
out the requirements for commissioning, 
installation and handing over of Energy 
Efficiency Measures in existing buildings.

6

P
age 249



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

PAS 2035 STANdARd

Publicly Available Specification (PAS) 
2035 is a British Standards Institute (BSI) 
standard that applies to existing buildings 
and provides a procedure for building 
assessment, a guide to selecting the most 
appropriate energy efficiency measures 
and instructions for long-term monitoring. 
It also sets out the minimum standards of 
qualifications, roles and responsibilities, for 
anyone carrying out retrofitting

PROcuREMENT

The process by which goods or services are 
obtained, usually for business purposes.

RENEWABLE ENERGY

Energy from recyclable sources. most green 
energy sources are also renewable, not all 
renewable energy sources are considered 
entirely green.

REPuRPOSING

Adapting or finding a new use for something 
instead of throwing it away once it has been 
used.

RETROFITTING

Modifying existing buildings, vehicles or 
equipment to make them more energy 
efficient and reduce emissions.

ScOPE 1/2/3 EMISSIONS

Scope 1: direct emissions from owned or 
controlled sources.

Scope 2: indirect emissions from the 
generation of purchased electricity, steam, 
heating and cooling consumed by the 
organisation.

Scope 3 includes all other indirect emissions 
that occur in an organisation’s value chain.

5

P
age 250



KEY TERMS (GLOSSARY)

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

SEQuESTRATION

Removing carbon dioxide from the 
atmosphere and then storing it is known as 
carbon sequestration.

SINGLE uSE PLASTIcS 
(SuPS)

Goods that are made primarily from fossil 
fuel–based chemicals (petrochemicals) and 
are meant to be disposed of after use. SUPs 
are most commonly used for packaging, 
bottles, wrappers, straws, and bags.

SuSTAINABLE dEVELOPMENT

Development that meets the needs of the 
present without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs

SuSTAINABLE TRAVEL

Travelling in a way that minimises our 
negative impact on the planet.

uPcYcLING

Reusing objects or material that has been 
thrown away to create a product of higher 
quality or value than the original.

4

The way we travel

P
age 251



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

WHAT cAN I dO?
You can eliminate waste, reduce your 
carbon footprint and start making an impact 
right away by committing to some or all 
of the following actions. This isn’t a list of 
everything that you can do but we hope it 
gives you some ideas.

FOOd

• Set a goal of reducing the food waste in 
your home from its current levels.

• Commit to only buying what you need 
and eat what you buy.

• Avoid air-freighted food when they are 
out of season.

• Buy local food and support the local 
economy.

• Don’t leave the house without a reusable 
cup.

ELEcTRIcITY

• Take basic steps that cost nothing: turn 
lights off, hang washing out to dry, wash 
at a lower temperature and keep showers 
short. 

• Wear a jumper rather than turn the heat 
up, turn the thermostat down and turn 
radiators off in empty rooms (if you can 
without risking your health).

• Seek help if you are struggling to keep 
warm

• If you can afford to invest in your home, 
prioritise the carbon cutting measures 
that have the biggest impact: insulation 
(starting with drafts, then the loft, 
windows and walls), smart heating 
(efficient boilers, remote controls that 
include radiators), and lastly considering 
solar panels or heat pumps.

• Consider options for buying electricity 
from a green energy provider if they can 
demonstrate that your bill goes entirely 
towards additional renewable power.

TRANSPORTATION

• Aim to fly less and support your local 
economy through staycations

• Cut car emissions by walking, cycling, 
using public transport, car sharing or 
working from home.

• Consider buying an electric or plug-in 
hybrid if you can and only if you need a 
new car. 

3

P
age 252



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

PuRcHASES 

• Consume less

• Consume wisely. Consider the supply 
chain and think about the carbon 
footprint, fair livelihoods and all other 
sustainability criteria. 

• Buy local.

• Buy high quality things where you can 
and make them last, buy things that are 
designed to be repairable and sell on or 
give away when you have finished with 
them.

• Choose the most energy-efficient white 
goods. 

INVESTMENTS

• Use any money you have to help create 
the future you want to see.

• Look at options for investing in pension 
and saving schemes that don’t support 
fossil fuel companies and prioritise those 
that invest in the things we urgently need, 
such as renewables and reforestation.

“Very few of us are squeaky clean 
in carbon terms. You don’t have 
to become so overnight but most 
of us do need to make serious 
changes over the next few years. 
It’s important to keep moving in 
the right direction and enjoy the 
process of cutting carbon out of 
our lives. Don’t beat yourself up, 
but don’t let yourself off the hook 
either.”

Professor Mike Berners-Lee, Lancaster 
University

2

P
age 253



WHAT cAN I dO?

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO

dO ALL YOu cAN

• Put a plan in place and 
work your way through it.

Adopt the 5 R’s

• Refuse – say no to the stuff 
that you don’t need and that 
becomes instant waste

• Reduce – what do you 
actually need, how much do 
you need, how long it will 
last?

• Reuse – can you reuse 
or repair it before throwing 
stuff away?

• Recycle – aim for 
products that can be 
recycled and then put them 
in the correct bin

• Rot – how about 
composting?

1

High Peak

The waY WE MANAGE WASTE

P
age 254



THE FINAL WORd
“We are at a unique stage in our history. 
Never before have we had such an 
awareness of what we are doing to the 
planet, and never before have we had the 
power to do something about that. Surely 
we all have a responsibility to care for our 
Blue Planet. The future of humanity and 
indeed, all life on earth, now depends on us.”

David Attenborough, “Our Blue Planet”

0ZER

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

The Executive 
 

9 December 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Proposed programme of works to Toddbrook 
Reservoir spillway 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 

Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation) 

 

WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 

Whaley Bridge; 

 

 
Appendices Attached  
Appendix A: Memorial Park Landscape Design 

Appendix B: Tempoary Play Area Location Plan 
Appendix C: Cross Section Of Bypass Water Channel 

Appendix D: Draft Heads Of Terms 
Appendix E: Lease Area Plan 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To update members as to the progress of the proposed programme of works 
to Toddbrook Reservoir spillway and highlight the key implications affecting 
the Council for consideration.  

 
2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That the Executive approves the proposals subject to: 

 Formal approval of the proposed scheme by the Development Control 

Committee. 

 Receiving approval from the Charity Commission and HLF for the 

proposed scheme. 

 That the appropriate Council land asset is disposed of in order to facilitate 

the dam rebuild and reduce the Council’s ongoing maintenance liability. 

 That the Canal & Rivers Trust (CRT) pick up all costs incurred by the 

Council associated with supporting delivery of the proposed scheme.  
 

 

Page 257

Agenda Item 8



  

2.2 That authority is given to the Executive Director (Place), in consultation with 
the Leader of the Council, to authorise the disposal of the required land to 
CRT and to enter into any necessary legal documents in respect of the 

disposal. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Memorial Park is situated within the centre of Whaley Bridge and runs almost 

 the complete length of the town. It is a formal urban park but is surrounded by 
 open countryside, adjacent to the Peak District National Park Authority 

 boundary and the Goyt Valley. The site is exclusively owned by High Peak 
 Borough Council and is designated as a Protected Major Park. Although not 
 within the Conservation Area of Whaley Bridge, the park sits closely to this 

 designated area. 
 

3.2 In 2009 the Council was successful in securing a development grant from the 
 Heritage Lottery Parks for People fund (HLF) for the park and subsequently 
 submitted a Stage 2 application in April 2010 to secure funding for a wide 

 range of improvements to the park. The funding secured from the HLF totalled 
£615,200 and this enabled major improvements in the park which included the 

restoration of the cenotaph and memorial area, enhancement of the main 
entrances to the park, resurfacing of pathways and the installation of a new 
play area.  

 
3.3 On 1st August 2019, after a significant period of rainfall, a large section of the 

 concrete spillway supporting the Toddbrook Reservoir collapsed. The reservoir 

 and concrete splillway sits directly above the bottom of the park and the 
collapse of the spillway resulted in a major emergency planning situation with 

the majority of residents from the town of Whaley Bridge being evacuated 
whilst the emergency services worked to reduce the level of the water in the 
reservoir to avert a significant flooding disaster. 

 
3.4 After immediate essential repairs had been undertaken, discussions with the 

 CRT began around their requirements for a permanent solution to the spillway 
 in order to mitigate any further flooding and the effect that this was likely to 
have on the park. Initial investigation work undertaken by the CRT highlighted 

13 potential options but it was confirmed that only two were feasible to deliver, 
both with significant implications for the park, namely Option A and Option B. 

Both options were put out to public consultation in September 2020 by the 
CRT, with the favoured public response being Option A, which is detailed in 
this report as Appendix A.   

 
3.5 The CRT have a statutory responsibility under the Reserviors Act 1975 to 

make  provision against escapes of water from large reservoirs artificially 
created and so officers and representatives from the CRT have been working 
through the detail of Option A to understand the technical requirements of a 

new spillway, what a new engineered structure would look like, how it would 
deal with future event flooding, the impact of this new structure on the 

Memorial Park and implications for the local community’s use of the park. 
 

3.6 Officer engagement with the CRT has been extensive throughout 2021 and 

Page 258



  

has involved officers from various of the Council’s service areas including 
Service Commissioning, Assets, Legal Services and Development Control. 
This was to ensure that, as the landowner, HPBC was comfortable with the 

CRT design proposals which would have a major impact on the look and feel 
of Memorial park following construction but also during it. 

 
3.7 On 22/10/2021 the CRT submitted a planning application (HPK/2021/0607) to 

the Council which details the proposed scheme for formal consideration and, 

as part of this, there is the opportunity for residents and stakeholders to 
provide formal comments.  

 
3.8 Should planning permission be granted, officers from the Council would 

support the CRT to deliver the project successfully, whilst ensuring that any 

conditions of the planning decision are met fully, that the Council’s interests 
are protected and the implications highlighted in this report are resolved 

satisfactorily.   
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 priortises protecting and improving the 

natural environment, including responding to the climate emergency and, 
within this, the objective of effective provision of quality parks and open 
spaces. 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 Various alternative options have been explored with the CRT and 
subsequently discounted for a range of reasons. This option is now the 

preferred one, subject to satisfactory resolution to the points highlighted within 
section 2 of this report.   

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
None 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed as part of the 
preparation of the report. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 

Any costs associated with the Council supporting the effective 
delivery of the preferred option will be reimbursed in full by the 
CRT. 

Page 259



  

 
6.5 Legal 

 

6.5.1 In order to facilitate the rebuild of the dam, CRT require a             
controlling land interest which currently resides with the Council. 

Details of the proposed land transfer can be found in section 12 of 
this report. 
 

6.5.2  The power to dispose of this land is contained under section 
123 of the Local Government Act 1972. The power is subject to the 

Council obtaining consideration not less than the best that can 
reasonably be obtained. Once the detail of the draft Heads of terms 
are finalised, the District Valuer will be instructed to provide a 

valuation for the disposal of a 999 year leasehold interest 
 

6.5.3 The Council holds the freehold to the land which is subject 
to:- 
 

a. A charitable trust. This trust is registered with the Charity 
Commissioners and as the land intended to be disposed of will not 

be replaced, an Order giving permission to the disposal will need to 
be sought from the Charity Commission.  
 

b. A restrictive covenant. This covenant states that permission 
must be obtained from the holder of the covenant, before any 
building is erected other than a building to be used in connection 

with the use of the land as a public park or recreation ground. As 
the works are not intended to create a building but a channel which 

will be publicly accessible and be created sympathetically to the 
surroundings and continue to form part of the park, it is considered 
consent is not required. 

 
6.5.4  Prior to disposal, an Open Spaces Notice under S123 (2A) of 

the Local Government Act 1972 will need to be advertised in a 
local newspaper circulating in the area. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 

The CRT proposal does request that some mature trees will 
require removal. The impact and associated mitigation is detailed 
in the planning application.  

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
As detailed in section 9.6 of the report. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

As considered throughout the report. 
 

 

Page 260



  

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

CRT Website – Restoring Toddbrook Reservoir Robert Wilks 
Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation) 
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk 

 

 
7. Detail 

 
7.0 Whaley Bridge Memorial Park  
 

7.1 Memorial Park is situated within the centre of Whaley Bridge and runs almost 
 the complete length of the town. It is a formal urban park but is surrounded by 

 open countryside, adjacent to the Peak District National Park Authority 
 boundary and the Goyt Valley. The site is exclusively owned by High Peak 
 Borough Council and is designated as a Protected Major Park. Although not 

 within the Conservation Area of Whaley Bridge, the park sits closely to this 
 designated area. 

 
7.2 There are four public rights of way across the site: Footpaths 28, 29, 32 and 

105, with the river Goyt running along the eastern edge of the park which 

means that part of the park is also a flood plain.  There is a designated wildlife 
site along the river edge and flood plain area of the park and Derbyshire 

Wildlife Trust have produced a report on the nature conservation value of the 
site. 

 

7.3  Along with the park’s nature conservation interest, it also has a number of 
facilities to attract visitors and regular users. These include: the Memorial and 

its setting; woodland and watercourses including the River Goyt; extensive 
path network; horticulture features; toddler and junior play area and basketball 
court; junior and senior football pitch with sports pavilion and changing 

facilities; concrete skatepark and adjacent pump track; and bespoke street 
furniture including notice boards, signage and litter bins. 

 
7.4 Toddbrook Reservoir sits above the park on its eastern edge and although 
 owned and manged by the Canal and River Trust, it is very much seen as part 

 of the park landscape with established linking walks from the park to the 
 reservoir and beyond. 

 
7.5 As well as a very active Friends of Memorial Park Group, Whaley Bridge 

benefits from a wealth of community organisations, many of whom see the  

park as integral to projects which enhance the town. The park is already well 
used for events by the Friends, Taxal and Fernilee Primary School, the Royal 

British Legion, Junior Park Run and Christmas Lantern Parade. Overall, 
Memorial Park provides an invaluable cultural and recreational resource for 
the local community in Whaley Bridge and it is the only park in the town.  

 
7.6 Although there had been developments over the years to cater for changing 

needs it was clear that the park required significant investment to meet 

Page 261

https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/about-us/where-we-work/north-west/restoring-toddbrook-reservoir


  

community desires and aspirations and provide good quality  recreational 
opportunities for the residents of Whaley Bridge and surrounding rural areas 
that used the park.  

 
8.0 The Heritage Lottery Parks for People Fund Restoration Project 

 

8.1 In 2009 the Council were successful in securing a development grant from the 
 Heritage Lottery Parks for People fund (HLF) for the park and subsequently 

 submitted a Stage 2 application in April 2010 to secure funding for a wide 
 range of improvements to the park.   

 
8.2 The funding secured from the HLF totalled £615,200 and enabled major 
 improvements in the park which included the restoration of the cenotaph and 

 memorial area, enhancement of the main entrances to the park, resurfacing of 
 pathways and the installation of a new play area. 

 
8.3 In November 2011 the council was awarded a grant of £84,290 from the 
 Aiming High Programme and an additional grant of £49,999 gained through  

 Whaley Bridge Association which allowed the installation of a new skatepark 
 and pump track in the park. These facilities were additional to the planned 

 HLF programme for the park. 
 
8.4 Arising from the funding provided by the HLF and the programme of works 

 undertaken in the park, a contract was entered into with the Council and the 
 HLF, the result of which makes the latter organisation a key stakeholder in 
 terms of any future changes or developments in the park. 

 
9.0 Toddbrook Dam Incident  

 
9.1 On 1st August 2019, after a significant period of rainfall, a large section of the 

concrete spillway supporting Toddbrook Reservoir collapsed. The reservoir 

and concrete splillway sits directly above the bottom of the park, specifically 
the children’s play area, as well as adjacent to the football pitches.  

 
9.2 The collapse of the spillway resulted in a major emergency planning situation 
 with the majority of residents from the town of Whaley Bridge being evacuated 

 whilst the emergency services worked to reduce the level of  the water in the 
 reservoir to avert a significant flooding disaster. 

 
9.3 Water was pumped from the reservoir into the River Goyt to reduce the levels 
 and this was eventually achieved within a few days of the collapse. Access to 

 the reservoir by the emergency services and the CRT was required through 
 the top of the park and this resulted in emergency plant and machinery being 

 situated on the junior football pitch.  
 
9.4 Once the initial emergency was averted, the occupation of the junior football 

 pitch by the CRT was formalised and this has become their current works 
 compound whilst temporary repairs to the spillway have been undertaken and 

 investigation work done to determine a new permanent solution to the 
 spillway. Whilst the adult football pitch has remained in use by Whaley Bridge 

Page 262



  

 Football Club the junior teams have had to move out of Whaley and have been 
 temporarily rehomed at nearby facilities at Furness Vale and Chinley. 
 

9.5 After immediate essential repairs had been undertaken, discussions with the 
CRT in order to mitigate any further flooding began around their requirements 

for a permanent solution to the spillway and the affect that this was likely to 
have on the park. Initial investigation work undertaken by the CRT highlighted 
13 potential options but it was then confirmed that only two were feasible to 

deliver, both with significant implications for the park – namely Option A and 
Option B. 

 
9.6  Option A proposed the creation of a new spillway channel near the sailing 

club, entering the park at the northern end of the play area and exiting into the 

River Goyt, and Option B proposed the creation of a new spillway channel 
near the existing skatepark, cutting through the woodland and centre of the 

park and exiting into the River Goyt at the bottom. Both options were put out to 
public consultation in September 2020 by the CRT with the favoured public 
response being Option A.   

 
9.7 The CRT have a statutory responsibility under the Reserviors Act 1975 to 

make provision against escapes of water from large reservoirs artificially 
created. It was clearly in the best interests of the local community of Whaley 
Bridge for the Council to work with the CRT to find the most suitable solution 

to ensure the future safety of Toddbrook Reservoir, particularly if that impacted 
significantly on Council owned land. 

 

9.8 A Strategic Group was established in early 2021 with Council officers from 
various service areas and representatives from the CRT to work through the 

detail of Option A. This was to understand the technical requirements of a new 
spillway, what a new engineered structure would look like, how it would deal 
with future event flooding, the impact of this new structure on the Memorial 

Park and implications for the local community’s use of the park.  
 

10.0 Canal & River Trust Proposals 

 
10.1 Following several Strategic Group meetings and site visits to the Memorial 

Park a preferred design and layout for the new spillway channel has now been 
informally agreed. This design, which is currently under consideration by the 

Council’s development control team (HPK/2021/0607) incorporates both the 
CRT’s engineering and safety requirements and those of the Council in terms 
of providing a safe, high quality play area for the local community whilst 

protecting the landscape and heritage value of the park. 
 

10.2 The proposed design which shows the new spillway channel and its impact on 
the Memorial Park can be seen in Appendix A. The design proposes that a 
new concrete spillway will start from the north east corner of the reservoir 

passing through the current sailing club car park. Before it enters the park, a 
large stilling basin with two concrete turrets will be installed and it is here 

where the new, narrower, open water channel enters the park, running along 
the southern edge of the play area until it discharges into a short section of 
existing bywash channel and then into the River Goyt. 

Page 263



  

 
10.3 The new water channel will be an open, shallow water feature which will be 

publicly accessible with a limited amount of constant water flow. The proposed 

terraced landforms which can be seen in Appendix C will also be accessible 
for use as informal seating areas and the CRT are proposing an area of 

‘stepping stones’ across the channel as an added feature as well as a 
footbridge over it. 

 

10.4 The existing large concrete auxillary spillway will be decommissioned and the 
 area grassed over, as can be seen at other nearby reservoirs, including 

 Fernilee. Although remaining in the ownership and management of the CRT, 
 this grassy bank will be publically accessible and will provide links into the 
 park over the new proposed footbridge and vice versa.  

 
10.5 In terms of the existing play area, this will need to be reconfigured to make 

allowance for the new water channel. During the construction phase, all items 
from the existing play area will be removed and, due to playground safety 
standards, cannot be re-installed once work is complete. All items will be 

replaced in the new design and Appendix A provides the layout for the new 
play area once work has been completed, with the older children’s equipment 

being located to the north of the site and toddler equipment to the south. The 
replacement play equipment will be exactly the same as the original items 
except for the zip wire which cannot be accommodated in terms of safety 

space within the new configuration. Two additional new items of equipment 
have been proposed and will be integrated into the banked area. Alternative 
options for the basketball post are being considered. 

 
10.6  During the construction phase it has been agreed to install a new temporary 

play area at the top of the park. This will be located in a corner of the existing 
junior football pitch which is no longer occupied by the CRT, and will be 
adjacent to the 3G multi use games area benefitting from the existing access 

paths – see Appendix B for proposed new location of temporary play area. 
 

10.8  This new play area will be in situ for as long as the CRT works are taking 
place. Once these works are completed, and the existing play area is open for 
use again, this equipment will be decommissioned and the junior football pitch 

can be re-instated. The play area is being funded by the CRT and is being 
supplied and installed by Wicksteed play company so it will conform to all 

playground safety standards. Once the installation is complete, the site will be 
inspected and maintained by AES.  

 
11.0 Implications for the Park  

 

 Length of Construction  
 
11.1 It is anticipated that the works to install the new the proposed spillway with 

 associated stilling basin and water channel will take three years. During this 
 time, a large section of the park, including the existing play area, will not be 

 available for public use. It will also mean that access to and from the park at 
 Reservior Road will be prohibited. This will affect access for those residents 
 living at north end of Whaley Bridge as well as safe school routes to Taxal and 

Page 264



  

 Fernilee Primary School. The nearest access into the park for these residents 
 will be Wheatsheaf Road. 
 

  
 Play Area Reconstruction 

 
11.2 As stated at section 10.5 and 10.6, the existing play equipment will need to be 
 removed in its entirety. A new temporary play area will be installed at the top 

 of the park next to the existing multi-use games court for the duration of the 
 works, but will be decommsioned when the existing play area is re-instated 

 and to allow works to commence to re-instate the junior football pitch. 
 
11.3 Appendix A includes the proposed layout for the reconstruction of the play 

area which has been developed with the careful thought and oversight of 
officers, supporting the CRT design process. Although the layout is slightly 

altered to accommodate the new spillway, new identical items of play 
equipment will be installed as well as a couple of additional items. At present, 
the cableway cannot be accommodated alongside the basketball area but 

discussions with the CRT will continue to see where these items could be 
accommodated. 

 
11.4 In addition to the play equipment will be the creation of a new water feature 
 which will be integral to the play space and can be accessed directly by the 

 public as well as over it on the new proposed footbridge.  Public perception will 
 need to be managed in terms of concerns about open water in a public open 
 space where children are encouraged to play. The new channel will be very 

 shallow. See Appendix C with cross sestions showing the channel depth. 
 

 Trees 
 

11.5  There will be loss of some trees in the direct works area, of particular note are 

 the two large sycamore trees in the play area, in the line of the proposed 
 splillway. The CRT is working closely with the Council’s Tree Officer to look at 

 replanting and other ecological enhancements with the intention of providing a 
 10% net gain in biodiversity. Whilst we are committed to providing this gain, 
 the intention in the play area itself is to keep this as open as possible with 

 good sight lines and visibility as was set out in the original HLF design and 
 layout. Therefore, the wider park area is being considered for additional 

 planting and ecological enhancement. 
 
 HLF Implications 

 
11.6 Once design Option A was agreed as the preferred option for the spillway and 

it was clear this was going to impact on the park, discussions began with the 
HLF to inform them about the location and siting of the new spillway. Initial 
concerns were raised by the HLF with regard to whether there would be a 

requirement for the Council to pay back some of the grant monies received for 
the park refurbishment project.  

 
11.7 In between meetings with the CRT to agree the design and layout for the 

spillway in the park, the HLF were kept fully informed of the proposals by 

Page 265



  

officers and this involved ensuring that comments and concerns provided by 
the HLF were fed back to the CRT and were incorporated into the proposed 
design. The main requirement of the HLF is to ensure that this area of the park 

remains as to close to the original design and layout as agreed as part of the 
restoration project, once the work is completed, and this is reflected in the final 

design. 
 
11.8 On the 27th August, the Council wrote formally to the HLF to update on the 

current position and provide the final agreed design and layout for the park. A 
response was received on 9th September to state that the revised final design 

was an improvement and that they would be in touch if they had any further 
queries. To date there have been no further queries and therefore on this 
basis, whilst not confirmed in writing, it is considered unlikely that any grant 

monies will have to be paid back.  Officers will continue to provide updates on 
the works to the HLF when the project progresses. 

 
 Re-instatement of junior football pitch 
 

11.9 The junior football pitch has been used as a works compound for the CRT 
since the collapse of the dam making the pitch completely unusable for junior 

football. A reduction in the size of the compound over the last few months has 
now enabled some of the open space to be utilised by the public for informal 
recreation and as part of the Junior Parkrun weekly event. The plan is also to 

use a section of this space to site the new temporary play area as previously 
stated. 

 

11.10 From the outset, the CRT have made a commitment to re-instate the junior 
pitch ensuring it is fit for purpose as a grass playing pitch. There will have 

been a significant impact on the ground and so an enhanced re-build of the 
pitch is therefore required and this work will be completed once the spillway 
works have been completed and when the CRT formally exit the park. 

 
11.11 When work to re-instate the junior pitch is starting to be considered, the 

 intention of the Council will be to engage with the CRT, Whaley Bridge AFC 
 and other partners to consider where there may opportunities to enhance or 
 add value to these existing playing facilities with the support of the Football 

 Foundation, Derbyshire Football Association and Sport England.  
 
12.0 Asset Management Implications 

 
12.1 The Council owns Memorial Park under two Titles; the north area under 

DY290861 and the remainder of the Park under DY392003. Title DY290861 is 
held by the Council on a long lease (999 years from 29 September 1923) as a 

charity trustee.  Both Titles form part of Asset 82 on the Asset Register. 
 
12.2 The Council currently holds the maintenance liability for the existing channel.    

The construction of the new channel will require the CRT to acquire an interest  
in Council owned land that is registered under Title DY290861. The acquisition 

will allow the CRT to hold the maintenance liability for the new channel. 
 

Page 266



  

12.3 Heads of Terms (HoTs) for the transfer of the land are being negotiated and 
the latest version of the draft Heads of Terms are attached as Appendix D. Still 
to be confirmed is the capital value for the land interest. This will be evidenced 

by a valuation undertaken by the District Valuer, which will be commissioned 
once all the detail is agreed.   

 
12.4 The construction of the new channel will require a temporary construction 

compound for the duration of the works which will be recognised by a separate 

licence arrangement.  Separate licence agreements will also be required for 
access to the land for the construction of the spillway, and to also include the 

agreed reinstatement of these sites. An acceptable fee for the temporary use 
of the Council’s land will be agreed with CRT. 

 

12.5 Once the HoTs have been agreed they will form the basis of the lease 
agreement along with the various licences to form an Agreement for Lease to 

include the preconditions of the works. The detail of these conditions will be 
confirmed.  

 

12.6 Officers propose that the remaining term of the 999 year lease that is held by 
the Council on the strip of land that the CRT want to build the new channel on 

is transferred to the CRT. A plan of the proposed area for lease can be found 
in Appendix E 

 

12.7 Access rights over the land that is to be transferred will be kept by the Council  
 and the permitted use of the land is to be “Spillway” only. 
 

12.8 As the transfer of the land via a long lease is effectively a disposal, a valuation 
of the land will be required. The District Valuer (DV) will be requested  to 

evidence that best consideration has been achieved in this case to satisfy the 
provisions of the Local Government Act. It has been agreed that CRT be 
responsible for all costs relating to this.  It is not anticipated that the capital 

sums agreed will be significant in their value.  
 

 
  
 

 
 

Page 267



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 269



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 271



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P\R

STONE WALL

P\
R

ST
O

N
E 

W
AL

L

I\R

STONE W
ALL

STONE W
ALL

Cw I\R

P\R

P\R

P\
R

TAR
M

AC

RIVER GOYT

I\R

STONE W
ALL

Bw

G3.8

G0.8

G0.8

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

G1.1

G0.9

MG

STUMP

MG

G1.6

MG

G1.6

G2.8
G1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G1.2

G1.2
G1.5

G1.6

G1.3

MG

G2.4

G0.6

MG

G1.0

G0.8

G0.8

G0.8 G0.8

MG

G1.0
G1.6

G1.0

G1.7
G0.8

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

G0.7

G1.0

G0.6
G1.6

STUMPSTUMP

MG

MG

MG

MG

(8.10.20)

MGMG

MG

G0.8

(8.10.20)

CB

MH

MG

0.350Ø

0.350Ø

(27.11.20)

(27.11.20)

MA11

2.5 Metres21.51

Scale 1:50

0 0.5

A1 A

9

B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P

Job No

Drawing Status

Discipline

Scale at A1

Drawing No Issue

Drawing Title

Issue Date By Chkd Appd

Job TitleClient

10

8

7

6

5

4

2

1

3

Do not scale © Arup

P1277087-00

1:50 S3 - Suitable For Review & Comment

Landscape Architecture

Landscape Concept Design
Whaley Bridge Memorial Park 
Illustrative Sections (1 of 2)

Toddbrook ReservoirCanal & River Trust

13 Fitzroy Street
London W1T 4BQ
Tel +44 (0)20 7636 1531 Fax +44 (0)20 7580 3924
www.arup.comP01 01/04/2021 SS AM MJ

First Issue

P11742-ARP-YL-001
-001-DR-AL-2103

K

K

21
03

L

L

21
03

M

M

21
03

Illustrative Section  K - K
Scale 1:50 @ A1

Illustrative Section  L-L
Scale 1:50 @ A1

Illustrative Section  M-M
Scale 1:50 @ A1

TURRETS AT EXIT TO STILLING BASIN 
TO ENGINEERS DESIGN

GRASS TERRACES FOR INFORMAL SEATING AND 
ACCESS TO WATER CHANNEL

GRASS TERRACES WITH GABION WALLS FOR 
INFORMAL SEATING

LINEAR STEPPING STONES FOR ACCESS ACROSS 
WATER CHANNEL AND PLAY

SCATTERED STEPPING STONES AS A PLAYFUL 
FEATURE WITHIN THE CHANNEL

Notes
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant
drawings and specifications, including but not limited to:
- Landscape General Arrangement Plan (P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-0112)
- Typical Soft Landscape Details (P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-2101)
- Typical Hard Landscape Details (P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-2102)

Further hard surfacing may be required. TBC upon completion of hydraulic analysis and modelling

P
age 273



T
his page is intentionally left blank



           1 of 3 

Heads of Terms 
 

SUBJECT TO CONTRACT 

WITHOUT PREJUDICE 

 
DATE:  4 November 2021 

 

1. Preamble: 

 

The Canal & River Trust acting as Trustee of the Waterways Infrastructure 

Trust own Toddbrook Reservoir and marginal lands. As part of the ongoing 

Reservoir works project, the Canal & River Trust (the Trust) wish to de-

commission the auxiliary spillway and replace the existing channel with a 

new 1/100 year outer channel following a new profile line to connect the 

stilling basin to the River Goyt. As the channel now stands High Peak 

Borough Council (HPBC) hold the maintenance liability for the channel 

downstream of the stilling basin. The construction of the new outer channel 

will require the Trust to acquire an interest in the land shown shaded dark 

green (held [under an unregistered  long lease by HPBC as a charity trustee]   

(the freehold being registered at Land Registry under Title number 

DY290861 and also held by HPBC). The existing and new channel are within 

Whaley Bridge Public Park. The acquisition will allow the Trust to hold the 

maintenance liability for the new outer channel. The construction of the 

Channel will require a temporary Construction Compound for the duration of 

the Works. The Construction Compound will require the Play Area to be 

temporarily relocated within the vicinity of the existing Area. The temporary 

Construction Compound to be recognised by separate licence arrangement. 

 

 

2. Property: 

 

Part of Land within Whaley Bridge Public Park lying to the South East of 

Reservoir Road, Whaley Bridge. Shown shaded dark green on the Plan. 

3. Term: Term remaining under the 1923 Indenture less 3 days. 

4.  Rent: A peppercorn (if demanded) 

5. Landlord: High Peak Borough Council [(in its capacity as Charity Trustee)] 

Buxton Town Hall  

Buxton Town Hall 

Market Place 

Buxton 

SK17 6EL 

 

For the attention of Nichola Mycock 

Land and Commercial Officer 

 

Email – Nichola.Mycock@highpeak.gov.uk 

Tel – 07583 072494 

 

Page 275



           2 of 3 

6. Tenant: Canal & River Trust 

National Waterways Museum Ellesmere Port 

South Pier Road 

Ellesmere Port 

Cheshire 

CH65 4FW 

 

For the attention of Matthew Hart 

Estate Surveyor 

 

Email – matthew.hart@canalrivertrust.org.uk 

Tel – 07920 782881 

7. Rights granted: 

 

All necessary rights to construct the new channel and associated rights of 

access and egress with or without vehicles, equipment, and machinery over 

the Transferor’s Retained Property. 

The right for the Transferee to access and egress with or without vehicles, 

equipment, and machinery over the Transferors Retained Property (such 

rights to extent to permission to use the Access Route over which rights are 

granted for the benefit of the Trustees in the 1923 Indenture) to the 

Transferred Property for the purpose of inspecting, maintaining, repairing or 

renewing the Channel, subject to the Transferee making good any damage 

caused to the Transferors Property. 

The Transferor to mow the grass and upkeep the land to the north of the 

Channel in line with their regular park maintenance regime. 

The Right to use a temporary Construction Compound to facilitate the 

construction of the channel for the duration of the construction period. The 

Compound to be within the Transferors Retained Land - Title DY290861. 

 

8. Tenant Covenants: The Tenant to be responsible for obtaining any required consents to the 

construction of the channel. 

The Tenant to seek the Landlord’s approval to the design of the channel 

[(such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed)] 

The Tenant to maintain and repair the channel once constructed.  

The Tenant to comply with the terms of the HLF Grant Agreement to the 

extent the same is applicable to the Demise 

All current and future compliance responsibilities and legal obligations e.g., 

Planning, Building Regulations, CDM Regulations, compliance, and H&S 

etc. 

Not to assign, sublet and no alterations, only with the Landlord reasonable 

consent. 

9. Construction 

Period: 

The Transferee will comply with any Health & Safety or regulatory 

requirements.  

Project timescales required. 

 

10. Costs: The Transferee to pay the Transferor reasonable Legal Costs in drafting 

the legal documentation. Landlord reasonable Surveyor costs to include 

reasonable District Valuer costs. 

11. Registration: The Tenant shall register and pay all costs of registering the lease at Land 

Registry. 

12. Demise: Shown shaded dark Green 

Page 276



           3 of 3 

13. Other terms: Lease grant to be subject to:  

• Charity Commission Consent  

• Agreement for Lease 

• Board/Council approvals 

• Superior Landlord’s consent (if applicable (Superior landlord is 

HPBC) 

• HLF approval/any required variations to the Grant Agreement 

currently in place in respect of the Memorial Park] 

• District Valuers Valuation 

• Agreed Consideration 

• Planning Consent 

 

 

14. Transferor 

Solicitor: 

 

  
  
 

To be confirmed 

 

 

15. Transferee 

Solicitor: 

To be confirmed 

 

 

16. Approvals  This matter is Subject to Contract and Council and Trusts Approval. 

 

 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



IDENTIFICATION OF ISSUES DURING SITE INSPECTION BY BRIAN MAGUIRE,DVS & NICHOLA MYCOCK, 
HIGH PEAK COUNCIL 

19th October 2021 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

I refer you to the red stars above accompanied by a letter for identification purposes. The list below 

is not exhaustive and is a result of a non- intrusive inspection of the Park. The Council should 

consider appointing a appropriately qualified professional to advise on the issues identified below 

and commission them to critically analyse the Canal and River Trusts proposed works : 

A) There appears to be a connection between existing slipway and Brookfield pond. Plan states: 

 

The council should see and approve a solution to the decommissioning of channel and sluice 

prior to working starting. 

 

B) I refer you to a water course annotated with a blue line and reference B. It appears at least 

one property (Torside) discharging surface water into the water course which appears to 

connect to the reservoir. The council should ensure the Canal and Rivers Trust have 

completed a full services survey in the park and the council should seek a solution and 

approve corrective action to third parties connecting to water courses. 

Page 279



IDENTIFICATION OF ISSUES DURING SITE INSPECTION BY BRIAN MAGUIRE,DVS & NICHOLA MYCOCK, 
HIGH PEAK COUNCIL 

19th October 2021 

 

OFFICIAL 

C) Similarly, the blue and red line annotates a water logged section of the park which may be a 

consequence of a faulty culvert connecting the reservoir and River Goyt. The canal and river  

 

trust should indemnify the council against future defects. The council should consider a 

performance bond held in an Escro account to ensure all work are completed to the councils 

satisfaction regarding drainage and replacing park furniture. 

 

D) There appears to be a sluice or discharge point which is not referenced in the Canal and 

Rivers Trust proposed works. More details, solution, approval required. 

 

E) Adjacent  to the high level public footpath we identified at lease one land drain discharging 

into the existing slipway. The Canal and Rivers Trust should carry out a full site survey of the 

Park to identify third part drains and alike and indemnify the Council regarding solutions, 

accommodating works and redirections. 

Page 280



Document is Restricted

Page 281

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 285

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 291

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 307

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 319

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 325

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Second Quarter 2021/22 Finance, Procurement & Performance Review
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	6 Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix 1
	1. Introduction
	1.1 Overview
	1.2 Background
	The need to protect mineral water sources in Buxton
	The type of sources, location of sources and how the water arrives at those locations
	The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and the impact of new homes in Buxton

	1.3 Why this guidance is needed
	1.4 How to use this Supplementary Planning Document
	1.5 How this Supplementary Planning Document is structured

	2. Legislation, planning policy and guidance
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 European and National Legislative Context
	The Water Framework Directive
	Groundwater Protection in Europe
	The Habitats Directive
	Flood and Water Management Act 2010
	Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018

	2.3 National Planning Policy Context
	National Planning Policy Framework
	National Planning Practice Guidance

	2.4 Local Planning Policy Context
	Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy
	Policy EQ1: Climate Change


	3. Water Protection Areas
	3.1 Types of water
	Natural Mineral Water
	Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies

	3.2 Source Protection Zones (SPZ)
	Figure 3.1 Buxton’ s Source Protection Zone

	3.3 Areas of Sensitivity
	Figure 3.2 Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area

	3.4 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area
	Figure 3.3 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area

	3.5 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones

	4. Pre-Application Advice
	4.1 Roles and responsibilities
	Additional advice


	5. Protection of mineral water sources in Buxton
	5.1 Types of development:
	Drilling boreholes and digging shallow excavations
	Legal Requirements to protect groundwater quality
	Boreholes
	Shallow excavations

	Excavation of basement extensions or developments including subterranean basements
	Planning Permission


	5.2 When additional conditions to prevent pollution of water sources may be required over and above permitting requirements
	5.3 Other regulatory consents that may be required when planning consent may not be needed
	5.4 Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)
	5.5 Septic tanks
	5.6 Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels

	6. Water efficiency in Buxton
	6.1 Introduction
	6.2 Water efficiency in residential development
	6.3 How new homes in Buxton can achieve a water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day
	6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption
	Water-sensitive design in new homes
	Rainwater Harvesting
	Water Recycling

	6.5 How the water efficiency standard for residential development will be applied by the Council in Buxton
	Viability
	Application of the water efficiency standards

	6.6 How high standards of water efficiency and measures to recycle and minimise water consumption in non-residential development will be sought by the Council
	BREEAM standards and water efficiency for non-residential developments


	Appendix A Code of Practice - Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs
	Appendix B Code of Practice – Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs
	Appendix C  Template planning conditions related to water issues
	Appendix D  Location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation

	Appendix 2
	1. General
	1.1 Scope
	1.2 Background
	1.3 Who the code is aimed at?
	1.4 How were the protection areas defined?
	1.5 Further Information

	2. Fundamental Requirements
	2.1 General
	2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater
	2.3 Desk Study and Risk Assessment

	3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement
	3.1 Supervision
	3.2 Materials
	3.3 Inspection Pits
	3.4 Drilling Methodology
	Drilling Method
	Groundwater Temperature and Flowing Artesian Conditions
	Drilling Equipment
	Drilling Fluid
	Borehole Casing and Backfill material
	Cleaning Equipment
	Waste Collection and Disposal
	Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling



	Appendix 3
	1. General
	1.1 Scope
	1.2 Background
	1.3 Who the code is aimed at?
	1.4 How were the protection areas defined?
	1.5 Further Information

	2. Fundamental Requirements
	2.1 General
	2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater Quality
	2.3 Desk Study, Risk Assessment and Method Statement

	3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement
	3.1 Supervision
	3.2 Materials
	3.3 Probe Holes
	3.4 Excavation Methodology
	Method
	On-site Plant
	Waste Collection and Disposal
	Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling



	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	5.6       Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels
	Appendix A Code of Practice – Excavations in the in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs


	7 Climate Change Action Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Introduction
	Climate Change – Our Strategy
	Our Challenge
	Our Response
	Our Approach
	Our Values
	Our To Do List
	The way to Net Zero - Our Plan
	1 The Way We Live
	2 The Way We Travel
	3 The Way We Work
	4 The Way We Make Energy
	5 The Way We Look After Our Environment
	6 The Way We Manage Waste
	7 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur

	Key terms (Glossary)
	What can I do?


	8 Proposed Programme of Works to Toddbrook Reservoir Spillway
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	10 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	11 Second Quarter 2021/22 Finance, Procurement & Performance Review - Appendix D
	12 Future High Street Fund Buxton
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3




